
 

Corporate Parenting Panel  

AGENDA 

 
 

DATE: 

 

Tuesday 3 July 2018 

 

TIME: 

 

7.00 pm 

 

VENUE: 

 

Committee Rooms 1 & 2,  Harrow Civic Centre, 

Station Road, Harrow, HA1 2XY 

 

 

 

 MEMBERSHIP      (Quorum 3) 

       

 

Chair: Angella Murphy-Strachan 

 

  Councillors: 

 
Sue Anderson 
Simon Brown 
Christine Robson 
 

Janet Mote 
Lynda Seymour 
 

 
 

  Non-Voting Advisory Member: 

 
Valerie Griffin   
 

 

Reserve Members:  

 

1.   Dean Gilligan     1. Dr Lesline Lewinson 
2. Maxine Henson    2. Chetna Halai 
3. Chloe Smith 
4.  Rekha Shah 
 

Contact:  Manize Talukdar, Democratic & Electoral Services Officer 

Tel:  020 8424 1323    E-mail:  manize.talukdar@harrow.gov.uk 
 



Corporate Parenting Panel - 3 July 2018 2 

Useful Information 

 

 
Meeting details: 
 
This meeting is open to the press and public.   
 
Directions to the Civic Centre can be found at: 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/site/scripts/location.php.  
 
 

Filming / recording of meetings 
 
The Council will audio record Public and Councillor Questions.  The audio recording will be 
placed on the Council’s website. 
 
Please note that proceedings at this meeting may be photographed, recorded or filmed.  If 
you choose to attend, you will be deemed to have consented to being photographed, 
recorded and/or filmed.  
 
When present in the meeting room, silent mode should be enabled for all mobile devices. 
 
 

Meeting access / special requirements.  
 
The Civic Centre is accessible to people with special needs.  There are accessible toilets 
and lifts to meeting rooms.  If you have special requirements, please contact the officer 
listed on the front page of this agenda. 
 
An induction loop system for people with hearing difficulties is available.  Please ask at the 
Security Desk on the Middlesex Floor.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda publication date:  Friday 22 June 2018

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/site/scripts/location.php


Corporate Parenting Panel - 3 July 2018 3 

 
 AGENDA - PART I   

 
1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS    
 
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 

 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after 

the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act 
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after 
his/her arrival. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising 

from business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Panel; 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

3. MINUTES   (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 March 2018 be taken as read and 

signed as a correct record. 
 

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS *    
 
 To receive any public questions received in accordance with paragraph 16 of the 

Executive Procedure Rules. 
 
Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received.  There will be a 
time limit of 15 minutes for the asking and answering of public questions. 
 
[The deadline for receipt of public questions if 3.00 pm, Thursday 28 June 
2018.  Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk  

No person may submit more than one question]. 
 

5. PETITIONS    
 
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under 

the provisions of Executive Procedure Rule 47 (Part 4D of the Constitution). 
 

6. DEPUTATIONS    
 
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Executive Procedure Rule 48 

(Part 4D of the Constitution). 
 

mailto:publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk


Corporate Parenting Panel - 3 July 2018 4 

7. ACTIVITY AND PERFORMANCE   (Pages 13 - 38) 
 
 Report of the Corporate Director, People. 

 
8. HARROW CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER   (Pages 39 - 44) 
 
 Report of the Head of Children’s Services and Operations. 

 
9. MISSING CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER   (Pages 45 - 54) 
 
 Report of the Corporate Director, People. 

 
10. CHILDREN'S SERVICES SELF ASSESSMENT   (Pages 55 - 116) 
 
 Report of the Corporate Director, People. 

 
11. UPDATED CORPORATE PARENTING STRATEGY   (Pages 117 - 140) 
 
 Report of the Corporate Director, People. 

 
12. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 

 
 AGENDA - PART II - NIL   

 
 * DATA PROTECTION ACT NOTICE   
 The Council will audio record item 4 (Public Questions) and will place the audio recording on the 

Council’s website, which will be accessible to all. 
 
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 

 



 

 Corporate Parenting Panel - 27 March 2018 - 109 - 

 
 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL   

MINUTES 

 

27 MARCH 2018 

 
 
Chair: * Councillor Aneka Shah-Levy 
   
Councillors: * Simon Brown 

* Janet Mote 
* Mrs Christine Robson 
 

* Lynda Seymour 
* Anne Whitehead 
 

Non-Voting 
Advisory Member: 
 

† Valerie Griffin 
 

 

* Denotes Member present 
† Denotes apologies received 
 
 

177. Welcome   
 
The Chair welcomed Dr Bina Chauhan, Designated Doctor for Children 
Looked After (CLA), to her first meeting of the Panel. 
 
The Chair also welcomed Paul Hewitt to his first Corporate Parenting Panel 
meeting as the newly appointed Interim Corporate Director of People. 
 

178. Attendance by Reserve Members   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that there were no Reserve Members in attendance. 
 

179. Declarations of Interest   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that the following interest was declared: 
 
Agenda Items 7- 10 – Activity and Performance, Harrow CLA Health (CLA) 
Report, Children’s Services – IRO Annual Report 2016/17 and Foster Carer 
Payments 
 

5

Agenda Item 3
Pages 5 to 12



 

- 110 -  Corporate Parenting Panel - 27 March 2018 

Councillor Lynda Seymour declared a non-pecuniary interest in that her 
children were being schooled in Harrow.  She would remain in the room whilst 
the reports were considered and voted upon.   
 

180. Minutes   
 
RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 January 2018 be 
taken as read and signed as a correct record, subject to the noting of belated 
apologies from Councillors Janet Mote and Lynda Seymour. 
 

181. Public Questions/Petitions/Deputations   
 
RESOLVED:  To note that no public questions, petitions or deputations were 
received at this meeting. 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS   
 

182. INFORMATION REPORT - Activity and Performance   
 
The Panel received a report of the Interim Corporate Director of People which 
set out activity for Children Looked After (CLA) and care leavers as at 
February 2018 as well as provisional performance position at end of January 
2018.  The report also included national and comparator data to provide 
context. 
 
An officer introduced the report and highlighted the following key aspects of 
the report: 
 

 the number of CLA had decreased from 179 to 160 since the matter 
was last reported to the Panel; 

 

 overall, health indicators of CLA remained positive except that 
improvements in immunisation and SDQ (emotional health) were 
required; 

 

 attendance at school of CLA needed to be monitored closely, including 
the number of fixed term exclusions; 
 

 the percentage of care leavers in suitable accommodation had 
increased since last quarter to 86%.  Currently, 29% of care leavers 
were not in employment, education or training, which was greater than 
in quarter 2.  All efforts were made to help young people gain skills and 
training through Xcite and other similar projects.  However, data 
showed that Harrow was performing better than its statistical 
neighbours and the average in England; 
 

 comparator data showed that the percentage of CLA in Harrow who 
had had been ‘missing’ during 2017 (14%) was higher than the 
England average (10%), but in line with the Council’s statistical 
neighbours (14%).  The percentage of CLA with a ‘missing’ incident 

6



 

Corporate Parenting Panel - 27 March 2018 - 111 - 

and those away from placement had remained stable since the last 
quarter; 
 

 quarter 3 data showed an increase in CLA offending and that, 
currently, eleven CLA were under the care of the Youth Offending 
Team (YOT). 

 
The officer and the Interim Corporate Director of People responded to 
questions from Members as follows: 
 

 the frequency of fixed term exclusions compared to the Council’s 
statistical neighbours was high.  It ranged from 15-16% compared to 
13%; 

 

 whilst CLA were placed within the borough, it was accepted practice 
that some would be placed outside the borough and up to a distance of 
20 miles or further to ensure suitability of accommodation.  Rigorous 
reviews were carried out to ascertain the suitability of any placement.  
It was important that peer group pressures on CLA were managed 
which could involve placing the child away from Harrow.  Children with 
disabilities were placed in suitable accommodation possibly outside 
Harrow and consideration was also given to requests from parents on 
placements.  A care plan and family contact was facilitated; 
 

 key staff in the People Directorate met on Mondays to discuss and 
identify the next steps in relation to those children who had gone 
‘missing’ from their placements.  Where the frequency was high, 
discussions would continue with the police and the placements.  The 
Interim Corporate Director acknowledged the risks involved and 
reported that the situation was monitored closely and was stringent.  
Various vehicles were used to monitor the child in question and, 
additionally, a bespoke worker was assigned to assist in changing 
behaviour patterns; 
 

 all children, including CLA, who were considered to be ‘missing’ or had 
safeguarding issues were reported through the Multi-Agency Sexual 
Exploitation (MASE) agency. 

 
The Interim Corporate Director suggested further reports on the key issues 
raised by Members and it was 
 
RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) the report be noted; 
 
(2) a report on how Children Looked After (CLA) accessed various 

services, including Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS) when placed outside the borough be submitted to a future 
meeting of the Panel; 
 

7



 

- 112 -  Corporate Parenting Panel - 27 March 2018 

(3) a report on the safeguarding issues relating to all children, including 
CLA, be submitted to the next meeting of the Panel and that the Interim 
Corporate Director of People invite a ‘bespoke’ worker(s) to the 
meeting.  

 
Reasons for Decision:  To be availed of performance as Corporate Parents. 
To seek additional information relating to safeguarding of children. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  None. 
 

183. INFORMATION REPORT - Harrow Children Looked After Health (CLA) 
Report   
 
The Panel received a report of the Head of Children’s Services and 
Operations, Central and Northwest London NHS Foundation Trust, which set 
out the delivery of health services to Harrow’s Children Looked After (CLA) 
during December 2017 to February 2018.  The report also reviewed 
performance indicators and the clinical work undertaken by the CLA health 
team. 
 
Emma Hedley, named nurse for CLA, introduced the report and was 
applauded for achieving 100% in the carrying out of health assessments 
within statutory timescales.  She informed Members that the good partnership 
working arrangements between the social workers and the CLA health team 
had helped to achieve this figure.  Members were informed that: 
 

 bi-monthly monitoring meetings between the Council and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) relating to CLA would cease and the  
group would now meet on a quarterly basis; 

 

 the CLA health team had attended all strategic and partnership 
meetings to support the health needs of CLA; 
 

 training on the health needs of CLA had been delivered to Health 
Visitors and School Nurses studying at Oxford Brooke’s University; 
 

 a further report would be submitted on the client satisfaction survey 
‘Voice of the Child and Care Leavers’ once the responses had been 
analysed; 
 

 the Council’s website had been updated to allow CLA to access details 
about the CLA health team 
 

 partnership working had helped to address specific challenges with 
CLA. Emma Hedley provided an example of the issue and the positive 
outcome reached; 
 

 the annual report would be presented to the Panel in autumn. 
 

8



 

Corporate Parenting Panel - 27 March 2018 - 113 - 

In response to questions, Emma Hedley, named nurse for CLA, and Zoe 
Sargent, Head of Children’s Services and Operations at CNWL NHS 
Foundation Trust, replied as follows: 
 

 Compass was a drug and alcohol service; 
 

 where CLA were placed outside the borough, the CLA health team, 
accompanied by a specialist nurse, would visit them provided they 
were within a 20 mile range.  Where CLA were placed further away, the 
relevant local authority would liaise with the team at Harrow.  Quality 
assurance reports were exchanged and the authority would be asked 
to revisit them if the Harrow team were not satisfied with the report 
produced; 
 

 where another local authority had placed its CLA in Harrow, the health 
team would carry out visits in accordance with the Harrow timetable but 
it would prioritise the health needs of Harrow’s children.  It was noted 
that the other local authorities had commended the CNWL for its health 
reports; 
 

 meetings were held to monitor CLA and experiences were shared 
amongst different teams to improve outcomes and learning. 
 

Members congratulated the CNWL team for their work and welcomed the 
Designated Doctor to the team. 
 
RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) the report be noted; 
 
(2) a report on the analysis relating to the satisfaction survey ‘Voice of the 

Child and Care Leavers’ be submitted to the next meeting of the Panel; 
 

(3) it be noted that the annual report would be submitted to the October 
2018 meeting of the Panel. 

 
Reason for Decision:  To be availed of health service delivery, including 
targets met. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  None. 
 

184. Children's Services, IRO Annual Report 2016/17   
 
The Panel received a report of the Interim Corporate Director of People, which 
set out information about the Children Looked After (CLA) activity in Harrow 
during the period April 2016 to March 2017, including an evaluation of the 
work of Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs).  It was noted that the 
Independent Reviewing Officers were required by law and their role was to 
ensure that the local authority provided a quality service to its Looked After 
population. 
 

9



 

- 114 -  Corporate Parenting Panel - 27 March 2018 

An officer introduced the report and outlined the following key aspects of the 
report: 
 

 the Council’s IRO team had been stable and this had helped to 
oversee the journeys of some long term CLA; 

 

 the role of the IRO was to review care plans, which on occasions 
included acting as a ‘critical friend’ to professionals working with a child 
or a young person.  Their role was to challenge social workers and 
managers where required and ensure that the various professionals 
worked together for the benefit of CLA.  More recently, the IROs had 
become more proactive in asking questions about the breakdown of 
care packages and placement costs for children including the rationale 
behind care packages; 
 

 IROs met with the child or young person before the review meeting and 
the IRO’s contact details were also given to CLA.  Their remit included 
being clear about a child’s schooling arrangements and attendance. 
 

The officer responded to Members’ questions as follows: 
 

 IROs were qualified social workers but their role was different to that of 
the child’s social worker.  Their roles were essentially to review care 
plans, hold review meetings with CLA, their parent and/or carers, 
provide an independent overview of the care planning for CLA and 
check if their recommendations were being implemented; 

 

 IROs also played a role in challenging practice and standards through 
the use of the Dispute Resolution Protocol, which were generally 
resolved at Stage 1; 
 

 IROs involvement ceased when a young person reached the age of 
18 years but the young person could access the services of an 
‘advocate’ if they so wished at any age.  The officer cited examples of 
instances when age assessments would be required, including the 
processes used to safeguard children.  She added that there was a 
small cohort of CLA who were challenging but it was important that all 
professionals providing care were open and honest with them.  It was 
important that expectations were not falsely raised for CLA, particularly 
if promises could not be kept; 
 

Members thanked the officer for a comprehensive report and were pleased 
with the improvements made to the support system provided to CLA.  They 
acknowledged that the journey in establishing the Harrow Virtual School had 
been difficult but were pleased with its workings. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be noted and that regular reports be submitted 
to the Panel. 
 

10



 

Corporate Parenting Panel - 27 March 2018 - 115 - 

Reason for Decision:  To ensure that a quality service was provided to CLA. 
To ensure that there were Independent Reviewing Officers reviewing the care 
plans for CLA. 
 
Options Considered and Rejected:  None. 
 

185. Foster Carer Payments   
 
The Panel received a report of the Interim Corporate Director of People, which 
updated Members on the proposals for fostering payments for 2018 – 2019 
following consultation with the Harrow Foster Carers’ Association.  
 
The Interim Corporate Director of People introduced the report and informed 
Members that: 
 
- the rates of payments were in line with the National Fostering 

stocktake.  The report outlined expectations of how foster carers would 
spend their payments to ensure that the day to day needs of Harrow’s 
Children Looked After (CLA) were met and that they were provided 
with a wide range of opportunities and experiences; 

 
- the payments were competitive.  The tiered rates recognised the 

varying complexities of need.  This meant that children previously 
placed in higher cost residential and Independent Fostering Agencies 
could now be placed with in-house foster carers. 

 
Members were informed of the importance of retaining existing foster carers 
and recruiting more as they made a big difference to the lives of CLA.  The 
Corporate Director was pleased to report that the number of Harrow’s children 
being cared for by foster carers had increased and it was important to 
incentivise them.  It was also important that their ‘careers’ were developed 
and that a scheme would be implemented in April 2018. 
 
Members were pleased with the proposals and they recognised that foster 
carers needed to be rewarded and recognised for their work as they provided 
a much need ‘home’ to CLA.  
 
RESOLVED:  That  
 
(1) the report be noted; 
 
(2) it be noted that the Award Ceremony for foster carers would be held on 

26 April 2018 at 6.30pm and Members and officers present at the 
meeting were invited to attend the event. 

 
Reason for Decision:  To be availed of the payments system for foster 
carers and the range of activities it covered. 
 
Options Considered and Rejected:  None. 
 

11



 

- 116 -  Corporate Parenting Panel - 27 March 2018 

186. Meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel - Municipal Year 2018/19 - 
Urgent Business   
 
RESOLVED:  That the dates for future meetings of the Panel be noted: 
 
Monday 11 June 2018 at 7.00 pm 
Tuesday 30 October 2018 at 7.00 pm 
Thursday 31 January 2019 at 7.00 pm 
Monday 25 March 2019 at 7.00 pm. 
 

187. Vote of Thanks   
 
The Chair stated that this was the last meeting of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel under the current administration and she thanked all Members and 
Officers for their contributions to the work of the Committee, including the 
support given to her.  
 
(Note:  The meeting, having commenced at 7.01 pm, closed at 8.14 pm). 
 
 
 
 
 
(Signed) COUNCILLOR ANEKA SHAH-LEVY 
Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12



 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CORPORATE 

PARENTING PANEL 

 

Date: 

 

3rd July 2018 
 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT –  Activity 
and Performance 

Key Decision: 

 

No 
 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Paul Hewitt, Corporate Director of 
People 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Christine Robson, Portfolio 
Holder for Children, Young People and 
Schools 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Exempt: 

 

No 
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

No, as the Recommendation is for 
noting only 
 

Enclosures: 

 

CLA Performance Report 

 

Section 1 –Summary and Recommendations 

 
This is an information report which sets out activity for children looked after 
and care leavers as well as provisional performance position at 31st March 
2018 (where available). National and comparator data is also included where 
appropriate for context.  

RECOMMENDATION: That the report be noted 

Reason for Recommendation: To keep the Panel informed of performance 
in their role as Corporate Parents. 

13

Agenda Item 7
Pages 13 to 38



 

 

Section 2 – Report 

See the attachment which shows provisional outturn position at the end of 
March and an update of activity for children looked after (CLA) at the end of 
March where available.  
 

Key Points:  

 Numbers of CLA have decreased during the year and stand at 156 at 
31st March.   This reduces the rate of children looked after per 10,000 
child population to 27, which is in line with the historical rate. 
 

 Profile of CLA (age, gender, ethnicity) is similar to last quarter. 
 

 Educational performance indicators have been updated with 2016-17 
results, and reflect the new attainment indicators. Harrow has higher 
absence and exclusions rates and academic attainment is below 
statistical neighbour (SN) averages for 2016-17. 

 

 There is strong performance on health checks but we are slightly below 
target on dental checks  
 

 CLA reviews timeliness is above target at 98%. 
 

 Of those CLA at 31st March, 47% (73) had become looked after due to 
an initial need category of abuse of neglect, followed by 15% due to 
absent parenting - mainly unaccompanied asylum seekers. 

 

 Of those who ceased to be looked after 40% returned home.  
 

 7% of children who ceased to be looked after were adopted compared 
to 4% last year. Special Guardianship Orders (15.8%) is similar to last 
year. 
 

 The percentage of care leavers in suitable accommodation has 
increased since last quarter to 87%. Currently 27% of care leavers are 
not in employment education or training, a slight decrease from Q3. All 
efforts are made to help young people gain skills and training through 
Xcite and similar projects. Published data shows Harrow to be better 
than statistical neighbour and England averages. These figures are likely to 

change with year end data cleaning. 

 

 Numbers of CLA ‘missing’ and ‘away from placement without 
authorisation’ are fairly stable. Compared to the previous year, there is 
a slight drop in % of CLA who had a missing incident and a slight 
increase in the number of absent episodes. 
 

 CLA with 2+ moves is high at 13.5 and likely to be above SN and 

14



 

England averages for the year. All placement moves are carefully 
monitored.  Long term stability has improved overall, but has dropped 
from at 83% to 81% since last quarter 

 

 The percentage of all new CLA placed more than 20 miles from home 
has varied throughout the year, currently this is slightly over target at 
21.7%.  Both the % of all CLA placed over 20 miles and 50 miles show 
no significant change from Q3. 
 

 CLA offending data is updated quarterly, with Q4 data showing a 
decrease of 2 young people from the previous report. Though our data 
was not published due to suppression rules, for 2016 -17 this would 
have been 6% and for 2017-18 this will be around 6.5%. 

 
            

Options considered 
Not applicable as this is an information report. 
 

Risk Management Implications 
The Children’s Services Risk Register has been updated to reflect the 
performance risks highlighted in this report. 
 
Risk included on Directorate risk register?  Yes  
 
Separate risk register in place?  No 
 

Legal Implications 
Not applicable as this is an information report. 
 

Financial Implications 
There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Not applicable as this is an information report. 
 

Corporate Priorities 
 
The Council’s vision: 
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
Please identify how the report incorporates the administration’s priorities.  
 

 Making a difference for the vulnerable 

 Making a difference for families 

 
The report focuses on the qualitative and quantitative measures of service 
delivery to vulnerable children, young people and families. These measures 
help to inform & improve service planning.  
 

15



 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 

 

   on behalf of the 

Name: Jo Frost x  Chief Financial Officer 

 
Date:    18/06/2018 

   

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

NO, this is an 
information report only   

 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 
NO 
 
 
N/A information report 
only 
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 

 Source: Local data taken from Mosaic System 

  https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-
england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-
england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016 

 

Contact:   
 

Dipika Patel, 
Partner- Business Intelligence Unit 
020 8420 9258  
dipika.patel@harrow.gov.uk 

David Harrington   
Head of Business Intelligence  
0208 420 9248 
David.harrington@harrow.gov.uk 

 

16

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-2016
mailto:dipika.patel@harrow.gov.uk
mailto:David.harrington@harrow.gov.uk


Corporate Parenting Report 
3rd July 2018 

Children Looked After 

 
 

Activity to end of March 2018 

Key Indicators to end of March 2018 (provisional outturns) 

 

1 

17



CONTENTS 

 
 

PART A: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 3-4 

 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS with targets and Comparators 3-4 

 
 

Part B:         CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER (CLA) DETAIL                                                                                    5-21 

B1) NUMBERS OF CLA OVER TIME 5  

B2) AGE GROUPS  6 

B3) GENDER 7 

B4) ETHNICITY 8 

B5) PLACEMENT TYPE 9 

B6)                  SCHOOL AGE CLA 10 

B7) CLA EDUCATION 11 

B8) CLA HEALTH 12 

B9) CLA STARTING & ENDING, DUAL REGISTERED CPP AND UASC                                                 13 

B10) REASONS FOR ENTERING AND LEAVING CARE                                                                            14 

B11) ADOPTIONS AND SGOs 15 

B12) CLA REVIEWS 16 

B13)  CARE LEAVERS 17 

B14) CLA WHO GO MISSING 18 

B15) CLA PLACEMENT STABILITY 19 

B16) CLA PLACEMENTS OVER 20 MILES 20 

B17) CLA OFFENDING 21 
 

 

2 

18



Part A –Performance Indicators for Children Looked After 

3 

Ref No Indicator Description 

Statistical 

Neighbour 

Average 2016/17 

England 

average 

2016/17 

Harrow  

2016-17 

Harrow target 

2017/18 

Harrow Q1 

2017-18 

Harrow  Q2 

2017-18 

Harrow  Q3 

2017-18 

Harrow  Q4 

2017-18 

1 Rate of CLA per 10,000 children aged under 18 39.0 62.0 36.0   34.2 31.2 28.8 27.2 

2 Timeliness of Reviews of Looked After Children Not Published Not Published 97.0 95% 97.9 97.1 98.1 98.7 

3 % of CLA with 3 or more placements  11.6 
10 

 

17.0 

Q1 - 2.5% 

Q2 -  5% 

Q3  - 7.5% 

Q4 -  10% 

1.5 5.0 10.3 13.5 

4 
% of CLA looked after for 2.5+ years and in the same placement for 

2 years 
66.0 70.0 57.1 65% 63.6 68.8 82.1 80.6 

5 % of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (19 - 21 year olds) 81.0 84.0 88.0 90% 61.8 86.4 86.2 87.1 

6 
% of Care Leavers not in education, employment or training (18 - 21  

year olds) 
32.8 39.0 30.0 30% 26.5 25.4 28.7 26.6 

7 
% of CLA who are looked after 1 yr +  with up to date Dental Checks 

(rolling year) 
90.0 84.0 93.0 90% 74.5 86.8 84.1 87.4 

8 
% of CLA who are looked after 1 yr + with up to date Health Checks 

(rolling year) 
93.9 90.0 93.0 90% 90.6 93.0 89.4 96.1 

9 % of children who ceased to be looked after who were adopted 6.8 14.0 4.0 

Q1 - 2.5% 

Q2 -  5% 

Q3  - 7.5% 

Q4 -  10% 

8.8 6.0 6.5 6.6 

10 % of CLA placed more than 20 miles away from home (snapshot) 20.9 14.0 19.0 20% 20.9 18.4 21.0 21.7 

11 
% of all CLA (current and ceased) with at least 1 missing episode in 

year 
14.0 10.0 14.0 12% 12.2 12.5 12.8 13.2 

12 
Percentage of all CLA  (current and ceased) with atleast one 

instance of being away from placement without authorisation  
8.5 5.0 10.0 9% 10.5 11.7 11.0 11.9 

19



4 

Part A – Education Performance Indicators for children looked after 

Harrow 

2015-16

Harrow 

2016-17

England 

average 

2016-17

SN 

Average 

2016-17

Harrow 

target 

2017/18

Harrow 

2017-18 

Q1

Harrow 2017-

18 Q2

Harrow 

2017-18 

Q3

Harrow 

2017-18 

Q4

100* 40.0 32.0 53.0 56.0

8.0 17.6 33.3 26.0

5.3 6.9 4.3 4.5 4.0 9.0
start of new  

academic year
8.9 10.5

X 17.0 14.5 10.0 10.0 17.4
start of new  

academic year
16.9 22.7

15.6 X 13.3 11.4 11.0 13.0
start of new  

academic year
4.6 13.6

28.6 23.9 29.6 26.8

30.4 28.2 26.7 33.3

X - Figures supressed in order to protect confidentially due to small number

* One child in cohort

Annual

Percentage of CLA with SEN but without a statement/EHCP 

Routine monitoring under development

Educational Attainment at Key Stages

Percentage of children looked After reaching the expected standard least 

level 4 at KS2 in Reading, Writing and Maths (Source DfE) 

Percentage of CLA with at least one fixed term exclusion 

Percentage of CLA with SEN but with a statement/EHCP 

Percentage of sessions missed. (CLA 1 year+) 

Percentage classed as persistent absentees (CLA 1 year+) 

Exclusions from school 

Percentage of children Looked After (1+ years) achieving 9-4 pass in 

English and mathematics. 

Absence Indicator

Special educational needs

20



Part B1 –Numbers of CLA over time 

The number of all CLA has 

decreased since the start of 

the financial year, with CLA 

1+ years showing a slight 

overall decrease as well.    

The rate of CLA per 10,000 

continues to decrease 

since 16/17 Q4 and 

remains below the England 

average.  

In 2017 Harrows rate per 

10,000 increased and the 

statistical neighbours 

decreased, causing Harrow 

to fall only marginally below 

their rates.  

 

 

 

  

 

 
5 

21



The overall numbers of CLA have decreased from the previous report. Comparator data has been published for  2015-16, this shows 

Harrow to have a higher proportion of CLA aged 16+ and a lower proportion in aged 10 – 15. Higher numbers of CLA aged 16+ will 

continue to have an impact on leaving care services. 47 children will be turning 18 this year. 

B2– Children looked  after age group.  (Comparator info. source SSDA 903 March 2016) 

6 

Under 1 1 to 4 5 to 9 10 to 15 16+

Harrow 5 6 18 33 39

Stat Neighbour 4 9 16 38 34

England 5 13 20 39 23

AgeComparative data (%) 

year ending March 2016

22



7 

The number of females in care has decreased slightly since last quarter whilst the number of males has remained stable. Comparator 

data shows Harrow has a higher percentage of males in care.  

B3 – Children looked  after gender.  (Comparator info. source SSDA 903 March 2015) 

Male Female

Harrow 64 36

Stat Neighbour 59 41

England 56 44

Comparative data (%) 

year ending March 2016

Gender 

23



B4 – Children looked after ethnicity. (Comparator info. source SSDA 903 March 2015) 

  

In line with population 

projections, Harrow’s Black 

and Minority Ethnic groups 

are considerably higher 

than England and the 

statistical neighbour 

average.  

Overall two thirds of 

Harrow’s children looked 

after population are from 

BME groups and more in 

line with the local 

population breakdown, 

Mixed, Black British and 

other ethnic backgrounds 

are overrepresented in the 

CLA cohort. 

There are no significant 

changes in the ethnic 

breakdown of the CLA 

cohort since the last report. 

8 

White Mixed

Asian or 

Asian 

British

Black or 

Black 

British

Other 

Ethnic 

Groups

Harrow 28 20 13 23 17

Stat Neighbour 47 17 12 18 7

England 75 9 4 7 3

 Ethnic breakdown of young 

people aged under18, 2011
30.9 9.5 42.6 12.2 4.5

Comparative data (%) 

year ending March 2016

Ethnicity

24



9 

B5 – Children looked after placement type 

Harrow Placement Details at 29th February 2018 

There are no significant changes to 

placement types. In house foster 

placements have decreased since 

the last report, with agency 

placements increasing as a result. 

In house foster placements remain 

the most common placement type 

accounting for 42.3% of all 

placements. Comparator data with 

statistical neighbours shows 

Harrow to have a lower proportion 

of CLA in foster placements and a 

higher proportion in placements in 

the community (independent and 

semi- independent placements). 

HARROW
Stat 

Neighbour
England

59 71.2 74.0

4 2.4 4.0

 - 1.5 5.0

14 7.1 4.0

17 16.6 11.0

3 5.7 1.0

Foster placements

Comparative data

 % of children looked after by 

placement type as at 31st  March 

2016

Placed for adoption

Placement with parents

Other placement in the community
Secure units, children's homes 

and hostels
Other residential settings

Placement Type Sep-15 Dec-15 Feb-16 Apr-16 Sep-16 Nov-16 Feb-17 Apr-17 Sep-17 Nov-17 Feb-18 Mar-18

Placed for Adoption 7 10 9 6 4 5 6 7 10 7 4 4

Foster Carer - Inhouse 53 67 71 70 107 100 101 100 74 71 73 66

Foster Carer - Agency 30 23 20 29 25 26 32 31 28 25 17 23

Residential - Non Children's Homes 14 11 9 8 5 6 11 14 11 8 8 9

Secure Unit 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0

Young Offenders Institution or Prison 1 3 3 1 2 2 1 2 2 1 2 2

Placed with Parents 0 4 4 2 0 2 0 0 6 7 5 4

Semi Independent / Independent Living 13 21 24 25 31 33 33 31 26 26 32 30

Residential Schools 5 4 6 8 6 7 7 7 5 5 4 4

Children's Homes 13 17 16 16 13 10 13 16 12 10 11 11

NHS/Health Trust/other establishment providing medical care 1 0 0 0 4 4 3 2 1 0 0 0

Family Centre or Mother and Baby Unit 0 0 0 2 3 3 2 2 1 0 2 1

Temporary placement 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 2 2 2

Grand Total 137 160 162 168 201 199 211 213 179 162 160 156

25



10 

B6 – school age CLA 

Harrow monitors all school children and those 

looked after I year plus. 

At the end of March 88 out of 92 CLA of 

statutory school age are being monitored by 

Welfare Call. 4 CLA are attending college or 

not on roll or on remand and not monitored by 

Welfare call. There have been no permanent 

exclusion this academic year, but 12.0% of 

school aged CLA had at least one fixed term 

exclusion. 11.4% of sessions have been 

missed and 28.3% of CLA are classed as 

persistent absentees, a decrease from the last 

report. Of the CLA school age cohort 66 have 

been looked after for over a year. The PEP 

indicator is updated at the end of each term, at 

the end of Dec 66.3% of CLA had a PEP.  

PI Description Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

% of school age CLA (all CLA) permanently excluded this year (Sept to date) 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 N/A 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

% of school age CLA (1 yr + at 31st March) permanently excluded this year 

(Sept to date)
1.9 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.7 1.6 1.4 1.4 N/A 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

% of school age CLA (all CLA) with at least one fixed-term exclusion this year 

(Sept to date)
1.0 4.0 4.6 5.9 7.4 9.0 10.2 10.8 N/A 0.0 2.0 2.2 3.3 8.0 10.1 12.0

% of school age CLA (1 yr + at 31st March)with at least one fixed-term 

exclusion this year (Sept to date)
1.0 1.0 3.6 5.3 8.3 9.7 13.0 12.2 N/A 0.0 1.5 3.1 4.6 7.7 10.9 13.6

%  absence from school  (all CLA - % of sessions missed) 9.3 11.0 11.5 14.0 12.8 12.2 11.0 11.3 N/A 8.5 10.3 11.8 11.7 12.6 12.8 11.4

%  absence from school  (1 yr+,  % of sessions missed) 10.6 9.4 9.5 9.7 10.1 10.4 9.0 10.0 N/A 8.0 8.7 8.8 8.9 9.2 9.4 10.5

% of CLA (all CLA) classified as persistent absentees 20.6 17.8 19.3 23.7 24.0 23.8 27.1 29.2 N/A 16.5 24.5 26.1 26.7 30.7 34.8 28.3

% of CLA (1 year+) classified as persistent absentees 12.4 8.9 16.0 15.8 16.7 17.7 17.4 20.3 N/A 14.9 20.0 17.2 16.9 18.5 25.0 22.7

% of CLA (all school age CLA) with up to date PEP 70.6 68
end of 

term only
81.7 N/A 70.0 66.3end of term only end of term only end of term only end of term only

26



11 

B7 – CLA Education Data- 

DfE indicators include only CLA who have been looked after for more than one year  to measure outcomes. Education data is  updated annually 

 

CLA educational attainment trends  - Provisional Results for 2016-17 

Calculations are based on eligible children in the cohort, not those who sat exams. 

 

One young person 

achieved GCSE English 

and Mathematics at 

grades 9-4 plus 3 or 

more other grades A*-C. 

The GCSE curriculum is 

changing and this is the 

first year of the new 

GCSE’s for English and 

maths and so no 

comparator data is 

available. 

Number % Number %

Total number of eligible pupils (all Year 11s) 24 12

Total no of pupils who sat at least one exam 12 50% 7 58%

No of  Pupils in Year 11 achieving 9-4 in English Literature 2 8% 1 8%

No of  Pupils in Year 11 achieving 9-4 in English Language 2 8% 1 8%

No of  Pupils in Year 11 achieving 9-5 in English Literature 0 0

No of  Pupils in Year 11 achieving 9-5 in English Language 2 8% 0

No of Pupils in Year 11 achieving 9-4 in Mathematics 2 8% 1 8%

No of Pupils in Year 11 achieving 9-5 in Mathematics 1 4% 1 8%

No of Pupils in Year 11 achieving 9-4 in English and Mathematics 2 8% 1 8%

No of Pupils in Year 11 achieving 9-5 in English and Mathematics 0 1 8%

Attainment 8 score

No of Pupils in Year 11 achieving GCSE English and Mathematics 

at grades 9-4 plus 3 or more other grades A*-C 1 4% 1 8%

All pupils In Care 1 Year +

Performance Indicator

not yet available for all CLA 

CLA Looked after for over a year 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Total Children in KS2 cohort (1yr +) 3 1 6 1 10

Attained at least Level 4 in Maths at end of KS2 67% 100% 83% 100% 50%

Attained at least Level 4 in Reading at end of KS2 67% 100% 83% 100% 40%

Attained at least Level 4 in Writing at end of KS2 67% 0% 50% 100% 50%

Attained at least Level 4 in Reading, Writing and Maths at end of KS2 67% 0% 50% 100% 40%

40% of CLA one 

year +reached the 

expected standard 

in all three subjects 

– reading, writing 

and maths. 

27



12 

B8 - CLA Health 

The % of CLA who have an SDQ score and the % of CLA with an up to date health check has increased from Q3. The % of CLA with 

up to date immunisations, dental checks and meeting health assessment timeliness have decreased since the last report. Latest 

comparative information for 2016/17 shows that Harrow performed well at annual dental checks for children looked after and slightly 

below SN average for Health assessments.  

Note on SDQ scores: a score of under 14 is considered normal, 

14-16 is borderline cause for concern and 17 or over is a cause 

for concern. 

Had annual 

Dental 

Check (%)

Had annual 

Health 

Assessment 

(%)

Up to date 

Immunisations at 

31st March (%) 

Average 

Strengths and 

Difficulties 

Score

92 93 77 13.3

Statistical Neighbours 86 95 76 12.8

England Average 83 89 84 14.1

Comparative Data 

(%) year ending 2017

Harrow

Indicator Description Mar-17 Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 

% of all CLA aged 4-16 who 

have an up to date strengths 

and difficulties (SDQ) score 

75.6     68.5     93.4     78.3     87.9 

% of CLA (1 yr +) with 

immunisations up to date 
68.9     66.3     64.1     66.4     74.8 

% of CLA with up to date 

Dental Checks (CLA 1 yr +) 
77.7 72.5 73.8 74.5 78.8 80.6 86.8 86.7 79.3 84.1 81.8 84.9 87.4 

% of CLA with up to date 

Health Checks (CLA 1 yr +) 
89.3 88.1 90.7 90.6 92.3 93.5 93.0 94.7 93.7 89.4 84.5 89.6 96.1 

% of new CLA where health 

assessment has been 

completed within 28 calendar 

days YTD 

49.2   50.0 38.5 57.9 66.7 69.6 84.0 80.0 80.5 77.3 78.6 68.2 

28



13 

B9 – Number of new CLA, number of ceased CLA and number of children looked after who also have a child protection plan or are 

unaccompanied asylum seeking children.  

The number of new and ceased CLA 

continues to vary, month on month. Overall 

the number of new CLA for 2017/18 was 9.2 

compared to 14 the previous year. The 

average number of ceased CLA was 12.9 

for 2017/18 and increase from 10.7 in 

2017/16. 

 

The number of dual allocated CLA who 

also have a Child Protection Plan and the 

number of CLA who are UASC, both have 

seen slight decreases since the last report. 

29



14 

B10 – Reasons for entering and leaving care  

When a ‘Social Work Assessment’ is carried out, the primary need is 

recorded in line with DfE categories. For children who are looked after at 

31st March 2018,  the top five need codes are 47%  became looked after 

due to an initial need of abuse of neglect, 15%  due to absent parenting, 

11% due to family dysfunction, 9% due to family in acute stress and 

socially unacceptable behaviour.  

In 2017 -18, of the 153  children who 

ceased to be looked after, 62  (40.5%) 

returned home to live with their parents or 

relatives. The next highest category ‘other’ 

is currently being looked into as part of 

data cleaning. 

Primary reason why child became looked after for current 
CLA 
      

Primary Need Code Count % 
Abuse or Neglect 73 46.80% 
Absent parenting 23 14.70% 
Family dysfunction 17 10.90% 
Family in acute stress 14 9.00% 
Socially unacceptable behaviour 14 8.90% 
Child Disability 7 4.50% 
Low income 4 2.60% 
Parental illness or disability 4 2.60% 
Total 156 100.00% Reason LAC Ceased     

        

Code Reason LAC Ceased YTD Description Count % 

E4A 
Return home to live with parents or  person with parental responsibility  - part of 
Care Plan 

40 26.10% 

E8 Period of LAC ceased for any other reason 27 17.60% 

E4B 
Return home to live with parents or  person with parental responsibility  - not as  
part of care plan 

22 14.40% 

E44 Special guardianship made to carers other than former foster carers 17 11.10% 

E5 Moved into independent living with formalised support 9 5.90% 

E12 Adopted -  consent dispensed with by court 9 5.90% 

E43 Special guardianship made to former foster carers 7 4.60% 

E14 Accommodation on remand ended 5 3.30% 

E13 Left care to live with parents, relatives, or others  with no parental responsibility. 4 2.60% 

E15 Age assessment child is 18 or over 3 2.00% 

E41 Residence order 3 2.00% 

E6 Moved into independent living without any formalised suppot 2 1.30% 

E7 Transferred to residential care funded by Adult Social Services 2 1.30% 

E2 Died 1 0.70% 

E11 Adopted - application for an adoption order unopposed 1 0.70% 

X1 Episode ceases, and new one begins 1 0.70% 

E3 Care taken over by another LA 0 0.00% 

E9 Sentenced to custody 0 0.00% 

E16 Child moved abroad 0 0.00% 

Total   153 100.20% 

30



15 

B11– Adoptions and Special Guardianship Orders of CLA 

The percentage of ceased CLA who were adopted appears to have stabilised since Q2, currently resting at 6.6% . Ceased CLA due to an SGO has 

decreased from 18.7% to 15.8%. The average days between a child entering care and moving in with their adoptive family has decreased from 380.3 in Q3 

to 333 at years end. Harrows average for this indicator lays below both the England and statistical neighbour figures in the most recent comparable 

dataset. The average time between the LA receiving a court order to place a child for adoption and a suitable match made has decreased and remains 

better than SN and England average. DfE have gradually reduced the waiting time from 20 to  to 14 months. The 2013-16 waiting time is based on 14 

months waiting time. 

LA 2011-14 2012-15 2013-16

Harrow 440.00 339.00 439.00

Statistical Neighbours 607.60 588.00 603.30

England Average 628.00 593.00 558.00

Average time between a 

child entering care and 

moving in with its 

adoptive family (days)

LA 2011-14 2012-15 2013-16

Harrow 84.00 104.00 154.00

Statistical Neighbours 196.30 207.90 217.80

England Average 216.00 223.00 226.00

Average time between a LA 

receiving court authority to 

place a child and deciding 

on a match

Indicator Mar-16 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18

The average time (days) between a child entering care and moving in 

with its adoptive family, for children who have been adopted.  

Measured Quarterly (YTD).

390.5 543.0 506.6 380.3 333

The average time (days) between a local authority receiving court 

authority to place a child and the local authority deciding on a match 

to an adoptive family.  Measured Quarterly (YTD).

167 86 102 93.9 116

Percentage of children who wait less than 16 months between 

entering care and moving in with their adoptive family.  Measured 

Quarterly. 

Note this indicator measured less than 20 months for 2011-14

83 0 20 50 83.3

31



16 

B12 – Timeliness of CLA reviews 

The timeliness of CLA reviews has decreased slightly  since the last report but remains high and 

above our target of 95% of reviews to be held in time. 

32



17 

B13 – Care leavers 

Provisional figures show 

that the percentage of 

care leavers in suitable 

accommodation has 

increased from the last 

report to 87.1%. The 

NEET percentage of 

care leavers were has 

decreased to 26.6% at 

31st of March.  

 

2017-18 published data 

shows us above 

statistical neighbour 

averages for care 

leavers in suitable 

accommodation. Harrow 

has also had lower 

numbers of care leavers 

who are not in 

education, employment 

or training. 

33



18 

B14 – Children who go missing or are absent 

The percentage of CLA missing and away from placement have remained relatively stable from last quarter. The numbers of CLA 

recorded as missing and absent (month on month) has increased since February. Children reported missing continues to remains a 

focus. Profile of children missing from home or care as well as those missing from education are subject of multi-agency oversight. 

Runaways Worker also in post and undertakes return interviews with children who go missing. Published data for 2017 shows Harrow 

have had a similar proportion of CLA who had a missing episode in the year compared to previous year whilst statistical neighbours’ 

and England trend is an increase from previous year  

PI Description Mar-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Number of CLA recorded as 

missing (month on month)
6 9 7 7 5 5 7 7 2 11 4 6

Number of CLA recorded as 

absent (month on month)
7 12 8 14 10 6 8 1 2 13 1 2

Mar-17 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18
% of CLA who had at least one  

missing incident (year to date) 14 12.2 12.5 12.8 13.2
% of CLA away from placement 

without authorisation at least on one 

occasion (year to date) 10 10.5 11.7 11 11.8

34



19 

B15 – CLA placement stability 

The percentage of CLA with more than 2 placement moves has continued to increase throughout the year and is 

currently at 13.5%. The percentage of children looked after for more than 2.5 years have been in the same placement for 

more than 2 years has dropped since the last report to 80.6%. 

35



20 

B16– CLA placed over 20 miles from home 

The percentage of all new CLA  placed more than 20 miles from home has varied throughout the year, currently at 16.7% 

and averaged at 14.4% for 2017/18. The percentage of all CLA  at the end of each month who are placed more than 20 

miles from home has averaged at 20.0% for 2017/18. 

A new indicator measuring the percentage of all new CLA  placed more than 50 miles from home mirrors the trend of 

children placed more than 20 miles from home and rests at 16.5%. 

In order to give a balanced view, these indicators exclude looked after children who are placed with parents, adopted or 

are unaccompanied asylum seekers.  

36



21 

B17 – CLA Offending 

The number of Looked After Children known to YOT has 

decreased from the last report. Harrow’s CLA offending rate is 

higher than comparators – this is being investigated and may be 

due to the comparatively small numbers of young people who are 

looked after, and a corresponding tendency towards higher levels 

of risk and vulnerability amongst this group.  

  

 

Number of Looked After Children known to YOT (snapshot at month end)

Jan-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18

12 10 12 11 11 12 7 11 9

12

10

12
11 11

12

7

11

9

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13

Number of Looked After Children known to YOT 
(snapshot at month end)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Harrow 13% 13% 15% 6%

London 6% 6% 6% 6% 5%

SN 

Avearge

6% 7% 7% 7.30% 5.40%

England 6% 6% 5% 5% 4%

% of children looked after for 1 year+ subject to a conviction, 

final warning or reprimand during the year

13% 13%

15%

6%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Harrow London SN Avearge England37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT FOR: 

 

Corporate Parenting 

Panel  

Date of Meeting: 

 

25 May 2018 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT – Harrow Children 
Looked After Health (CLA) Report 

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Zoe Sargent, Head of Children’s Services and 
Operations, CNWL NHS Foundation  
 
To be presented by: Emma Hedley,  
Named Nurse for CLA Harrow 
 

Exempt: 

 

No  
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

No, as the report is for information only 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: 

 

Harrow Children Looked After (CLA) Health 
Report 

 

Section 1 – Summary 

 

 
This report sets out the delivery of health services to Harrow’s Children 
Looked After (CLA) during March –April 2018 in line with national guidance. 
It reviews performance indicators and clinical work undertaken by the CLA 
health team. 
 

FOR INFORMATION 
 

 
 

39

Agenda Item 8
Pages 39 to 44



 

 

 

Section 2 – Further Information 

Corporate parenting 
May 2018.pdf

 
 

Section 3 – Financial Implications 

Not applicable. 

 

Section 4 - Equalities implications 

Not required. 
 

Section 5 – Council Priorities  

 
The Council’s vision: 
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
Please identify how the report incorporates the administration’s priorities.  
 

 Making a difference for the vulnerable 

 Making a difference for communities 
 
The report focuses on the service delivery from health to Children Looked 
After, a vulnerable group of children including those from the local community.  

 

Section 6 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 

 

Contact:  Emma Hedley, Named Nurse for Children Looked After Harrow,        

01895 484945 
 

Background Papers:  
Corporate Parenting Panel Reports   
January 2018 and March 2018 
 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=64156&x=1 
 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=788&MId=64157
&Ver=4 
 
 

40

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=64156&x=1
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=788&MId=64157&Ver=4
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=788&MId=64157&Ver=4


REPORT FOR: 

 

Corporate Parenting 

Panel  

Date of Meeting: 

 

25 May 2018 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT – Harrow Children 
Looked After Health (CLA) Report 

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Zoe Sargent, Head of Children’s Services and 
Operations, CNWL NHS Foundation  
 
To be presented by: Emma Hedley,  
Named Nurse for CLA Harrow 
 

Exempt: 

 

No  
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

No, as the report is for information only 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures: 

 

Harrow Children Looked After (CLA) Health 
Report 

 

Section 1 – Summary 

 

 
This report sets out the delivery of health services to Harrow’s Children 
Looked After (CLA) during March –April 2018 in line with national guidance. 
It reviews performance indicators and clinical work undertaken by the CLA 
health team. 
 

FOR INFORMATION 
 

 
 

41



 

 

 

Section 2 – Further Information 

Corporate parenting 
May 2018.pdf

 
 

Section 3 – Financial Implications 

Not applicable. 

 

Section 4 - Equalities implications 

Not required. 
 

Section 5 – Council Priorities  

 
The Council’s vision: 
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
Please identify how the report incorporates the administration’s priorities.  
 

 Making a difference for the vulnerable 

 Making a difference for communities 
 
The report focuses on the service delivery from health to Children Looked 
After, a vulnerable group of children including those from the local community.  

 

Section 6 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 

 

Contact:  Emma Hedley, Named Nurse for Children Looked After Harrow,        

01895 484945 
 

Background Papers:  
Corporate Parenting Panel Reports   
January 2018 and March 2018 
 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=64156&x=1 
 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=788&MId=64157
&Ver=4 
 
 

42

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=64156&x=1
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=788&MId=64157&Ver=4
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=788&MId=64157&Ver=4


Looked After Children Health 
Assessment Survey 2017/18 

 

 

 
 

Date (DD/MM/YYYY): Gender: Male Female 

 
 

 

Age Range: 0-4 5-10 

11-15 16 and over 

 
Ethnic Origin: Mixed  (Asian 

& White, 

Black & 

White, Other 

Mixed) 

 

 
Asian 

(Pakistani, 

Indian, 

Bangladeshi, 

Other) 

 
 

White (British, 

Irish, Other) 

 
Other 

(Chinese, 

Arab, Other) 

 
 
 

Black (African, 

Caribbean, 

Other) 

 

I do not wish 

to disclose 

 
 

 

 

Health Assessment: IHA 

 

RHA 
 

 

 

Appointment with: Dr School  Nurse 

 

LAC Nurse HV 
 

Other 
 

 

 

Interpreting  

 
Yes No 

 
 

Did the client need any help with interpreting? 
 

 

If YES, was this provided? 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please turn over page and hand to the client   
 

 

Practitioner Section - 
to be completed by practitioner 

 

43



Looked After Children Health 
Assessment Survey 2017/18 

 

 

 

 

Q1. Did you feel that you were treated with respect today? 
 

Yes No 
 

If NO, tell us why: 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Q2. Please rate us on how we did for you today: 
 

 

Great! 
Quite 

OK 
Good 

Not 
very 

good 

Not at 
all 

 
 

 

 

Q3. Tell us a little about how your health assessment was today: 
 

 
 

 

 

Q4. Would you recommend us to other young people in care, if 
they needed us? 

 

Definitely! Likely 
Not 

sure 
Unlikely 

Definitely 

not 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Client/Patient Section 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire. 
Please hand it back to a member of staff when finished. 

44



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Corporate Parenting 

Panel 

Date of Meeting: 

 

11th June 2018 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT – Missing 

Children Looked After 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Paul Hewitt Corporate Director People  
 

Exempt: 

 

 No  
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures:        

 

Children Looked After Missing Report 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 

 

 
This is an report on Children Looked After Children Missing from care and that  
activity and actions that are undertaken 
 
 

FOR INFORMATION 
 

 
 

45

Agenda Item 9
Pages 45 to 54



 

 

 

Section 2 – Report 

 
The report is attached and provides detailed information about Looked After 
Children who go missing and the activities that are undertaken 
 
 

Section 3 – Further Information 

 
See attached report 

Section 4 – Financial Implications 

 
There are no financial implications for this report 
 

Section 5 - Equalities implications 

 
No  
 
 
 

Section 6 – Council Priorities  

 
The Council’s vision: 
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
Children Looked After are one of the Councils vulnerable groups and this 
report outlines how the support and protection given to those who have been 
reported missing 
 
 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Jo Frost  x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 24th May 2018 

   

 
 
 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

 NO  
 

 

 

46



 

 
 

Section 7 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 

 

Contact:  Jacinta Kane, Team Manager VVE  Team,  Email:  

jacinta.kane@harrow.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

47

mailto:jacinta.kane@harrow.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Missing Children Report for Corporate Parenting Panel  

Author: Jacinta Kane, VVE Team Manager 

April 2018 

 

Introduction 

Harrow Children and Young People’s Services has a robust and responsive approach to 

tackling the complex issues associated with children missing from care. This report provides 

a summary of missing and absent episodes for Harrow Children Looked-After (CLA) for the 

period between April 2017- March 2018.  This report is informed by data captured in the 

Children’s information database (Mosaic) and the weekly Missing Children Review. Key 

findings are presented regarding the current Harrow missing children profile, intervention 

strategies and practice observations. 

Outline of children missing from care 

The percentage of Harrow Children Looked-After who had a missing episode has increased 

from 10% in 2015 and 2016 to 14% in 2017. This is part of a national upwards trend in the 

percentage of children looked-after going missing. In line with this increase in missing 

children looked-after, there has also been an increase in the complexity of issues and risks 

for missing children, particularly in relation to sexual and criminal exploitation. 

 

 

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

2015 2016 2017

% of CLA who had a missing incident by year 

Harrow

Statistical Neighbour
Average

England Average

49



 

Recorded missing from care – number of episodes and number of children 

Total Number of Missing from Care Episodes = 178  
 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Child 
(UASC)  

CLA = 2 (4.6%) Local CLA = 42 (95.4%) 

Male Female Male Female 

7  
(100%) 

0 
78  

(45.6%) 
93  

(54.4%) 

Total Number of Children with a Missing from Care Episode n = 44  
 

UASC CLA = 2 (4.6%) Local CLA = 42 (95.4%) 

Male Female Male Female 

2 
(100%) 

0 
21 

(50%) 
21 

(50%) 

 

The vast majority (95.4%) of the 178 recorded missing from care episodes relate to Local 

CLA. The 178 missing from care episodes relate to 44 individual CLA. The majority of 

missing CLA are local children, and there is an equal number of male and female local 

children with one or more missing episodes. Of the 178 recorded episodes of children 

missing from care, the majority (64%) relate to children missing for 24 hours or less. 

However, a number of missing episodes lasted for extended periods of time, including a 

week or more. Children may be at risk of harm or experience actual harm during any missing 

episode, however we are particularly concerned for children who are missing for more than 

24 hours, and children who repeatedly go missing. The following table outlines the recorded 

duration of missing from care episodes. 

Duration of Missing from Care Episodes 

Duration of Absence 
Number of 
episodes 

Less than 24 hours 10 

1 day/ overnight 104 

2 days  17 

3 days 15 

4 days 7 

5 days 6 

6 days 4 

1 week – 2 weeks 5 

2 weeks  - 1 month 3 

One month + 2 

Missing date information 5 

Total 178 

50



 

There are ten (10) children, ranging in age from 14-17 years, who account for more than half 

(54%) of all missing from care episodes. These children are particularly at risk, and Child 

Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and child criminal exploitation in the form of being groomed into 

County Lines “drug running” have been identified for a number of these young people. 

Intensive support, including therapeutic placements and counselling services, as well as 

multiagency working across police, education, Heath, the Youth Offending Team and 

Community Safety is in place for these young people. 

Children with repeat missing episodes: Top most frequently 
missing children 

Number 
of 
Episodes Gender Age 

Case 
Status Ethnicity 

20 Male 17 CLA Mixed background 

12 Male 16 CLA Black or Black British 

12 Female 17 CLA White or White British 

10 Female 14 CLA Other Ethnic background 

10 Female 16 CLA White or White British 

10 Female 15 CLA White or White British 

9 Female 14 CLA Black or Black British 

9 Female 16 CLA White or White British 

7 Male 17 CLA Mixed background 

7 Female 17 CLA White or White British 

 

The majority of these young people’s missing episodes and return home interviews reveal 

similar themes: 

- Staying out with friends or staying overnight with family members 

- Being at risk of CSE  

- Being exploited for “county lines” drug running outside of London 

- Cannabis, cocaine and alcohol use 

- Leaving education (not in education, employment or training – NEET) or poor 

educational attendance 

- Feeling rejected by parents 

Efforts taken to locate missing children 

Whenever a child is missing from their placement, the foster carer or placement provider will 

notify the police and the child’s social worker.  Our practice is to proactively share “grab 

packs” with the police (which contains key information about a child and their photograph) for 

children who are at high risk of going missing. This supports police to locate missing children 

as soon as possible, rather than waiting for a strategy meeting to take place.   

Following initial discussions between the child’s social worker and the police, an immediate 

strategy for locating the child and an action plan is enacted to ensure the safe return of the 

child. This includes attempting to contact the child and their known relatives and friends on a 

51



daily basis, visiting their parents' address/es and of any friends or relatives with whom they 

may be staying; and considering a trace on the child's mobile phone, social media accounts 

and/or oyster card.  

Harrow has a strong multi-agency partnership in relation to missing children, and within 72 

hours of child going missing, a strategy meeting is held by the social worker with police, the 

child’s placement and other relevant partners who can assist in locating the child to review 

the action plan and share information.  Any publicity is led by the Police, and the use of 

harbouring notices, Child Abduction Warning Notices (CAWNs) and Recovery Orders are 

also considered at the strategy meeting.  In addition, the Missing Children Coordinator will 

utilise their relationship with a missing child and attempt contact with them in order to 

persuade them to return to a place of safety.   

Services and Interventions 

The Missing Children Coordinator provides a Return Home Interview (RHI) service to every 

child missing from Care. In a small number of cases, children may go missing again before a 

RHI is carried out. For the April 2017- March 2018 period: 

 129 RHI were offered following 178 missing episodes;  

 89 RHI were completed  

 75.3% RHI were completed within 72 hours 

In addition, we recognise that children who are absent from their placements may also be 

vulnerable to the same risks as missing children. Where there are concerns about the 

vulnerability and safety of children absent from care, RHI interviews are also offered. For the 

April 2017- March 2018 period: 

 138 RHI were offered following 154 absent episodes  

 23 RHI were completed  

 82.6% RHI were completed within 72 hours 

Missing children who are believed to be at risk of County Lines are also referred to the 

Compass County Lines specialist worker for additional support. 

Missing Children Weekly Review  

Missing and Absent Children are reviewed weekly on a Monday morning by Heads of 

Service, the Assistant Director, the VVE Team Manager and the Missing Children’s 

Coordinator. This panel provides strategic oversight on work around missing and absent 

children in Harrow, particularly high risk missing and absent children. Each week the panel 

reviews the analysis of return interviews, and some emerging themes and patterns include: 

missing episodes linked to Child Sexual Exploitation; County Lines/Child Criminal 

Exploitation; children returning to family homes (unauthorised absences); and emotional, 

mental health and substance misuse needs.  

Summary and conclusions 

In recent years there has been an increase in the percentage and complexity of Harrow 

children looked-after going missing. Ten young people account for more than half of all 

missing episodes, and these young people are particularly at risk of sexual and criminal 

52



exploitation. Information from return home interviews is valuable in developing a better 

understanding of the reasons why young people go missing, and these interviews are 

offered to children who are missing and absent from care. We have a strong multi-agency 

partnership and responsive approach to missing children, and a range of support and 

disruption measures are utilised to identify and safeguard missing children. Child criminal 

exploitation for the purposes of “county lines” drug running is becoming an emerging issue 

for children in Harrow, as well as nationally. The emerging issue of “county lines” is now 

being explored and addressed in daily Violence, Vulnerability and Exploitation briefings, the 

HSCB VVE Subgroup and via the Multiagency Sexual Exploitation Panel. 

 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Corporate Parenting 

Panel 

Date of Meeting: 

 

11th June 2018 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT – 

Children’s Services Self Assessment 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Paul Hewitt Corporate Director People 
Services 
 

Exempt: 

 

 No  
 

Wards affected: 

 

All 

Enclosures:        

 

Children’s Services Self Assessment 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 

 

 
This is an report on Children’s Services Self Assessment which is sent to  
Ofsted as an update on the progress made since the previous inspection in 
Jan 2017 
 
 

FOR INFORMATION 
 

 
 

55

Agenda Item 10
Pages 55 to 116



 

 

 

Section 2 – Report 

 
The report is attached and provides detailed information. There is now a new 
Ofsted framework – Inspection Local Authority Children’s Services. (ILACS) 
This replaces the 
 
 

Section 3 – Further Information 

 
See attached report 
 

Section 4 – Financial Implications 

 
There are no financial implications for this report 
 
 

Section 5 - Equalities implications 

 
No  
 
 

Section 6 – Council Priorities  

 
The Council’s vision: 
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
Children Looked After and in the need for protection  are one of the Councils 
vulnerable groups. 
 
 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Jo Frost x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 24th May 2018 

   

 
 
 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

 NO  

 

56



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\0\4\AI00113405\$gl4ulp3n.doc 

 
 

Section 7 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 

 

Contact:  Peter Tolley, Divisional Director Children Services (interim);  

Tel: 02087366978 Email: peter.tolley@harrow.gov.uk 
 
 

Background Papers:  none 

 
 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

HARROW PEOPLE SERVICES 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SERVICES SELF-ASSESSMENT 

April 2018 
 

 

Self-Assessment 
Contact name: 

Neil Harris 

Telephone: 0208 736 6688 

Email: Neil.harris@harrow.gov.uk 

 

Contents: 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

PART A:  CONTEXTUAL INFORMATION 

 

PART B:  SUMMARY 

 

PART C:  CURRENT SELF ASSESSMENT 

 

1.  Leadership and Governance 

2.  Commissioning and Quality 

3.  National / Local Priorities and Partnerships 

4.  Resource and Workforce Management 

5. Culture and Challenge 

 

Self-Assessment by Service Area: 

 

6. Education – Strategy and Support to Schools 

7. Education – Outcomes for Children and Young People 

8. Early Support 

9. Children’s Social Care:  Referral, Assessment, Children in Need and Child Protection 

10. Children Looked After 

11. Fostering and Adoption 

12. Care Leavers 

13. Youth Offending 

14. Missing Children (Home, Care, Education) 

15. Child Exploitation 

16. Domestic Abuse, Parental Mental Health Or Substance Misuse 

17. Radicalisation and Extremism  

 

59



2 
 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 

This self-assessment provides up to date evaluation of the needs of children and families within our 
area, effectiveness of current service provision and performance in improving outcomes for children 
and young people (CYP).  
 
The Self-Assessment has been completed by senior officers from within the department, with wide 
collaboration and sign off across the council; and the workforce. 
 
Children’s Services in Harrow enjoy cross-party support from Members.  The Lead Member for 
Children’s Services, the Shadow Portfolio Holder and the Corporate Parenting Panel have all 
contributed to the self-assessment.   
 
Throughout the document, a number of acronyms are used.  A glossary of terms is included at the 
end of the document.  The full description is used for each acronym on the first occasion and 
thereafter the acronym is used for succinctness and brevity.  
 
There are a number of “acting up” arrangements in place in senior leadership positions until after 
the local elections.  Though these posts are described as “interim” they are held by permanent 
officers who know the Council well; and are able to maintain stability in leadership until the new 
Member administration comes into place.  These arrangements are described more fully under the 
Leadership and Governance section in Part C.  
 

  

60



3 
 

PART A: CONTEXTUAL INFORMATION 

 

1. Key Personnel 

 

Job Title 
 
 

Name Start date in 
current role 

Lead Member Christine Robson May 2016 

Interim Chief Executive Tom Whiting January 2018 

Interim Corporate Director of People 
Services 

Paul Hewitt March 2018 

Interim Divisional Director Children and 
Young People Service (CYPS) 

Peter Tolley April 2018 

Harrow Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) 
Chair  

Chris Miller December 2016 

 

 

2. Key Documents 

 

Key documents that inform the self assessment are listed below. Reference to other related 

documents linked to specific services are referenced within the body of the self-assessment.  

 

Document Date 

Harrow Ambition Plan 2018 

Joint Health and Well-being strategy 2016 - 20 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2015 - 20 

HSCB Annual Report 2016 - 17 

Harrow Child Poverty Strategy 2018 

Harrow Safeguarding Adults Board (HSAB) 
Business Plan 

2017 - 18 

CYPS Plans 2017 - 18 

CYPS Quality Assurance (QA) Framework 2016 - 19 

CYPS Workforce Strategy 2016 - 19 

CYPS Learning and Development Strategy 2016 - 19 

Harrow Children’s Services Analysis Tool 
(CHAT) 

April 2018 

Harrow Joint Commissioning Strategy for 
people with learning disabilities and with 
autistic spectrum conditions 

2015 - 2020 

Transforming Care Programme Annual 
Report 

2017 - 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

61



4 
 

3. Harrow Demographics and Services for Children  

Children Living in this Area  

Approximately 57,300 CYP under the age of 18 years live in Harrow. This is 23% of the total 
population in the area.  

The Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) shows that 16.24% of children in Harrow 
are living with families that are income deprived. A higher proportion of children living in poverty are 
in Wealdstone and south west area of the borough, but there are also 8 lower super-output areas 
(LSOA) which are in the bottom 20% nationally for income deprivation affecting children, spread 
across the borough.  

The proportion of children entitled to free school meals:  

• in primary schools is 8% (the national average is 14%).  

• in secondary schools is 12% (the national average is 13%).  
 
CYP from minority ethnic groups account for 69% of all children living in the area, compared with 
21% in the country as a whole. The largest ethnic group represented in this age band is the Indian 
population (23%), followed by the White British population (18%) and the Other Asian population 
(16%). In Harrow, the Indian population is predominantly Gujarati and the Other Asian group is 
predominantly Tamil. However, looking at the ethnicity by smaller age bands, we see that the ethnic 
diversity is growing. In the youngest age group (aged 0-4), only 1 in 6 are of White British ethnicity 
compared to 1 in 4 of the adult population. 

The proportion of CYP with English as an additional language (EAL):  

• in primary schools is 66% (the national average is 21%).  

• in secondary schools is 60% (the national average is 16%).  
 
87% of the school population is classified as belonging to an ethnic group other than White British. 
The top five most recorded community languages spoken in the borough are English, Gujarati, Tamil, 
Romanian and Arabic.  
 
The number of pupils with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) in Harrow has increased 
from 4,203 in January 2017 to 4,688 in January 2018; representing a percentage increase of 11.5%.   
The highest category of primary need is speech, language and communication needs followed by 
moderate learning difficulties.  
 
 
Child Protection (CP) in this Area  

• At 31 March 2018, 1,700 children had been identified through assessment as being formally in 
need of a specialist children’s service. This is similar to 1,753 at 31 March 2017.  

• At 31 March 2018, 223 CYP were the subject of a child protection plan (CPP) (a rate of 38.9 per 
10,000 children). This is similar to 31 March 2017, 228 (39.6 per 10,000 children).  

• At 31 March 2018, 2 children lived in a privately arranged fostering placement. This is a 
further drop from a low number of 4 at 31 March 2017.   

• Although no Serious Case Reviews (SCR) have been undertaken in this business cycle Harrow 
are currently contributing to a SCR being undertaken in Lewisham and learning will be 
finalised during 2018.   

 

62



5 
 

 
 
 
Children Looked After (CLA) in this area  

At 31 March 2018, 156 children were being looked after by the Local Authority (LA) (a rate of 27 per 
10,000 children). This is a decrease from 211 (36 per 10,000 children) at 31 March 2017.  Of this 
number:  

 70 (49%) live outside the LA area, 25 (22%) are placed more than 20 miles from home  

 11 live in residential children’s homes, all of whom live out of the LA area  

 a very small number live in residential special schools  which are out of the LA area  

 93 (60%) live with foster families, of whom 40 live out of the LA area, 13 are placed more than 
20 miles  

 a very small number live with their parents in the LA area  

 22 children are unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC).  
 
In the past 12 months:  

• there have been ten adoptions  

• 24 children became the subject of special guardianship orders (SGO)  

• 107 children became newly looked after 

• 152 children ceased to be looked after, of whom 4.6 % subsequently returned to be looked 
after  

• 11 CYP ceased to be looked after and moved on to independent living  
 

39 CYP ceased to be looked after and are now living in houses of multiple occupation. In all cases, 
providers who specialise in accommodation for young people supply this accommodation, and 
appropriate on-site or floating support is provided.  
 

 

Previous Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) inspections 

• The LA operates one short-break children’s residential home. It was judged to be outstanding 
at its most recent Ofsted inspection. 

• The last inspection of the LA’s safeguarding arrangements was in January 2017. The LA was 
judged to be good. 

• The last inspection of the LA’s services for CLA was in January 2017. The LA was judged to be 
good. 

 

 

Local leadership 

• The current interim Director of Children’s Services (DCS) has been in post since March 2018, 
however has been a senior leader in Harrow since July 2015 in his substantive role of 
Divisional Director of CYPS. 

• The DCS is also responsible for Adult Services and Public Health Services. 

63



6 
 

• The interim Chief Executive has been in post since January 2018, however has been a senior 
leader in Harrow since 2005 in his substantive role of Corporate Director of Resources. 

• The interim Divisional Director of CYPS has been in post since April 2018, however has been a 
senior leader in Harrow since 2007 in his substantive role of Head of Service of Corporate 
Parenting. 

• The Chair of the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) has been in post since December 
2016, and has been chair of London LSCB independent chair group since November 2015. 

 

 

PART B:  SUMMARY 

 

1.  Review of the last year (April 2017 to March 2018)  

1.1: Progress on LA Areas for Improvement  

Area for Improvement Outcome Reference to further information 

Ensure that all children and 
families who need an early-help 
assessment and a package of 
support coordinated by a lead 
professional are able to receive 
this. 
 

The LA in partnership with 
HSCB has implemented a 
revised Early Support (ES) 
Pathway following the re-
organisation of ES Services 
operating through 
Children’s Centres (CC), 
Schools and other 
community settings. During 
2017/18 there has been 
continuing progress in the 
completion of ES 
Assessments and packages. 
Next steps are to align ES 
services case recording and 
performance management 
data to better evidence 
impact. 
 

See priorities for improvement 
below, section 8 for detailed 
summary. 
 
 
 

Ensure that decision-making within 
the Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub (MASH) is consistently timely, 
so that all children who are subject 
of a referral receive an assessment 
and support in a timely manner.  
 

MASH pathway and 
associated performance 
management system 
reviewed and refined. As a 
result there is a consistent 
improvement in Section 17: 
Provision of services for 
Children in Need (S17) 
pathway into First 
Response Team (FRT). 
Annual performance data 
demonstrates outstanding 
performance with 
overwhelming majority of 
97.8% Red ratings, 98.5% 

See section 9 for detailed 
summary. 
 
 
 

64



7 
 

Amber ratings, 99.6% 
green ratings, and 100% 
blue ratings achieved 
within target.  
 

Ensure that assessments and plans 
are consistently up to date, 
reflective of children’s views and 
clear about what is expected of 
families. 
 

Data demonstrates that 
assessments are up-dated 
in line with Children in 
Need (CIN), CP, and CLA 
reviews. Monitoring and 
audit analysis 
demonstrates that young 
people and parents 
contribution to planning is 
valued, and plans are 
increasingly specific, 
measureable, achievable, 
realistic and timely 
(SMART). 
 

See sections 2, 9, and 10 detailed 
summary.  
 
 
 

Ensure that strategy discussions 
involve the full range of relevant 
agencies, so that the full range of 
relevant information inform 
assessment of risk. 

In partnership with key 
agencies the LA have 
increased participation in 
section 47: duty to 
investigate (S47). Data 
demonstrates this 
improving participation 
and greater consistency 
across FRT and CIN Team.  
21 agency types 
contributed 12,204 times 
during 1,010 S47’s 
conducted April 2017 – 
March 2018.   
 

See Section 9.  

Ensure that CLA receive timely 
therapeutic support when they 
need it. 

The LA and National Health 
Service (NHS)/Voluntary 
Sector partnership has 
improved access and 
delivery of tier 2/3 
therapeutic services for the 
children’s population 
including CLA. The jointly 
commissioned Harrow 
Horizons service 
performance is improving 
access following the launch 
July 2017. Tier 3 and 4 
delivery has been 
strengthened through 
tripartite funding 
arrangements. Specialist 

See section 10 for detailed 
summary.  

65



8 
 

CLA nurses have improved 
the provision of timely 
support with closer 
alignment with Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) pathway. 
   

Improve the quality of plans when 
children return to their families 
from care, so that there is clarity 
about what services will be 
provided, who will provide them, 
by when and what they are aimed 
at achieving.  

Improvements in practice 
and review mechanisms 
have been implemented in 
2017/18. The launch of 
Keeping Families Together 
(KFT) service has proved 
instrumental in supporting 
the pathway for young 
people returning to the 
care of their family. Final 
review meetings are 
delivered prior to 
discharge, without 
Independent Reviewing 
Officers (IRO) requiring 
formal escalations. 62 of 
153 young people leaving 
care have returned to the 
care of family members. 
None of the 62 have 
returned into the care of 
the LA. 
 

See sections 2 and 10 for detailed 
summary. 

Ensure professionals consistently 
implement actions required 
between review meetings for CLA. 

Improvements in 
consistent practice have 
been achieved over 
2017/18. Monitoring data 
demonstrates that majority 
of escalations by IROs 
achieve timely and active 
responses. Performance is 
tracked for visits by social 
workers (SW), and 
supervising SWs. A new 
Advocacy Service has been 
commissioned that will also 
provide support for parents 
as well as CLA. Review 
timeliness remains good 
(98.7%). Improved pathway 
planning remains priority 
for improvement in 
2018/19.   
 

See sections 10 and 12 for 
detailed summary. 

Ensure that the good support Outcomes for care leavers See section 12 for detailed 

66



9 
 

experienced by the vast majority 
of care leavers is extended to all 
care leavers, so that their needs 
are better met. 

are consistently good and 
in the top quartiles 
nationally Not in 
Education, Employment or 
Training (NEET) is 26.6%, 
suitable accommodation 
87.1%. Harrow is ambitious 
for our CLA and Care 
Leavers, and improved 
pathway planning for 
eligible young people is a 
priority in 2018/19. 
  

summary. 

Strengthen the quality of learning 
from audits through the better 
involvement and use of feedback 
from children and their families. 

The LA QA framework 
remains an area of good 
practice in CYPS. Audit 
activity and review 
mechanisms have been 
revised to strengthen 
direct feedback from young 
people and their family. 
21% of audits undertaken 
have directly captured the 
views of service users with 
the majority passing 
positive commentary of the 
quality of services 
provided. Audit activity 
also demonstrates that the 
voice of the young person 
is a strength in case work. 
 

See section 2 for detailed 
summary. 

Improve the functioning of the 
overview and scrutiny panel, to 
ensure that it is more sharply 
focussed on children and that its 
work has an impact on improving 
both services for the children and 
the outcomes they achieve. 

The Centre for Public 
Sector Scrutiny (CFPS) has 
reviewed scrutiny panel 
arrangements across the 
Council. All 
recommendations have 
been accepted by the 
administration and 
implemented in full. 
Harrow Youth Parliament 
(HYP) is now a full member 
of the scrutiny panel, and 
has strengthened the voice 
of young people in 
reviewing the effectiveness 
of Council activity and 
performance in 2017/18.   
 

See section 1 for detailed 
summary. 

 

 

67



10 
 

 

 

1.2: Regional Areas for Improvement Last Year 
 

Area for Improvement Outcome Reference to further information 

Improved SW Qualification 
pathway across West London 
Alliance (WLA). 
 

Step-Up to SW 
commissioned delivery 
partner across WLA. 

WLA Executive Board strategic 
priorities. 

Improved quality commissioning / 
cost of external CLA, and semi-
independent placement provision. 
 

Successful implementation 
of dynamic purchasing 
system across WLA. 

WLA Executive Board strategic 
priorities. 

Comprehensive workforce training 
programme linked to Continuous 
Professional Development (CPD) 
and Knowledge and Skills 
Statement (KSS) requirements. 

WLA jointly commissioned 
training programme. Meets 
Harrows CYPS needs, and 
positive evaluation 
regarding attendance and 
impact. 
 

WLA Executive Board strategic 
priorities. 

 

1.3: Top Three Outcomes: We Are Proud Of Achieving This Year 

Strength or Outcome Reference to further information 

Strengthening partnership integration and 
innovative practice projects. Comprehensive 
reach covering all levels of need: e.g. early 
intervention (Harrow Horizons), domestic abuse 
couples counselling in collaboration with 
Tavistock, effective finger print testing project 
for substance misusing parents, successful 
Together with Families (TWF) approach and 
payment by results work stream (Central Govt. 
Trouble Families agenda).    
 

Full range of contract monitoring arrangements 
/ evaluative reports / funding submissions 
available.  

Successful implementation of Workforce 
Strategy. Significant improvement in increasing 
permanent / reducing interim ratios across CYPS. 
This sets a strong and stable context to embed a 
positive practice framework in place. 
 

CYPS Workforce Strategy. WLA Teaching 
Partnership Evaluation. CYPS Annual Workforce 
Analysis Report demonstrates positive direction 
of travel. 

Successful implementation of a range of 
approaches /activity to prevent wherever 
possible / whilst ensuring the appropriate CYP 
enter the care of the LA. This has resulted in a 
more seamless approach from FRT assessment 
outcomes and Public Law Outline (PLO) tracking. 
Early identification of young people at risk of 
care is now embedded through weekly Access to 
Resources Panels and allocation of a 12 week KFT 
programme.    

Internal CYPS care proceedings evaluative 
report, CYPS performance management data 
and monthly performance minutes. Evaluation 
of KFT currently underway commissioned 
through London School of Economics (LSE). 

68



11 
 

1.4: Summary of Reviews, Evaluations and Inspections 

a) Ofsted Social Care, School Improvement Inspections, Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

inspections of health services, peer reviews, etc. 

Title Date Outcome 
Reference to further information 

Ofsted Single Inspection 
Framework 
 

Jan 2017 Good 

Children Home (The Firs) 
 

Sept 2017 Outstanding 

 

b) School Inspections   

Source: http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/resources/latest-monthly-management-information-outcomes-

of-school-inspections 

  Total number 
inspected 

Outstanding Good Requires 
improvement 

Inadequate % Good 
or Better 

Nursery 1 of 1 0 1 0 0 100% 

Primary 39 of 42  17 (44%) 21 (54%) 1 (3%) 0 97% 

Secondary 12 of 13 7 (58%) 5 (42%) 0 0 100% 

Pupil Referral Unit 
(PRU) 

2 of 2 0 2 (100%) 0 0 100% 

Special Schools 4 of 4 4 (100%) 0 0 0 100% 

 

 

2.  Looking Forward To 2018/19  

 

2.1: Top Four Outcomes We Need To Improve 

Area for Improvement Reference to further information 

Develop further through MASH and FRT pathways 
for families accessing suite / full range of ES 
services. Although progress has been made during 
the 2017/18 business cycle, further work is 
required to accelerate consistent application of 
Family Led Needs Analysis (FLNA) / Youth Led 
Needs Analysis (YLNA).  

 

See section 8 for detailed summary. 

Partnership working has improved with the 
integrated / risk-based approach to child sexual 
exploitation (CSE) in 2017/18. The priority area for 
improvement is to extend this focus so that 
partnership working is focussed on a strengths-
based approach, integrating targeted attention to 

See section 15 for detailed summary. 

69

http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/resources/latest-monthly-management-information-outcomes-of-school-inspections
http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/resources/latest-monthly-management-information-outcomes-of-school-inspections


12 
 

young people vulnerable to sexual / criminal 
exploitation and violence (VVE). This work will 
move beyond a focus on working with specific 
families, but will extend to a contextual 
safeguarding approach to young people, peer 
groups, school and community settings. 

   

CYPS directorate structure has successfully 
developed a strengths-based / systemic approach 
to working with families in the Pod model 
embedded across FRT/CIN. This way of working 
will be further developed through the service 
design of a 16+ service integrating CLA and Leaving 
Care services. This will enhance the young person’s 
journey through pathway planning and transition 
into adult citizenship. 

 

See sections 10 and 12 for detailed summary. 

CLA education attendance, progress and 
attainment. 
Improve outcomes for CLA at Key Stage 2 (KS2) 
compared to statistical neighbours (SN); especially 
in reading and writing.  
 
Improve the progress of CLA from KS1 to KS2 in 
reading, writing and maths; to be at least in line 
with SN. 
 
Improve Progress 8 score for pupils between KS2 
and KS4. 
 
Improve attendance of CLA, especially those 
placed outside the borough and those looked after 
for a shorter period.   
 

See section 10 for detailed summary.  

 

2.2: Top Four Risks for 2018/19  

Risk Reference to further information 

Harrow like all LAs and its key statutory partners 
face a considerable challenge in maintaining a 
strong focus on service delivery, while meeting the 
challenge of continuing austerity experienced 
through central government funding streams. 
 

Harrow Council Medium Term Financial 
Strategy. 

Meeting the strategic challenge with statutory and 
voluntary sector partners to manage the increase 
in serious youth knife crime in Harrow and across 
London.  
 

Harrow Youth Justice Plan. 

Ensuring the strong partnership arrangements 
embedded in HSCB are maintained during any 
changes flowing from the Children and Social Work 

HSCB and HSAB business plans. 

70



13 
 

Act 2017. Alignment / cooperation with HSAB 
must be maintained in order to support young 
people’s transition into adult citizenship. 
 

Aligning strategic planning in the context of 
increasing complexity of SEND across the Harrow 
children’s population.    
 

SEND Strategy 

 

 

3.   INNOVATION, PILOTS AND GOOD PRACTICE 

Harrow CYPS have been involved in a range of innovative projects and good practice developments 
in 2017/18. The summary is detailed in the table below:   

 
 

Title and Description Start and completion 
date 

Systemic Practice Improvement Project. A systemic clinician service has 
been developed within the CIN Service in conjunction with Harrow 
CAMHS. This development has enhanced the systemic / family therapy 
offer across CIN/CP/CLA services.  
 

January 2018 – 1 year 
fixed term with 1 further 
year subject to review.  

Parent Assessment Manual Software (PAMS) project. Expanding range 
and capacity for undertaking assessments including the recruitment of 
a Parenting Assessor. Project improves agility of local response to 
complex assessment requirements linked to PLO and Legal 
Proceedings. – Joint working with Adults Services to undertake Capacity 
Assessments.  
 

September 2017. Subject 
of evaluation in April 
2019. Possible 
mainstreaming of project 
into base budget.  

Pilot digital finger printing as a tool for the early identification of 
substance misuse. The device is new, easy to use, portable; and non-
invasive.  The revolutionary technique works by imaging a fingerprint at 
the same time as analysing the sweat residue of the fingerprint 
chemicals known as metabolites. The devise is kept by service user, and 
early indication is that this methodology is improving take up, and 
service user feels empowered and “less done to”. As a consequence 
there is improvement in transparency and development of honest 
working relationships. 
 

January – June 2018. 

2nd phase of the couples domestic abuse programme originally 
developed in partnership with the Tavistock. Proof of concept 
established.  2nd phase in development with third sector partner.  
Integrated approach focussing on domestic abuse, and also addresses 
underlying issues including substance and alcohol misuse.  
 

April 2018 – March 2019. 

KFT project focussing on young people at risk of coming into the care of 
the LA, or already in care, but care plan of reunification. This project 
builds on LA previous partnership with Morning Lane Associates in first 
phase of DfE Innovations programme. Project has supported wider 
strategy for reducing care population. LSE is the commissioned 

August 2017 – December 
2018. 

71



14 
 

evaluation partner. 
 

Systemic Supervision Project. Bespoke Training Commissioned for all 
permanent Front-line managers. Project aimed at improving reflective 
and systemic practice within context of signs of safety methodology. 
 

June 2017 – December 
2018. 

Partner with Front-line and Step Up To SW training projects. 3 units 
embedded with CYPS. A key element of Harrow’s workforce strategy is 
to ensure that there is a permanent pathway for SW graduates to 
become qualified SW in CYPS.  
 

April 2017 – March 2018 
and ongoing. 

International SW recruitment project in partnership with Permanent 
SW Solutions. Successful recruitment project for 20 experienced and 
qualified SW practitioners. Supports wider workforce strategy 
priorities. 
  

April 2017 – June 2018. 

Member of West London Teaching Partnership. Successful funding 
through Department for Education (DfE) secured strong partnership in 
development with Royal Holloway University of London and Kings 
College London.  Examples of success: Gateway to SW project building 
development options for SW apprenticeship scheme. 
  

April 2017 – March 2018 
ongoing. 

 
 

PART C: CURRENT SELF-ASSESSMENT 

 

1.  LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE  

 

1.1) There is a strong political focus on children’s services. 

1.2) Strategies and priorities are clear, and are driving the required improvement. 

1.3) Senior Leaders discharge their statutory responsibilities. They understand effectiveness, 
identify and deal with areas for strategic development; strengths and areas for development in 
front line practice and the impact on children and their families. Shortfalls are identified and 
addressed.   

1.4)  There is stability within the management structure.  There has been low turnover and change 
in senior leadership and management team. 

1.5) There are limited service reorganisations but where they do occur they are purposeful and 
effective. 

1.6) Service/team meetings and staff are informed/ engaged about priorities, performance and are 
supported to keep up to date. Feedback from frontline staff is listened to, and acted upon. 

1.7)  The vision, strategies, policies and procedures are up to date. Priorities and plan(s) for 
improvement are realistic, measurable, understood by staff and are promoted from strategic level 
through to team planning and individual supervision / appraisals. 

Summary and evidence: 

Harrow CYPS continue to reap the benefits of strong political and corporate focus on universal and 

72



15 
 

targeted services for children . This has resulted in clear shared priorities across the Safer Harrow, 
HSCB / HSAB, and Health and Well-Being Board partnerships. The LA has committed a further £2.9 
million financial support targeted at CYPS to meet on-going budget pressures built into base 
budgets, over and above that previously secured to address staffing pressures in 2016/17. This 
demonstrates the LA’s commitment to an ambitious and forward thinking People Services 
Directorate (PSD). Above all, it also demonstrates that senior leaders discharge their statutory 
responsibilities, and have been agile in identifying shortfalls, and ensuring that they are addressed.  
PSD has an established integrated structure and realignments of Commissioning and Children and 
Young Adults with Disabilities Service (CYADS) is now fully embedded. Recent alignments of Public 
Health within PSD have been implemented smoothly and efficiently, and re-commissioned services 
will successfully target vulnerable children through school nurse and health visitor (HV) provision. 
  
Clear structures are in place to manage operational imperatives. This helps to ensure that there is 
strong governance in place regarding decision making, accountability for safeguarding decisions, use 
of budgets, and QA of standards and outcomes.  PSD has taken forward the learning from previous 
Towards Excellence in Adult Social Care (TEASC), Corporate Peer Review and Local Government 
Association (LGA) placement capacity reviews. 
 
Although interim arrangements are in place following the departures of the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and Corporate Director of People Services, the posts have been filled by long established 
senior leaders in Harrow, so that any disruption has been minimised, and the “organisational 
memory” has been retained to continue our “business as usual” approach. Management “grip” is in 
place at all levels, with well embedded systems to monitor practice and outcomes. Regular 
performance management information reports are considered in a systematic fashion via formal 
meetings with CEO, Corporate Director, Elected Members, and Independent chair of HSCB. 
Quarterly Children’s Improvement Boards, chaired by the Leader of Harrow Council, and regular 
dataset reporting / scrutiny by HSCB triangulate performance management across the well -
established Harrow partnerships. A QA framework is in place including audit, surveys, service user 
and staff feedback.  Performance reports assist with monitoring and actively managing outcomes at 
all levels of the organisation. 
 
Service plans are in place at all levels of the organisation that are aligned to Council and HSCB 
priorities, and flow through to learning and development / supervision / appraisal for team planning 
and individual succession planning.  

   
 
 
 

2. COMMISSIONING AND QUALITY  

 

2.1) Commissioning across all services is evidence based to meet the needs of children and families 
(including vulnerable groups)  through up to date needs assessments;  sufficiency audits and 
research; what children and young people and families tell us their needs are; and understanding of 
current markets. This includes placements for CLA and services for children and their families.    

2.2)  Commissioned services are robustly monitored and commissioning is effective in achieving 
desired outcomes at the right price. 

Summary and evidence: 

The CYP Commissioning Executive is becoming well developed, and the “whole life journey” 
approach taken from the Health and Wellbeing Board has proved productive in identifying the 
commissioning priorities relevant to the lives of CYP. This multi-agency commissioning group is clear 

73



16 
 

and well focussed, and some synergies with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), public health, 
and schools have proved productive. Most notably, CYP have been fully involved in the design of 
service specifications (e.g. sexual health services and Harrow Horizons). There have been systemic 
improvements in the use of data to re-commission services, producing clearer outcomes and 
contract management. Although commissioning principles have been across the commissioning 
executive, there is further work required to strengthen the relationship with the CCG and the 
delivery of joint commissioning priorities.  
 
Harrow was recently successful in bidding to the Big Lottery Life Chances Fund for a £7.9 million 
programme with £1.9 million funded by the Big Lottery Fund to develop and procure a new 
Adolescence Collaborative (edge of care service) through a Social Impact Bond. The investment will 
allow Harrow to develop a new Adolescence Collaborative (edge of care service), which covers three 
stands:  

Strand 1: To build upon a pilot KFT Model by expanding and up-scaling it to deliver a responsive 
7 day intensive family coaching service;  

Strand 2: Development of a mobile app as a mechanism to engage young People; 
Strand 3: Development of a flexible menu of therapeutic intervention offer for young people and 
their families. 

 
The Adolescent Collaborative Multi-Channel is an innovative and forward thinking reunification and 
prevention of care service. It is targeting young people (10-18) in care and on the edge of care:  

1. Those who are at imminent risk of becoming looked after, supporting them to remain at 
home;  

2. Those who are in care, supporting reunification home or step down to foster care.  
 
Extensive and detailed primary and secondary research informed the service design and mobile app 
prototype development.  
 
TWF funded and commissioned development of KFT – an innovative pilot service. This service 
provides a dual offer working intensively to prevent children from coming into care and young 
people in care to reunify home (where it is safe to do so); The LSE have been commissioned to 
evaluate the impact of KFT Service. The final evaluation report is expected in October 2018. 
 
In summary, considerable progress has been made during 2017/18 regarding agreed priorities for 0-
25 year olds, All Age priorities (Carers Strategy, Housing for vulnerable young people and adults, and 
those with a learning disability [LD] and Autism Spectrum Disorder [ASD]), and joint commissioning 
priorities (e.g. HV and school nurse, Advocacy, Speech and Language Therapist (SALT), Independent 
Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA), and information advice and guidance (IAG) strategy). Below is a 
detailed list of the outcomes of commissioning activity:     

• Providers, carers and young carers were consulted to inform the Carers Strategy. 

• Consultation with CYAD and parents/carers to get service user feedback on current short 
breaks service provision. 

• Monitoring of short breaks framework. 

• Rigorous monitoring of Harrow’s Horizons included QA and audit. 

• The Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children at Harrow CCG is an integral part of 
monitoring the HV and school nursing contracts and triangulates information from 
safeguarding audits and SCRs. 

• CLA sufficiency strategy. 

• Comprehensive Children’s needs analysis undertaken in partnership with the voluntary sector. 

74



17 
 

• CLA Health Assessment informs the LA of the health needs. 

• Research in Practice (RiP) has informed commissioning of training as requested by SWs 
regarding emotional, mental health. 

• Consultation with CYAD and parents/carers to inform the new short breaks service. 

• Redesign of the Short Breaks Framework as a result of Market engagement events held with 
short breaks providers to understand the market position and engage with new providers. 

• Dedicated accommodation for UASC (Service Users) – Gayton Road. 

• There was a full consultation as part of the 0-19 HV and School Nursing recommissioning 
process during which some 500 stakeholders, parents/carers, and young people were. 
engaged. The JSNA was refreshed as part of this process. 

• Redesign of the Independent Children’s Advocacy service as a result of rigorous monitoring 
and need for outcomes based provision. 

• Harrow is Home project – bring back LD/ASD clients from out of borough placements in order 
to improve outcomes for young adults. 

• Robust quarterly monitoring of the Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and ASD 
Support service including user feedback. 

• Recommissioning of accommodation for UASC (Service Users) – Gayton Road achieving good 
outcomes and value for money. 

• There has been robust monitoring of the HV and school nursing service contracts since they 
were novated to the LA. This has led to a significant improvement in the performance for HV 
in particular: for example the percentage of children who turned 15 months in the quarter, 
who received a 12 month review, by the age of 15 months has increased from 7.6% in Q4 
15/16 to 86% in Q3 17/18. 

 

 
 

2.3) Practice is informed by feedback, research and intelligence about the quality of services. There 
are rigorous management oversight and quality assurance frameworks (including audit) in place to 
inform service improvement, learning and development.   

Summary and evidence: 

Our QA framework and approach to performance management is well embedded. We have clear 
systems of audit, performance and outcome monitoring. Strengths and areas’ for development are 
understood. Audit and review activity is regularly undertaken, including senior managers, and 
bespoke reports are commissioned based on performance intelligence. QA priorities are aligned to 
HSCB priorities.  An overview of our activity in 2017/18 is detailed below: 
 
Audits 
This section covers audit activity completed under the Harrow CYPS QA Framework during April 2017 
to March 2018.  In total 209 practice audits were completed across the year. 
 
Following the Ofsted single inspection framework (SIF) in January 2017 practice audit processes have 
been improved to ensure that where possible / appropriate direct contact is made with CYP and 
their families to seek their feedback on their views / experience of receiving the help and protection 
of CYPS.  Although direct feedback has been on a minority of cases (21%) it has been sufficient to 
give some indication of satisfaction levels, and indication of areas that prove problematic (see 
below).      

75



18 
 

 
Grading – Quality of Practice 
Overall a large majority (68.5%) of practice was deemed to meet statutory requirements, and was 
either considered as ’good’ overall, or had elements of practice that were considered as  good. 
48.5% of audits were considered to demonstrate overall good practice. 45% of audits considered 
that the practice required improvement.  Of the ‘requires improvement’ graded cases, 42% had an 
additional grade of ‘good’ for particular areas of work with the young person, their family, or wider 
network. A very small minority, 6.5% were graded as inadequate for processes and recording; these 
cases were given an improvement plan.  None of the cases were graded as inadequate for practice 
with the child and their family.    This demonstrates a dynamic framework which is taking practice 
improvement into the centre of the day-to-day business of the directorate.     
 
Themes from Audits  
Areas Harrow is doing well at: 
 
Case oversight 

• The use of signs of safety in case recording for management oversight. 
• Using the history of the case to inform current assessment/analysis. 
• Competent/comprehensive assessments being undertaken and being completed efficiently. 
• Good case recording with detail and analysis.  
• Completing agency checks/sharing information which goes on to inform analysis and practice. 

 
Hearing the Voice of the child and working with families 

• Children being seen and spoken with on their own. 
• Children’s views are heard and acted upon.  
• Hearing the voice of siblings within the household is improving.  
• Observing the interactions between children and their main carers to inform assessment / 

direct work is improving.  
• Direct work being carried out with our CYP to ascertain their views is embedded across the 

directorate.  
• Good working relationships with the CYP are at the heart of social care practice.  
• Forming clear and transparent relationships with parents is a priority for allocated lead 

professionals.  
• Parents views being heard and taken into account is improving.  
• Involving fathers in assessments is improving. 
• SWs creating and implementing plans with parents to safeguard the children is fully 

embedded across the service.  
• Working towards stable foster placements is improving. 
• Exploring the context of a family’s culture to inform the assessment and intervention is 

improving.  
 
Working with other teams and partner agencies 

• Referring young people to the gangs worker is improving 

• Referring to other multi-agency ES services is improving. This supports a whole family 

approach.  

Quotes about the SW from young people and their families: 
• “brilliant and effective” 
• “reliable” 
• “goes above and beyond” 
• “non-judgemental” 
• “Really like that you are calling to check on me and how I am doing” 
• “SW has made an impact” 

76



19 
 

• “SW is supportive” 
• “Happy with support provided” 

 
Child feedback  

9 
3 

0 

 
Adult Feedback 

19 

6 

5 

Areas identified for improvement. Some examples of additional programming to improve practice: 

• Reflective supervision: This improvement area has been addressed through the 
commissioning on an accredited systemic practice management programme for all permanent 
front line supervisors. Feedback is positive, and the programme will be concluded by 
December 2018.  

 
• Better understanding of the child’s identity and how the child’s identity impacts on their lived 

experience.   

Research from The British Journal of Social Work (2015), ‘Child Visibility in Cases of 
Chronic Neglect: Implications for SW Practice’.  This research was shared with SWs via the 
Principle SW Drop-Ins and SW Team Meeting.  The research gave examples of what is meant 
by the child’s identity and how we record this on the child’s case file.  

  
• Developing professional curiosity to have a more meaningful understanding of the child’s lived 

experience. 

A 2 day tailored training programme has been developed with RiP to be delivered at 
Harrow Council to address assessment skills and professional curiosity.  

 
Supervision 

The very large majority (80.4%) of cases across the year were recorded to have regular supervision. 
Feedback from practitioners has been that supervision is a strength in Harrow, with managers being 
available for case discussions when required. Further improvements will be enhanced by the 
systemic management training offer. 

Areas identified across the quarter for improvement to the quality of case supervisions were: 

• All supervisions should begin with the review of previous actions. 

• All new actions should have a timescale for completion. 

• All supervision should have up to date information and analysis.  
 
Bespoke Audits 

Domestic Abuse 

During the October audit there was a domestic abuse theme where 9 open cases with domestic 
abuse featuring in the past year were audited.  The audit identified there needs to be more work 
with the perpetrators. Practice would benefit from specific focused discussions and analysis around 
the abusive behaviour.  There were not consistent referrals to perpetrator programmes.  A small 

77



20 
 

minority of workers did not successfully engage with the perpetrator to better understand triggers 
for behaviour and history.  Referrals were often made to Westminster Drug Project (WDP) as 
substance misuse was a feature of all the domestic abuse cases.   
 
The audit noted that there were areas of good practice where safety plans had been put in place.  
These plans would often involve extended family as a protective factor and to support safe contact 
arrangements when parents had separated. Parents were well supported to obtain legal advice in 
regards to separation and divorce proceedings.  Referral to the IDVA was a significant feature of the 
team around the family. Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Harassment and Honour Based Violence 
(DASH) assessment completed appropriately for one family.  
 
 
Supervision Orders  

6 cases were audited in September where there was a supervision order granted by court within the 
last 12 months.  The overall conclusion from the 6 audits was positive in terms of the standard of 
work undertaken before, during and after proceedings in a very large majority of the cases 
considered.  
 
In the majority of audits the application to court was seen as necessary and proportionate. However 
in 33%, i.e. 2 out of the 6 audits, an application to court could have been possibly avoided by earlier 
intervention work with a hard to reach family, and a pre-birth case as detailed below.  
 
Given the lack of engagement from mother and the concerns that the schools were raising, CP 
procedures including a strategy meeting should have been progressed at an early stage. Working 
together with other agencies to find a way to assess the risks and the needs of the children may 
have averted the need to issue care proceedings. 
 
There was delay in progressing pre-birth assessments with 2 children. More robust systems are now 
in place in FRT to screen pre-birth assessments to ensure risks are identified at an early stage of 
pregnancy.  In addition the PLO pre proceedings protocol was updated in October 2017 and includes 
procedures with regard to unborn babies where the risks are assessed as high.  The aim is for the 
practice to be managed within the PLO pre proceedings framework by week 20 of the pregnancy. 
This allows assessments of parents and other family members to have been completed during 
pregnancy, and provides a robust framework for decisions to be made about whether there is a 
need to issue proceedings at birth. 
 
Special Guardianship Orders  

An audit was completed of the agency checks completed on 7 SGO assessments of successful SGOs 
during October to December 2017 inclusive.      
 
All cases completed agency checks for: 

• Ofsted 
• National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children (NSPCC) 
• Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 
• Applicants medical history 
• Children Services 

 
None of the cases completed agency checks for the following: 

• Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) and National Probation Service (NPS) 
 
A small minority (28.5%) of cases had an education check completed via another LA or Children 

78



21 
 

Services department; this information was then recorded for the purposes of the SGO agency 
checks.  
 
There was no standard recording process for the agency checks on Mosaic (Harrow’s social care 
recording system).  Some agencies have a specific workflow to record the agency check.  CRC and 
NPS are not listed. 
 
All cases commented on the agency check findings in the SGO assessment where the checks flagged 
issues to be discussed. 
 
The large majority of cases (71.4%) had regular supervision recorded.  In these supervisions, agency 
checks were discussed.   
 
Recommendations 

 Staff to understand the importance of completing agency checks with CRC and NPS as these 
agencies may have information that other agencies do not.   

 All required agency checks to have a Mosaic workflow. 

 All SGO assessments/plans to be presented to panel for approval, or retrospective 
consideration of support plan if court proceedings meant that it was not possible to consider 
prior to final hearing. 

 

 
 
 

3.  NATIONAL AND LOCAL PRIORITIES AND PARTNERSHIPS   

 
3.1)  There are effective strategic partnerships across the local area, and shared understanding 
across key strategic groups (e.g. HWBB, HSCB, Safer Harrow Partnership, HSAB). 

3.2) LA children’s services engage sufficiently with other agencies and services such as Police, 
Schools, Housing, Adults Services, CCG, to develop a joint understanding of current service provision 
and outcomes, and agree strategies to improve performance where appropriate. 

Summary and evidence: 

Senior leaders across the People Services Departments deliver comprehensive and consistent input 
to the key partnerships operating across Harrow. This approach is continuing to improve and 
strengthen partnerships. Statutory agencies and increasingly the voluntary sector are playing full and 
active roles in the Health and Well Being Board (HWBB), HSCB, Safer Harrow, and the HSAB.   

 

 
 

3.3) New national legislation, plans and areas of focus: e.g. Child Sexual Exploitation, Female Genital 
Mutilation, Children’s Mental Health, and Knife Crime are responded to in a timely manner to ensure 
compliance and good practice. 

Summary and evidence: 

Harrow People Services Department, in conjunction with key statutory partners has been well placed 
to plan and meet new legislative requirements and, through effective horizon scanning, is agile to 
respond to emerging areas requiring focus. We have been pro-active in planning for the changing 
legislative framework of the Children and Social Work Act 2017. 

79



22 
 

This has resulted in a review of HSCB structures and priorities, with potential closer alignment with 
neighbouring LAs. Harrow is the lead LA in developing a Regional Adoption Consortium in 
partnership with Coram and other LAs. The VVE sub-committee of the HSCB and the CYPS VVE team 
priorities are closely aligned to the Safer Harrow partnership. The partnership applies innovation 
funding from Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) for activity which is well embedded in 
strategic planning / operational delivery. This work stream is well placed to consider and address the 
local issues relating to rising knife crime across London. As detailed above in section 2, Children’s 
Mental Health needs are well understood and planning has been fully implemented with the 
successful launch of the Harrow Horizons service, and other voluntary sector initiatives. Planning is 
well underway to strengthen our work around Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) in partnership with 
Barnardo’s and the Centre for FGM. 

 

 

4. RESOURCE AND WORKFORCE MANAGEMENT  

 

4.1)  There is adequate workforce. There is improving staff turnover, low sickness rates, and the 
workforce is appropriately experienced and skilled, in all areas within the service. 

4.2)  There is a comprehensive workforce development strategy, and a range of appropriate training 
and development opportunities which improve practice  

4.3) Staff are given an appropriate induction, including current policies and procedures relating to 
both the organisation and their specific duties,  and know who/where to go to if there are any 
issues. 

4.4) Supervision is routine, recorded, and used to quality assure practice and support decision 
making. 

4.5) There is management action on caseload pressures, including flow of cases through the child’s 
journey, and front line staff are able to discuss concerns about caseloads with their managers.  

4.6)  There is evidence of a learning organisational culture, with ‘systems leadership’ developed at 
frontline management tiers, promoting a ‘self-aware’ learning culture. 

Summary and evidence: 

There is a strong and well established commitment to delivering an effective workforce strategy in 
Harrow. Over 2017/18 we have achieved significant improvements in both the recruitment and 
retention of social care staff. The large majority of front line practitioners and managers are 
permanently employed (77.4% compared to 67.8% in 2016/17). Retention has also significantly 
improved with the average turnover being 10% (compared with 14% in 2016/17). Post qualifying 
experience of the workforce remains strong with a large majority (70.4%) having over 5 years 
experience. Sickness rates are low (1.7%), and exit interviews demonstrate that a large majority of 
staff report satisfaction with the workplace, training, supervision, and the visibility of managers. 

This improvement is the result of a comprehensive programme focussed on recruitment, induction, 
practice oversight/caseload management, training and development. 

Harrow has commissioned RiP to support practitioners access to up to date research materials, and 
has comprehensive Policy/Procedures commissioned through Tri.x.    

Caseloads/supervision  are monitored on a regular basis, and feedback through teams and Principal 
Social Worker (PSW) network has ensured that remedial action was considered and taken to 
manage referral/assessment pathways through FRT into ES / CIN services. Remedial action was also 
considered to ensure a smooth pathway from CIN into CLA / Leaving Care Team (LCT) services.  

80



23 
 

The core offer for Training and Development for practitioners is of a very good standard, and 
delivered through a range of formats: e-learning, face-to-face courses, and bespoke commissioned 
programmes. Harrow is a partner of the WLA, which is both cost effective and also of a quality 
assured standard. Feedback from participants is positive.  

 

 

4.7)  Budgets are appropriately set and managed. Opportunities for efficiencies and delivering 
savings, including through income generation, are achieved. 

Summary and evidence: 

As stated in section 1 Harrow LA political and corporate commitment to the CYP of Harrow remains 
a high priority. Base budgets have been set appropriately and an additional £2.9 million has been 
incorporated into CYPS finance. This is in addition to the additional £715 thousand agreed in the 
previous financial year to support staffing structures to meet the local impact of increasing demand 
for services. 

In 2017/18 there has been a comprehensive range of activities to ensure that any opportunity for 
efficiencies has been identified and delivered. Examples of this activity are focussed attention to 
MASH/FRT pathways, and the embedding of an ES practitioner in MASH to better identify referrals 
that can be appropriately directed to the menu of services available through the ES pathway. We 
have made some progress, although we recognise that this continues to be a priority in 2018/19. 
Improved alignment of FRT assessments with PLO tracking has proved beneficial in reducing the 
number of care/legal proceedings being initiated which has been a positive outcome for families, 
and has relieved some of the budget pressure accrued through legal costs. The commissioning of 
our KFT Service is proving successful both in reducing the need for older children to enter the care 
system, but also supports the successful re-unification of CLA with their families. This initiative, in 
conjunction with refreshed Access Resource Panel processes, and the dynamic purchasing model 
commissioned through the WLA, has supported the reduction in the looked after population. This 
means we have achieved a sharper focus so that children who need to be looked after are looked 
after, but attention to prevention and reunification has been positive. 

Harrow remains committed to innovation and in alignment with the Corporate priority of being 
more business like, we regularly scan the horizon for income generation opportunities. Successful 
TWF (Central Govt. Trouble Families agenda)  payments by results mechanisms has funded our work 
with local families and a range of innovation projects listed in section 3 have also secured much 
needed funding. Horizon scanning has led to a number of fruitful partnerships with the voluntary 
sector, and we have recently undertaken a bid with 5 voluntary agencies for Trusting Relationship 
Funding which we are hopeful to develop further in 2018.    

 

 
 

5. PERFORMANCE, CULTURE AND CHALLENGE  

 

5.1) There is strong performance management governance and culture across all services from 
individual and team to strategic level. 

5.2) There is timely and accurate recording of information, and effective use of data and other 
evidence through performance reports to monitor and identify areas for improvement. There is 
transparency and accessibility of information. 

5.3) Self-awareness and challenge are routine, and areas for improvement are acted upon 
appropriately and at the right pace. Performance and management information is used to challenge 

81



24 
 

staff and celebrate success.  

5.4) There is robust and effective third party challenge across children’s services: for example, HSCB, 
Scrutiny, Leader of the Council/Lead Member, and Chief Executive. 

5.5) Where performance issues have been identified (whether through own performance 
management or from previous inspections/evaluations), timely actions are put in place to generate 
improvement.  

5.6) The voice of young people, families and carers is strong in work with individual children and 
young people, and feeds into performance management.  

5.7) Outcomes for all children, regardless of disability, ethnicity, faith, gender, language, race or 
sexual orientation or specific needs  are effectively championed at all levels of the service.  

5.8) Drifts and delays for children and their families in assessment, decision making processes or 
provision of service are minimised and appropriately challenged where they do exist.  

Summary and evidence: 

The range of performance management measures have already been articulated in section 1: 
Leadership and Governance. 

 
Harrow’s centralised Business Intelligence function provides independent and expert monitoring and 
analysis of CYPS data.  The Mosaic System is well supported by a dedicated team in the authority, 
providing an accurate and comprehensive record of social care, which is interrogated to provide 
management and performance information.   Practitioners are involved in decision making around 
systems change, and there is a combination of systems and practice experience amongst staff in both 
the Mosaic and Business Intelligence teams. 
 
Business Intelligence works closely with the Quality Assurance function in CYPS to support ongoing 
work on audit and improvement.  The culture is one of both challenge and support with service 
managers participating regularly in an open discussion on how we are performing.  Performance 
information is continuously being refined and improved and managers are confident to ask for their 
own data where they have concerns or want to make changes. This performance culture is also 
embedded at operational levels through team and pod meetings, with analysts regularly attending to 
support performance improvement. 
 
HV performance data is routinely shared with HSCB, senior managers in Harrow Children’s Services as 
well as partners in the CCG. Representatives from both HV and school nursing providers attend the 
relevant HSCB sub-group meetings.  
 
Scrutiny councillors undertook a review of HV services with a focus on performance and service user 
access. The recommendations from this review formed part of the procurement process for the new 
0-19 HV and School Nursing tender and bidders were asked to set out how they would deliver the 
recommendations. 
 

 

 

PERFORMANCE AND OUTCOMES BY SERVICE AREA 

 

82



25 
 

6. EDUCATION – STRATEGY AND SUPPORT TO SCHOOLS  

 

6.1) There are sufficient school places, with appropriate school place planning, and there is a high 
proportion of children attending a school which is good or better. 

6.2)  The local authority promotes high standards in schools in their area. Strategies, support and 
challenge are effective in raising standards in schools and other providers and the local authority 
has clearly defined its monitoring, challenge, support and intervention roles. There are regular 
meetings between schools and School Improvement Service to review performance and provide 
challenge and support. Evidence of action where appropriate to tackle issues within schools, 
including the use of formal powers.  

6.3) There is evidence of  the effectiveness of support for schools (including Governor services, 
Education Welfare, Educational Psychology,  safeguarding and other advice and support). 

6.4) Available funding, including Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and pupil premium, are used to 
effect improvement, including on areas of greatest need. 

Summary and evidence: 

There are currently sufficient school places in Harrow’s primary and secondary schools.  A number 
of Harrow’s primary schools have been permanently expanded over the last 8 years, providing 
Harrow’s children with local school places.  Even though Harrow’s high schools currently have 
enough school places to accommodate demand, the increase in numbers on roll experienced in our 
primary schools has now started to shift into the secondary phase, with a projected deficit of places 
in 2021/22, based on the 2018-2030 school roll projections. The LA is working closely with our high 
schools in order to be prepared to meet any increased demand. 

 
In a recent publication of The Education Policy Institute (Access to high performing schools in 
England, December 2017), schooling in Harrow comes out very well. The focus of the research is the 
provision of places in high performing schools nationally. It mentions Harrow on two accounts:  

1. On page 16, it cites Harrow as the highest performing LA in England for securing the highest 
density of high performing school places; 

2. On page 19, it cites Harrow as the LA with the highest density of high performing schools 
nationally. 

 
By 16 April 2018 all local schools were either good or outstanding. All four special schools are 
judged to be outstanding and the PRU is judged to be good. Almost all Ofsted reports published for 
Harrow schools speak very positively about the good work of the LA in supporting and challenging 
the schools to move forward. For example: ‘The LA has provided good and effective support and 
challenge for the school….LA representatives frequently review the school’s progress and provide 
leaders with specific and relevant indicators for further improvement….They have also supported 
the development of governors….School leaders value the quality of support provided’. These are 
typical statements made in Ofsted reports in recent years.  

 
The Ofsted school inspection framework sets out detailed criteria against which inspection 
judgements are made.  If a school does not meet the criteria for Good, it will be judged to be 
Requires Improvement or below.  A confidential annual risk assessment is carried out by Harrow 
School Improvement Partnership (HSIP) to identify those schools which may be at risk of an Ofsted 
inspection judgement of below Good.  This assessment is not intended to replicate the Ofsted 
framework, but will highlight any areas of concern based on current information.  Where 
appropriate, this will result in discussions with school leaders and governors. Given the strong 

83



26 
 

emphasis in the framework on the performance of groups, HSIP’s risk assessment looks carefully at 
the performance of disadvantaged pupils and those with SEND, for example.  Focussed work is 
being done with some schools to improve the outcomes of vulnerable groups and to diminish 
differences between these groups of pupils and their peers locally. 

 
Although Harrow is a high performing authority and there is much to celebrate, there is always 
room to improve further in order to drive and sustain a culture of continuous improvement. The 
analysis and evaluation of performance information for 2016-17 indicates the following areas for 
improvement for each KS: 

• In early years: Further diminish the achievement gap between the lowest attaining 20% of 
children and their peers; 

• In KS1: Raise further the proportion of pupils achieving greater depth in reading and writing, 
including boys and disadvantaged pupils, and Children Looked After; 

• In KS2: Ensure that a higher proportion of pupils (including disadvantaged pupils) achieve the 
high standard on the reading, writing and maths combined performance indicator; in 
addition, further improve progress in writing so that it at least matches that seen for our SN; 

• In KS4: Further improve students’ attainment (including disadvantaged students) in relation 
to the key performance indicators (attainment 8, English and maths basics for both grades 5-9 
and 4-9, the English Baccalaureate [Ebacc] measure) so that the outcomes compare well with 
those seen for our SN.  

• Post-16: Reduce further the proportion of young people who have SEND or a CLA and are 
NEET (although this is based on a very small cohort in 2017).  

 
The Education Psychology Service (EPS) is highly regarded and has, as a result, a high level of buy-in 
to additional services through a Service Level Agreement (SLA). Through the EPS the LA offers free 
bereavement and critical incident advice to schools. This service is greatly valued. 

 
The detailed risk assessments that HSIP has undertaken, coupled with the intelligence about 
individual schools garnered by senior advisers, has enabled the identification of clear lines of 
enquiry (such as the above) which are critical for school improvement. Advisers work with individual 
schools to ensure that they understand the evidence required to make good progress against the 
lines of enquiry.  Additional support is brokered where necessary, including through HSIP’s strategic 
partnership with the Primary Teaching School Alliance (TSA), to ensure that the capacity for further 
sustained improvement in all our schools remains strong.  The HSIP will have been re-structured by 
the time of the next inspection. 

 
DSG is used to support the Children’s Sensory Team (CST) for children with hearing impairment (HI), 
visual impairment (VI) and multi-sensory impairment (MSI). This service is very highly regarded and 
Schools Forum committed more funding to it in 2017. The service has excellent evaluations on its 
effectiveness from clients and their parents through a bi-annual survey and regular feedback. DSG 
also supports ASD Support and Portage (pre-school).  Both services provide essential and targeted 
support to schools (ASD) and families (Portage) to help children with disabilities make progress and 
achieve well; and in the case of Portage in particular, to support their parents.  Pupil Premium is 
effectively targeted to meet the needs of children in the care of the LA by tracking and monitoring 
their key indicators of success and providing additional tuition and support where required.  The 
Virtual School Improvement Board (VSIB) run by stakeholder volunteers adds to Council scrutiny of 
the effectiveness of pupil premium spend. 

 

84



27 
 

6.5) The local authority fosters an inclusive and aspirational environment, ensuring fair access to 
opportunity for education and training in schools and other providers that meets the needs of all 
pupils.  This includes appropriate provision for excluded children; children with special educational 
needs; and children who may have English as an additional language. 

Summary and evidence:   

The LA maintains a highly inclusive culture in schools with very many children and young people 
who have Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) in mainstream schools and with specialised 
Additional Resourced Mainstream Schools (ARMS) to meet the needs of children with speech and 
language needs, physical disabilities, ASD and HI. Children who are pre-school but have significant 
SEND are supported through the High Needs Block (HNB) and SEND Inclusion Fund even where they 
may not yet have an EHCP.  

 
The LA maintains a significant commitment to support children with SEND and who are looked after 
to reduce the risk of them becoming NEET. The effectiveness of the related contracts can be noted 
in the outcomes in relation to NEET.  The LSCB supports the training programme for schools on 
safeguarding matters and runs the termly sessions for Designated Safeguarding Leads.  Termly 
meetings for attendance officers are also supported by the LA.  

 
Children who are excluded are provided for by the local PRU and in the case of first time Permanent 
Exclusions from school (PEX) are quickly re-integrated back into a local school in most cases. Head 
teachers operate a managed move protocol between schools to enable CYP to have a ‘fresh start’ 
and follow the Fair Access Protocol for in-year admissions where appropriate.  

 
Section 7 will outline the performance indicators for the groups referred to in 6.5 

 

7. EDUCATION AND TRAINING – OUTCOMES FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

PEOPLE  
 

7.1) Every child fulfils their potential  no matter what their needs or where they live (consideration 
of any under-performing or vulnerable groups) in early years 

Summary and evidence: 

Under the new 0-19 HV and School Nursing contract two additional checks have been added – the 
latter being a check on 3.5 – 4.5 years specifically for children not in early years settings in order to 
better have contact with vulnerable groups and ensure they are ready for school. 
 
Harrow aims to provide all children with the opportunities to fulfil their potential whatever their 
starting point, what their needs may be and where they live. Two of the most vulnerable groups are 
pupils with a SEND and pupils that are eligible for Free School Meals (FSM). 
 
Harrow’s Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) outcomes in the ‘Good Level of Development’ (GLD) 
headline indicator have improved over the last 5 years and are above average. The result increased 
from 58% in 2015 to 62% in 2017. This is in line with Harrow’s SN results (increased from 54% in 
2015 to 61% in 2017); London (increased from 59% in 2015 to 64% in 2017) and the National 
averages (increased from 51% in 2015 to 56% in 2017).  
 
The percentage of EYFS pupils with SEND Support achieving a ‘GLD’ increased from 26% in 2015 to 
29% in 2016 and then dropped to 27% in 2017. In contrast, the results of pupils with SEND Support 
nationally continued to increase over this three year period:  from 24% to 27%. Harrow is currently 

85



28 
 

in line with the national average.  
 
The results of Harrow’s pupils with a Statement or EHCP dropped from 7% in 2015 to 5% in 2017; 
however the result was 8% in 2016. Nationally (4%) and in London (5%) the results of pupils with a 
Statement of EHCP remained steady. 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s EAL pupils achieving a ‘GLD’ increased from 68% in 2015 to 71% in 
2017. Similarly, the results of EAL pupils in areas outside of Harrow have also increased - SN from 
64% to 70%, London from 65% to 71% and Nationally from 60% to 65%. Similarly, the results of 
Harrow pupils whose first language is English increased their percentage of achievement from 76% 
in 2015 to 78% in 2017. 
 
The achievement of Harrow’s pupils of all ethnic groups reaching a ‘GLD’ indicator has increased 
(only the results of pupils from a Mixed ethnic group have fluctuated and decreased since 2015). In 
other regions, all ethnic groups have increased their achievement outcomes. In comparison to the 
other regions, Asian pupils in Harrow are doing better than elsewhere (Harrow 80%, SN 75%, 
London 75% and National 69%). In contrast, other ethnicity groups of pupils (White, Mixed and 
Black) in Harrow are slightly below the achievement outcomes in other areas. 

 

7.2) Every child fulfils their potential  no matter what their needs or where they live (consideration 
of any under-performing or vulnerable groups) in key stage 1 and 2 

7.3 ) Attendance at primary school is good, and children receive more than 25 hours of education 
per week through a variety of appropriate provision, even if excluded. 

Summary and evidence: 

Under the new 0-19 HV and School Nursing contract vision screening for reception age pupils is 
being introduced for the first time in Harrow. National evidence suggests that around 8% of pupils 
will test positive for a vision impairment which can affect their learning and ability to engage at 
school and is more likely to affect vulnerable groups. 
 
KS1 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils eligible for FSM reaching the expected standard in Reading 
dropped slightly from 64% in 2016 to 63% in 2017. In other regions, the result increased slightly (by 
1pp (percentage point)) or remained the same. Harrow’s results are above the national average but 
below both the SN and London. 
 
The percentage of FSM students in Harrow reaching the expected standard in Writing remained at 
55% in 2016 and 2017. The results outside Harrow have also remained static, with the exception of 
the national result that increased by 2pp.  Harrow’s FSM pupil’s Writing result is above the national 
average, the same as the SN result but below London’s outcome. 
 
The percentage of pupils eligible for FSM in Harrow reaching the expected standard in Maths has 
dropped slightly from 60% in 2016 to 59% in 2017. Both the SN and London results increased by 1pp 
and nationally by 2pp. Harrow’s 2017 result is below the national average, London and the SN. 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with SEND Support reaching the expected standard in Reading 
increased from 35% in 2016 to 38% in 2017. In other regions, the result also increased, by 1pp in 
London and by 2pp in both the SN and nationally. Harrow’s 2017 result is below the London and SN 
but above the national average.  
 
The percentage of Harrow’s SEND pupils with a Statement or EHCP reaching the expected standard 

86



29 
 

in Reading has remained at 13% in both 2016 and 2017. In other regions, the results also remained 
static. Harrow’s 2017 result of 13% is lower than the results of - London (16%), SN (16%) and 
national (14%). 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with SEND Support reaching the expected standard in Writing 
increased from 27% in 2016 to 33% in 2017. In other regions, it increased slightly, by 1pp in London 
and England and by 3pp in the SN. Harrow’s result is the same as London, 2pp above that of the SN 
and 10pp above the national figure.  
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with a Statement or EHCP reaching the expected standard in 
Writing dropped from 12% in 2016 to 8% in 2017. The results of other regions also dropped, with the 
exception of the national result that remained the same. Harrow’s 2017 result of 8% is slightly below 
the National (9%), London (11%), and SN (10%) results. 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with SEND Support reaching the expected standard in Maths 
increased from 37% in 2016 to 45% in 2017. In other regions, the result increased slightly, by 2pp. 
Harrow’s result is the same as London, 2pp above the SN and 10pp above the national figure.  
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with a Statement or EHCP reaching the expected standard in 
Maths increased from 10% in 2016 to 16% in 2017. In other regions, the results remained the same. 
Harrow’s 2017 result of 16% is slightly below London (17%), the same as the SN (16%) and above the 
national (14%) result. 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with EAL reaching the expected standard in Reading slightly 
increased from 75% in 2016 to 76% in 2017. In other regions, the results   increased slightly (by 1pp 
or 2pp). Harrow’s 2017 result is above the national average but slightly below (by 1pp) the SN and 
London. 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with EAL reaching the expected standard in Writing increased 
slightly, from 70% in 2016 to 72% in 2017. In other regions, the result increased slightly (by 2pp or 
3pp). Harrow’s 2017 result is above the national average and is the same as both our SN and 
London. 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with EAL reaching the expected standard in Maths increased 
slightly from 78% in 2016 to 79% in 2017. In other regions, the result increased slightly too (by 1pp 
to 3pp). Harrow’s 2017 result is above the London and national averages and the same as the SN. 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s White ethnic group pupils reaching the expected standard in Reading 
increased from 68% in 2016 to 71% in 2017. Despite the increase Harrow’s result remains below the 
SN (76%), London (78%) and National (76%) results. Harrow’s pupils of the Mixed ethnic groups 
reaching the expected standard in Reading increased from 79% in 2016 to 84% in 2017. Harrow’s 
result is above the SN (80%), London (80%) and National (78%). Harrow’s pupils of Asian ethnic 
groups reaching the expected standard in Reading dropped from 84% in 2016 to 83% in 2017. 
Despite this decrease, Harrow’s result remains above the SN (81%), London (81%) and National 
(77%) results. Harrow’s pupils of the Black ethnic groups reaching the expected standard in Reading 
dropped from 75% in 2016 to 72% in 2017. Harrow’s 2017 result is below the SN (77%), London 
(78%) and National (77%) results. 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s White ethnic group pupils reaching the expected standard in Writing 
increased from 62% in 2016 to 76% in 2017. Despite this increase, Harrow’s 2017 result remains 
below Harrow’s SN (68%), London (70%) and National (68%) results. Harrow’s pupils of Mixed 
ethnicity reaching the expected standard in Writing increased from 68% in 2016 to 77% in 2017. 
Harrow’s 2017 result is above the SN (71%), London (73%) and National (70%) results. Harrow’s 

87



30 
 

pupils of Asian ethnicity reaching the expected standard in Writing remain the same at 80% in both 
2016 and 2017. Despite having not increased, Harrow’s result remains above the SN (77%), London 
(76%) and National (72%).  Harrow’s pupils from Black ethnic groups reaching the expected standard 
in writing remained the same at 63% in both 2016 and 2017. Harrow’s result is below the SN (69%), 
London (72%) and National (71%). 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils of White ethnicity reaching the expected standard in maths 
increased from 71% in 2016 to 73% in 2017. Despite this increase, Harrow’s result remains below the 
SN (78%), London (79%) and National (75%) figures. Harrow’s pupils of Mixed ethnicity reaching the 
expected standard in maths increased from 76% in 2016 to 82% in 2017. Harrow’s 2017 result is 
above the SN (77%), London (79%) and National (76%) results. Harrow’s Asian pupils reaching the 
expected standard in maths remains the same (85%) in 2016 and 2017. Despite not having 
increased, Harrow’s result remains above the SN (82%), London (82%) and National (77%) results. 
Harrow’s pupils of Black ethnicity reaching the expected standard in maths decreased from 67% in 
2016 to 62% 2017. Harrow’s figure is below the SN (73%), London (75%) and National (73%) results. 
 
KS2 
Harrow’s pupils eligible for FSM reaching the expected standard in Reading, Writing and Maths 
increased from 44% in 2016 to 49% to 2017. This increase is in-line with the Harrow average (all 
pupils) for this measure - 62% in 2016 and 70% in 2017. Harrow’s FSM result is below the London 
result.   
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with a SEND reaching the expected standard in Reading, Writing 
and Maths increased from 15% in 2016 to 24% in 2017. This 9pp increase is more than double the 
increase of SN (4pp), London (4pp) and England (5pp) results over this same period. This increase 
can be attributed to the results of Harrow’s pupils with SEND Support - their result rose from 17% in 
2016 to 28% in 2017.  However, the result of Harrow’s pupils with a Statement or EHCP decreased by 
2pp, from 11% in 2016 to 9% in 2017.  This drop is not in line with the results of our SN, which 
increased by 1pp. London stayed the same at 9% and nationally the result increased by 1pp. Harrow 
performed above the national and in line with regional average in 2017 but was above all in 2016.  
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils defined as being ‘Disadvantaged’ reaching the expected standard 
in Reading, Writing and Maths increased from 47% in 2016 to 55% in 2017. This latest result of 55% 
is higher than that of our SN (53%) and England (48%) but below London (58%).  
Disadvantaged pupils are those who were eligible for FSM at any time during the last 6 years and 
CLA (including children who have been adopted). 
 
The percentage of Harrow’s pupils with EAL reaching the expected standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths increased from 60% in 2016 to 69% in 2017. Harrow’s 2017 result of 69% is higher than that 
of our SN (66%), London (67%) and Nationally (61%). In addition, the result of Harrow’s pupils whose 
first language is English also increased from 64% in 2016 to 72% in 2017.  This result of 72% is higher 
than the results of our SN (66%), London (68%) and Nationally (62%). 
 
The results of Harrow’s pupils of Asian ethnicity and Mixed ethnicity reaching the expected standard 
in Reading, Writing and Maths increased from 69% in 2016 to 76% in 2017 and from 57% in 2016 to 
71% in 2017 respectively. Both of these groups have a higher achievement percentage in Harrow 
than in the other regions [SN (70% and 67% respectively), London (71% and 68% respectively) and 
National (64% and 63% respectively)]. The results of Harrow’s pupils of White and Black ethnicity for 
the same measure increased from 58% in 2016 to 67% in 2017 and from 45% in 2016 to 61% in 2017 
respectively. Both of these groups in Harrow have higher results than the SN (64% and 61% 
respectively) and Nationally (61% and 61% respectively) but slightly below than in London (68% and 
63% respectively). 

88



31 
 

 
Harrow’s primary school percentage of overall absence has dropped from 4.6% in 2012/13 to 4.1% in 
2015/16. Similarly, the overall absence dropped for the SN (from 4.5% to 4.1%), London (from 4.5% 
to 4.1%) and Nationally (from 4.7% to 4.0%) over the same period.  As at 2015/16 Harrow’s primary 
school overall absence average is the same as the SN and London but slightly worse (by 0.1pp) than 
Nationally Primary pupils who are excluded are provided with an appropriate education. 
 

 

7.4) Every young person fulfils their potential  no matter what their needs or where they live 
(consideration of any under-performing or vulnerable groups) in key stage 4 

7.5) Attendance  at secondary school is good, and children receive more than 25 hours of education 
per week through a variety of appropriate provision, even if excluded. 

Summary and evidence: 

The average Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s pupils eligible for FSM in 2017 is 40.9; this is higher 
than the result of the SN (40.2) and England (35.1) and in-line with London (41.2). The average 
Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s pupils not eligible for FSM is 50.9. This means that the pupils eligible 
for FSM achieve a grade below in each subject in comparison to the pupils not eligible for FSM. This 
difference is in line with the London average difference between these two groups but is a lot 
narrower than the SN and England gaps. 

 
Harrow’s average Progress 8 score of pupils eligible for FSM in 2017 is 0.15.  This is significantly  
higher than the average Progress 8 score of the SN (-0.06), London (-0.06) and England (-0.48). 
Harrow is the only area amongst these comparators that has a positive (above 0.00) Progress 8 
Score. Additionally, the average Progress 8 score of all Harrow’s pupils is very high (0.47), well 
above the SN (0.38), London (0.22) and England (-0.03). 
 
The average Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s pupils with a SEND in 2017 is 31.2, which is higher than 
the score of SN (30.4), London (30.4) and England (27.1). Harrow’s high result is mainly due to the 
high Attainment 8 score (18.5) of Harrow’s SEND students with a Statement or EHCP, which is much 
higher than for SN (15.6), London (15.7) and England (13.9). The average Attainment 8 score of 
Harrow’s pupil’s with SEND Support of 35.2 is in line with SN (35.5) and London’s (35.1) one but 
above the England (31.9). 
 
The average Progress 8 score in 2017 of Harrow’s pupils with a SEND is -0.27, which is higher than 
the average Progress 8 score in other areas [SN (-0.38), London (-0.40) and England (-0.59)]. The 
average Progress 8 score of Harrow’s pupils with SEND Support is -0.11, which is higher than the 
score of SN (-0.21), London (-0.24) and England (-0.43). The average Progress 8 score of students 
with SEND Statement or EHCP in Harrow is -0.71, higher than the SN (-0.87), London (-0.88) and 
England (-1.04). 
 
The 2017 average Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s pupils defined as ‘Disadvantaged’ is 43.4, which is 
higher than the score of SN (42.5), London (42.8) and England (37.1). The gap between Harrow’s 
disadvantaged – non disadvantaged pupils is slightly lower (9.0) than the gap of SN (12.0), London 
(9.8) and England (12.8). 
 
The 2017 average Progress 8 score of Harrow’s pupils defined as ‘Disadvantaged’ is 0.21, which is 
higher than the score of SN (0.03), London (-0.01) and England (-0.40). In addition, the average 
Progress 8 score of Harrow’s Non-Disadvantaged pupils is 0.58, which is higher than SN (0.53), 
London (0.37) and England (0.11) scores. 

89



32 
 

 
The 2017 average Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s pupils with EAL is 50.7, which is higher than the 
scores in London (49.6) and Nationally (47.7) but lower than the SN score of 52.6. The average 
Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s non-EAL pupils is 48.1.  This is lower than the SN (51.0) and London 
(48.7) scores but higher than the National score of 46.3. 
 
The 2017 average Progress 8 score of Harrow’s pupils with EAL is 0.69, which is higher than the 
London (0.55) and National (0.50) scores, but slightly lower than the SN score of 0.71. The average 
Progress 8 score of Harrow’s non-EAL pupils is 0.16, which is higher than that of London (0.02) and 
Nationally (-0.11) but the same as the SN score of 0.16. 
 
The 2017 average Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s pupils of Asian ethnicity and Mixed ethnicity are 
54.1 and 49.0 respectively.  These scores are higher than those of London (53.5 and 48.8 
respectively) and Nationally (50.2 and 47.1 respectively) but lower than the SN scores of 56.8 and 
51.1 respectively. The 2017 average Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s pupils of White ethnicity is 
47.6, which is lower than the scores of SN (49.2) and London (48.4) but higher than the National 
average (46.0). The 2017 average Attainment 8 score of Harrow’s pupils of Black ethnic origin is 
41.8, this is lower than the SN (46.1), London (45.4) and National (45.0) scores. The average 
Attainment 8 score of those pupils whose ethnicity is Chinese in Harrow (68.5) is higher than SN 
(62.5), London (64.6) and Nationally (63.0). 
 
The 2017 average Progress 8 score of Harrow’s pupils of Asian ethnicity is 0.72, higher than London 
(0.65) and National (0.47) scores but lower than the SN score of 0.82. The 2017 average Progress 8 
score of Harrow’s pupils of White, Mixed and Chinese ethnic origin is 0.31, 0.29 and 1.27 
respectively.  These scores are higher than the SN scores of 0.17, 0.22 and 0.83 respectively, London 
(0.04, 0.09 and 0.87 respectively) and Nationally (-0.11, -0.02 and 0.93 respectively). The 2017 
average Progress 8 score of Harrow’s pupils of Black ethnic origin is 0.04 – this is lower than the SN 
(0.23), London (0.14) and Nationally (0.16) scores. 
 
Harrow’s secondary school overall absence has dropped from 5.3% in 2012/13 to 4.5% in 2015/16. 
This drop is inline with that of the SN (from 5.2% to 4.8%), London (from 5.2% to 4.9%) and 
Nationally (from 5.9% to 5.2%) over the same period. Harrow’s overall secondary phase school 
absence is lower than SN, regional and national averages. Excluded students receive an appropriate 
education. 

 

 

7.6) Every young person fulfils their potential no matter what their needs or where they live 
(consideration of any under-performing or vulnerable groups) post 16. 

Summary and evidence: 

The per Entry Average Point Score of Harrow’s KS5 pupils increased from 31.56 in 2016 to 32.95 in 
2017.  In comparison this score also increased in the SN, London and nationally. Harrow’s increase 
of 1.39 is higher than the increase of the SN - 1.15, London - 1.05 and England - 0.91. See section 7.7 
below regarding focus on specific vulnerable groups. 
 

 

7.7) A low proportion of young people are not in education, employment or training and targeted 
youth services support young people as they prepare for, and transition into adulthood. 

Summary and evidence: 

90



33 
 

The percentage of students in Harrow completing KS4 and EET is 96%, which is higher than the 
previous year (94%) and higher than the National figure (94%), The percentage of ‘Disadvantaged’ 
students in Harrow completing KS4 and EET is 92%, this has increased from the previous year (91%) 
and is well above the national figure of 88%. The percentage of the Non-Disadvantaged students in 
Harrow completing KS4 and staying in Education, Employment or Training is 98%, which has 
increased from the previous year (96%) and is well above the national figure of 96%. 

 
The percentage of students in Harrow who are EET after the 16 to 18 study is 90%, which is higher 

than the National figure (89%). The percentage of students in Harrow who are staying in education 

after the 16 to 18 study is 78% in comparison to the 66% nationally while 12% is routed to 

employment in comparison to 23% nationally. A higher proportion of students in Harrow are more 

academically oriented when compared to the national scale. 6% of Harrow students are not staying 

on in education or employment for at least 2 terms after 16 to 18 study, which is lower than the 8% 

nationally. 

 

 

8.  EARLY SUPPORT  

8.1) There are a number of well-established and effective targeted early-help services to support 
children in Harrow. However, the number of children with additional needs who could benefit from 
an assessment and a coordinated early-help response from the LA and partner agencies, and who are 
receiving one, is low. At the time of the inspection, a substantial redesign and reorganisation of these 
services was in the process of implementation, but was at too early a stage to have had an impact.  

8.2) Sometimes, when children need help but are not at immediate risk, they do not get the 
assessments or help they need quite as quickly as they could. The council knows this and is working 
hard to do better.  

8.3) Ensure that all children and families who need an early-help assessment and a package of 
support coordinated by a lead professional are able to receive this.  

Summary and evidence: 

In December 2015, the Early Intervention Service (EIS) were required to find an in-year saving of £682 
thousand from its budget. The requirement was to reduce the overall EIS budget from £2.463 million 
to £1.781million. This was also considered a timely opportunity to review how early help services 
were delivered to families in Harrow.  
 
Following an extensive review and consultation with staff and families beginning in January 2016, the 
redesigned model of service delivery is being embedded, placing service delivery at the heart of the 
community, building upon the services delivered via CCs and Youth Centre sites.   
 
The new ES model aims at all times to:- 

• Work with a broader range of children and families working with all family members to achieve 
sustainable outcomes 

• Work with multi-agency partners to achieve outcomes. 
• Target vulnerable communities and CYP and families with additional needs, aged pre-birth – 19 

years and up to 25 years for young people with SEND.  
• Work in a holistic way and intervene early to assist family members to develop skills and 

resilience to resolve existing and future concerns 
• Set realistic targets and expectations in a time-limited way alongside families always working 

91



34 
 

towards an exit strategy in order to not encourage any dependency  
• Deliver high quality, engaging universal, targeted and responsive ES services through the ES 

Hubs where the Harrow CC and Youth offer are delivered to improve outcomes for CYP and 
families.  

• Work with our community partner agencies to ensure we develop integrated, inclusive 
solutions taking into account local strengths and local needs identified by CYP and their families 
ensuring that support is offered by those best placed to offer it    

 
ES is now a year into its implementation across the borough and the new model brings together the 
work of CCs, ES Practitioners and Youth staff under the one 0-19/25 umbrella. 

  
ES now offers a range of services for CYP and families via the Hubs including: 

• Bespoke Parenting Programmes 
• Co – parenting workshop 
• Parenting support, advice and guidance drop in 
• Support and advice for young parents 
• Young people’s Anger management 
• Support and courses for parents of children with ADHD 
• SALT / Universal TALK Groups and Triage 
• SEND / Sensory Room sessions and Groups 
• Targeted Speech and Language 
• Young People’s Substance Misuse 
• Domestic Violence Support 
• Citizens Advice Bureau 
• Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender (LGBT) Youth Group 
• 2 year Checks/Transitional checks 
• Parent Champions 
• Youth Clubs 
• Outreach and Detached Youth Work 
• Mental Toughness Training 
• Make a Change Leadership Group 

 
Access Pathways/ System Integration 
There is a need to ensure that the pathway of ES is clearly defined amongst staff and partners.  
Currently requests for ES are received via two different pathways: 
 
MASH  

Referrals received for support or safeguarding concerns are received via the front door MASH. ES has 
an ES Champion within the MASH providing a single point of contact for all requests for support. All 
requests for ES are recorded on Mosaic and work is progressed to the hubs using a specific workflow. 
This now provides a more timely response to requests from the public and other professionals. The 
ES Champion is able to provide advice and guidance and signpost where necessary to other partner 
organisations who work closely with ES via the ES Hubs and CC/Youth Centre sites. 
 

Cases already open to  social care and requiring input from ES are also directed via the MASH 
following consultation with an ES Hub Manager as to appropriateness of a request. Once the request 
has been deemed appropriate, the SW is required to complete stage 1 of a FLNA or YLNA which 
provides basic information regarding the presenting issues requiring support.    
 
Direct access to ES Hubs  

92



35 
 

ES programmes and activities are easily accessed by parents/carers through visiting one of the 9 ES 
Hubs and Delivery sites across the Borough. The Hubs which include CC/youth centre sites continue 
to deliver on the CC core offer including Universal services provided jointly with health colleagues 
such as parenting support for under 5s, advice and guidance, SALT / Talk therapy, baby weighing, etc. 
Such services are at the heart of identifying early where there are issues which could if not addressed 
escalate into a need for higher tiered services such as social care. When directly accessing ES / CC 
sites, parents and their children are registered on eStart which has been the CC registration system 
for many years.  eStart, however, is one of three electronic systems being used currently by ES to 
record support. The same applies to the Youth Centre hub, Wealdstone, where a young person is able 
to access universal services by attending the site. Again, upon accessing the centre, the young 
person’s details are recorded on Integrated Youth Support System (IYSS) and, as with eStart, this has 
been the recognised case management system for youth work in Harrow for a number of years and is 
used across a West London consortium to track participation and inclusion of YP.  
 
Access Pathways/System Integration – Next Steps 

The new model of ES brings together the work of CCs, ES Practitioners and Youth staff under the one 
0-19/25 umbrella. This will provide a whole family working model where the work with the family can 
be captured on one system. Currently, ES activity is recorded on the following, dependent on the 
activity/service being offered: 

• eStart – CC Registration system 

• Mosaic – Primarily a social care recording system and not initially considered appropriate for ES 
work in order to separate out the statutory against non-statutory.  

• IYSS – System for recording youth activity. Shared resource with other West London boroughs.    
 
A Project is underway mapping the ‘as is’ and the ‘to be’ for the ES pathways including the use of 
systems to record, track and report on performance. This is driving towards one suite of data for a 
comprehensive management overview and scrutiny of the early help offer in Harrow to identify 
where gaps in services are; where there is the most need and the impact on services on CYP and their 
families. 
 
Early Help Assessment (FLNA/YLNA) 

As part of the EIS redesign in Harrow it was determined that the implementation and embedding of 
the Common Assessment Framework (CAF) in Harrow had been largely unsuccessful and the CAF as a 
referral form for support services was unpopular amongst partners. Through consultation with 
schools in particular, a number of Head Teachers raised their concerns for the use of the form to 
secure support services. 

During the EIS review:  

• Performance data suggested a poor take up of the CAF. E.g. Since March 2015 to October 2016, 
the number of children Subject of an Early Help Assessment or Team Around the Family was 
recorded as 10 children.     

• There was acknowledgement by Harrow EIS staff that the CAF had not been embedded across 
the borough and amongst partner agencies. 

• Schools in particular were of the view that the completion of a CAF was a lengthy process 
which was not always considered necessary or guaranteed to access the right service in a 
timely way.  

 
The previous centrally driven requirement to use a nationally agreed template was removed in 2016 
and many local authorities devised their own locally designed versions of Early Help Assessment to 

93



36 
 

replace the CAF.  
 
The FLNA and YLNA were devised to replace the CAF as an Early Help Assessment tool. This has now 
been fully implemented as the early help assessment of ES and all staff have been trained in its use 
with further refresher training to be undertaken in due course. The FLNA is now commonly used by 
SWs from FRT and CIN teams in their requests for ES and most teams are aware of the guidance in 
completing the form.  The FLNA and YLNA are designed to support analysis, clearly identify needs and 
lead to a co-ordinated response within defined timescales. 
 
Stage 2 of the FLNA / YLNA is completed by the ES Practitioners along with the parent / young person 
and is used to explore expectations and the possible programmes / plan of work to be completed 
with them.  Staff plan and deliver enabling groups and, at times individual, interventions that build on 
family strengths, promote independence, and support them to recognise their own resourcefulness 
and resilience. This offers the best opportunity to achieve positive change and improved and 
sustainable outcomes. 
 
Early Help Assessment (FLNA/YLNA) – Next Steps 

• There is a need to continue to embed the FLNA / YLNA process throughout all teams across the 
borough ensuring widespread use and understanding of how to access Early Help Services. 

• A suitable performance measurement tool is to be secured to work in conjunction with the 
FLNA / YLNA and provide a more detailed overview of progress and impact of ES services and 
the journey travelled by the individual / family / service.  

• There is a need for the FLNA / YLNA to be rolled out to partners as an option to be used where 
there is a clear need for support for a child or family and only where it is clear that there are no 
safeguarding concerns.   

 
Evaluation and Measurement of Impact 

As referenced above, there is a need for the practitioners and the service to be able to capture and 
monitor progress and the journey travelled by a family / child. The review of EIS found that some 
examples of the interventions were not purposeful and the journey travelled by the child / family not 
evidenced.  

 
Currently ES does not have a measurement tool to measure the impact of individual family work or 
indeed impact of the services as a whole. Outcomes Star provides tools to measure impact and 
outcomes. Outcome Star could be adopted to work in conjunction with information gained from 
stages within the FLNA / YLNA. 
 
CC Core Offer 

Harrow previously had 16 Main CCs from 2010 – 2012 providing a range of early education, care, 
health and support services to young children and their families. Harrow Council’s Children’s Services 
had deployed a strategy of locating as many CCs (10) within LA maintained educational provisions, to 
ensure their sustainability in terms of accommodation.  

 
Over the past 5 years there has been an on-going need to make significant savings and there have 
been four reorganisations of CCs to date including the 2016/17 remodelling of the EIS which included 
CCs, Youth Development Team and the Early Intervention Teams; the current agreed model is that 
there are 2 Main CCs and 7 CC delivery sites, set up in 2 Hubs, 1 with 4 delivery sites and 1 with 3 
delivery sites (9 sites to provide the offer). 

94



37 
 

 
A recent situation of the appearance of a sink-hole and the discovery of uncharted and collapsing 18th 
century chalk mines led to the closure of the Pinner Wood School and Pinner Wood CC Delivery site.  
This meant that services there have temporarily ceased and will be relocated to The Pinner Centre, a 
previous Main CC and then a delivery site. In the 2014/15 CC reorganisation the building was retained 
in the footprint of CCs in order to generate an income to support the sustainability of other centres. It 
was not in the model as a Main or delivery site and was not delivering CC services. 
 
Cabinet have been presented with annual reach figures for CCs (prenatal – 5 years) and these are: 

• Hillview Hub: 3,395 children, 2,995 from the most deprived areas 

• Cedars Hub: 3,720 children, 2,720 from the most deprived areas 

• Overall Total: 7,115 children, 5,715 from the most deprived areas 
 
Performance data related to the current CC reach remains strong and the Cedars and Hillview Hub 
reach figures are month on month exceeding their statutory targets. 
 
Harrow’s CCs were last inspected by Ofsted in 2014. It is intended in March 2018 for the core offer to 
be reviewed and feedback provided as to how the centres are performing against the previous 
framework for inspection. This ‘health check’ is intended to inform the department on its strengths 
and areas for development in anticipation of a new inspection regime in the future.   
 
Following the EIS redesign, the council is in a stronger position with its CC core offer which has been 
strengthened as a result of the new ES model and the additionality it provides to CYP and families.  
 
Youth Offer 

The ES Youth Offer now provides a comprehensive range of programmes and activities for young 
people in Harrow. An aim of the EIS redesign in respect of the youth offer was to ensure that 
activities and programmes were purposeful and linked to improving the life chances of young people, 
including providing services which would contribute to the reduction of antisocial behaviour and 
criminality.  

 
More recently, a second and final phase of the ES redesign brought the working arrangements of the 
ES Youth Offer more in line with the work of Harrow Youth Offending Team (YOT).  This was due to a 
national and local appetite and requirement to have stronger links between youth services in 
response to the Mayor of London’s Police and Crime plan with the ambition to make London a safer 
city for all Londoners. The plan has clear priorities one being ‘ Keeping CYP safe’ , with an approach of 
effective identification, prevention, intervention and enforcement, and includes a renewed focus on 
restorative justice, which is offered as an option after the offender has admitted the offence. 
 
The Youth Justice board (YJB) works to prevent offending, reduce reoffending, protect the public, 
support victims of crime, and to promote the safety and welfare of CYP in the criminal justice system. 
The YJB has a vision that ‘Every Child and Young Person lives a safe and crime free life – and makes a 
positive contribution to society’. It is on these principles that the YOT / ES Youth Offer integration was 
based.  
 
Within Harrow there are 25,091 young people aged between 10-19.  Around 60% of the 10-19 aged 
young people belong to a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) group.  The largest ethnic group 
represented in this age cohort is the Any Other Asian background at 17%, followed by the Indian 
population at 16% and the White British population follows at 12%. 

95



38 
 

 
In terms of recent performance, 218 different Young People accessed Wealdstone Youth Services 
from 1st April 2017 to 31st December 2017. These Young People accessed 1,137 times in the 9 month 
period. 67% of all Attendees were Male and 32% were Female. 57% of all Attendees were age 9-15, 
33% of attendees were aged 16-19 and 21% of attendees were aged 20-30. The highest age group 
attending was 14 year olds, followed by 13 year olds and then 15 year olds. 
 
There have been vast improvements in the youth service structure and offer under ES, alongside 
rationalising the establishment and making the service more efficient. There are a number of key 
actions which need to take place in 2018 to move the service forward. These include:  

• Further engagement with the wider partnership related to youth is required to agree an 
overarching Youth Engagement Strategy for the borough with aims and objectives to engage 
young people and develop a comprehensive youth service offer.  

• HYP requires closer oversight and more stringent controls to ensure processes are fair and 
equitable to all.  HYP’s agenda needs to also align with the priorities of the council including 
working in partnership to tackle local problem issues.  

• Teen Star or Youth Star is to be implemented in order to be able to comprehensively measure 
the impact of youth work being undertaken in Harrow currently.  

 
Harrow has a strong track record of delivering positive outcomes for many CYP and being at the 
vanguard of transformation. TWF is Harrow’s response to the National Troubled Families Programme 
launched in December 2011. Harrow commenced Phase 2 of the Troubled Families programme in 
September 2015 and is set to identify and work with 1330 families over 5 years (2015-2020).  TWF 
has a dual delivery approach; to integrate the principles of whole family working into existing services 
across the children’s pathway; and to operate as a launch pad to test out new ways of working by 
leading on a number of innovative programmes designed to achieve sustainable outcomes for 
families, reduce demand and deliver cost efficiencies in the long term.  
 
TWF commissioned development of KFT service, which incorporates the principles of TWF - focus on 
outcomes, a whole family approach to intensive intervention and reducing costs through effective 
demand management. 
 
To date, Harrow has included up to 1000 families in the TWF programme and has achieved sustained 
outcomes for over 300 families. 

 

 

8.2) Children and Young Adults with Disabilities and their families are supported through a range of 
activities which prevent family breakdown and promote the most positive outcomes for children, 
young adults and their families.  

Summary and evidence: 

The number of children with diagnosed LD, ASD and challenging behaviours has increased steadily 
over the last few years with referrals from Harrow MASH rising from 104 in 2015/16, to 131 in 
2016/17 and to date at 127 in 2017/18. Harrow’s schools have experienced a growth in demand for 
children with SEND requiring support in an additionally resourced mainstream school or special 
school place. The number of statements, (now ECHPs) has increased since 2007 and continues to 
rise. The percentage of the school population with SEND has remained fairly stable at 2.6%. The 
increase in ECHPs for post-16 is an area of increase under the SEND reforms.  To meet this demand 
locally 151 additional places for pupils with SEND have been opened in Harrow schools. This 
includes the expansion of three special schools. There is further projected unmet demand and the 

96



39 
 

need for an additional 120 place special school, for children with severe and complex needs with 
ASD. 
 
  Estimated number of children with a learning disability in Harrow in 2012 

 Children with a LD 

 aged 5-9 aged 10-14 aged 15-19 

Harrow 145 325 410 

   
Young people with learning disabilities transitioning to adult services trend 

Year Number of young people in transition (18 years old) 

2011-12 27 

2012-13 32 

2013-14 Figs not available 

2014-15 35 

2015-16 50 est. include dual diagnosis of LD and ASD.  
At least 20 of the 50 will have complex care needs 

 

The CYADS have been proactive with supporting the child and family in a person centred way. This 
includes making sure the journey from childhood to adulthood is simplified in a 0-25 team of SWs. 
With a team manager dedicated to supporting disabled children 0-18 and a Transitions team 
manager based in the same service supporting young people into adulthood the child and its family 
now have dedicated managers to work together and support the journey into adulthood.  

 
There is access to an LD CAMHS SW within the service now who offers therapeutic SW support to 
disabled children and their families. This is a 2 year pilot funded under NHS England’s Transforming 
Care agenda with the new post based in CYADS.  Since September 2017 when the LD CAMHS SW 
post began they have successfully diverted 3 children from crisis and Accident and Emergency (A&E) 
admission and helped them remain at home with their family.  
 
A crisis response pathway has also been piloted as part of this service to provide a more rapid and 
joined up approach to escalations of behaviour and difficulty in the home (implemented from May 
2017 partly in response to two children ending up in A&E due to family not coping with challenging 
behaviours). 
 
Referrals, assessments, and planning are done jointly with SEND and CCG services for the most 
complex and vulnerable children. This has improved the implementation of EHCPs and greater 
access to continuing healthcare funding for the most disabled and complex children. An at risk 
register of those children is maintained by the CCG and allows a multidisciplinary approach to 
supporting the most vulnerable disabled children and disadvantaged homes (currently 19 children 
on the local register). Disabled CYP and their families are able to access services such as short 
breaks, and social care packages where appropriate. In order to meet their assessed needs Harrow 
provides a local offer, published on its website, that allows families to see what is available to the 
disabled child and themselves as carers. Performance management information evidences that 
those subject to CP and safeguarding procedures meet all formal targets with good outcomes. The 
majority of the children are stepped down to a short breaks / CIN plan and are doing better with 
their families. One case has proceeded to PLO due to ongoing concern regarding child welfare 
issues. 
 
There are regular internal and external audits, management oversight and Business Intelligence 
performance management data to ensure decision making, assessments and reviews are timely. 
Internal QA and service improvement audits are as follows; October 2016 HSCB Disability Audit, 

97



40 
 

2017 Ofsted inspection, March 2018 CYADS audit (external auditor, in progress).  These continue to 
help the service identify areas for improvements and workforce development needs. 
 

9. CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE:  REFERRAL, ASSESSMENT, CHILDREN IN NEED 
AND CHILD PROTECTION 
 

9.1) Rates of referrals, assessments, children in need and children subject of child protection plans 
are in line with expected ranges, and there is evidence through audit, management oversight and 
performance management that the right children are being referred, are children in need or subject 
of a plan. 

9.2) Decision making, assessments and reviews are timely. 

9.3) Care plans contain sufficient, detailed information about the needs of the child and what needs 
to happen, by when. Risks are identified and prioritised, and plans are audited and reviewed 
frequently enough and with sufficient scrutiny to take robust action to challenge when this is not 
the case. 

9.4) There is good quality and impact of direct work with children and families in a majority of cases.  

9.5) The quality and effectiveness of services to support children is of a good standard. Views of 
children, young people and families about the service they have received is fed into care planning 
and service planning.  

Summary and evidence: 

Our provisional performance data indicates Harrow’s rate of referral is 497 per 10,000 which 
confirms an increasing trend in activity levels. Assessment timeliness is at 98% completed within 45 
days. Rate of S47 is 172 per 10,000 which had dropped from 2017 but remains above SN and 
National average. Rate of Initial Child Protection Conference (ICPC) is 67 per 10,000 which similar in 
profile to S47s.  63% of ICPCs were undertaken within 15 days of S47 commencing.  Rate of new CPP 
is 53 per 10,000 which has dropped in line with S47 and ICPC activity. Our rate of CPP is 39 per 
10,000 which is above SN but below national average. Rate of CIN per 10,000 is 274, which has 
dropped this year and is closer to SN average. 

 
The MASH was launched in Harrow in Feb 2012, one of the first in London. The integrated working 
model is a strong platform that promotes ‘getting it right first time’, and professionals value the 
consultation and support they get from MASH.  An audit undertaken by the Corporate Audit team in 
October 2017 gave the MASH a Green rating with no priority actions. The MASH was commended 
for its embedded performance culture with a focus on the child. The performance framework 
assisted managers in tracking timeliness of decision making and enabled children to receive the 
right support at the right time. There is evidence of thresholds being consistently applied with a 
strong learning culture.  
 
Following a successful growth bid, a relentless focus on frontline practice and a carefully thought 
out performance framework, the MASH and FRT are in a very strong position. Both areas are 
permanently staffed at SW level and successful succession planning has left a small minority of 
management posts filled with interim managers who are committed to Harrow; overall a stable 
workforce. Caseloads are carefully monitored and very manageable with assessment timescales 
amongst the highest in London.  Case transfers are child centred with good handovers occurring 
with SWs in the CIN team. The relocation of the Case Manager one day a week in FRT has resulted 
in a greater focus on unborn children and early permanence where appropriate with pre-birth 
assessments and legal planning meetings taking place at an earlier point.  
 

98



41 
 

In June 2016, forward thinking and realignment of CSE, Gangs and Missing Children resources under 
the auspices of one team being located within the MASH has greatly improved service to this 
vulnerable group with return interviews happening consistently. The daily VVE meetings have 
improved information sharing with key partners now attending consistently including the Police, 
Community Safety, YOT and the Police Gangs and Police Missing Persons workers being co-located 
in the MASH for part of the week. This innovative approach is leading to the profiling of offenders 
and victims being identified at an earlier point. There is good intelligence sharing across the 
partnership with the potential to identify hot spots and disrupt networks. 
 
The education lead (qualified senior teacher) in the MASH, funded through a SLA with schools has 
successfully strengthened partnership working with schools. Schools are consistently reporting that 
they have strong relationships with SWs. This arrangement has had a positive impact on the quality 
of referrals. 
 
The CIN service is achieving a similar level of performance to that of our front door. Assessment, 
review, and management oversight is supporting a culture of systemic practice that values the voice 
of the child and direct work is an improving feature. This is validated by audit activity described in 
section 2. Examples of significant practice improvement are: 
 
Public Outline  

Improved tracking of pre-proceedings and court activity has assisted us in developing a greater 
understanding of key areas of our performance and to therefore target areas identified for 
improvement. Harrow had a strategic aim to reduce number in court with use of KFT, early help re 
physical chastisement and with a greater emphasis on use of pre proceedings. This was achieved 
with an 11% increase in numbers managed within PLO from 2016/17. In addition we achieved a 
reduction in Public Proceedings through greater level of support to families to commence private 
applications – both at end of pre proceedings and outside of PLO e.g. S20 followed by SGO 
 
Pre proceedings 

• 11% increase of families managed in PLO in 2017/18 

• A greater number concluded with 31 in year 2017/18, compared to 26 in 2016/17  

Following pre-proceedings activity, 38% of these cases led to decisions to make applications for 
Care or Private Proceedings. In respect of Care Applications the LA achieved its initial care plans in 
87.5% of applications made, thereby demonstrating effectiveness in pre-proceedings activity. 
Through our analysis, however, we are aware that pre-proceedings process had not been concluded 
in all of these matters and earlier decisions to initiate were made either as a consequence of 
parental non-engagement or due to birth of a baby where the pre-proceedings process had 
pertained to an unborn child.  
 
Duration 

Reducing the length of care proceedings will be another area for focus in the coming year. Our 
average duration during the last year is calculated as being 31 weeks however there have been 5 
exceptionally long cases which were considered to be highly complex. Case duration is tracked and 
monitored and the reasons for each matter extending beyond 26 weeks is known and understood.  
Proceedings with an international component often increase the length of proceedings; of the 4 
positive assessments of relatives abroad 2 were completed within 26 weeks and the other 2 within 
33 weeks. 

 

 
 

99



42 
 

 

10. CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER 

 

10.1) Senior leaders and lead members discharge their responsibilities as a corporate parent, and 
are ambitious for children and young people’s educational progress. 

10.2) Children looked after are healthy, and able to access health provision when required. 

Summary and evidence: 

Provisional performance data indicates our rate of CLA is 27 per 10,000 which has dropped from the 
previous year. This is a result of activities described in section 4.7. Short term placement stability is 
at 14%, similar to previous year, with improving long term stability at 81%. 94% of our CLA 1+ year 
have up to date health assessments, and 88% have completed Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ). 

 
Senior Leaders (CEO, DCS, Lead Member and Shadow Portfolio Lead) are regularly briefed on 
performance and outcomes for our looked after CYP. The Corporate Parenting Panel is well 
embedded and receives cross party scrutiny and support. Corporately there are high expectations 
and ambitions for our CLA. Examples of this overview and challenge has led to improved access to 
education support and Information and Communications Technology (ICT) tools in placements, 
increased focus on the timeliness and quality of personal education plans (PEP), and the Corporate 
Parenting Panel have been instrumental in driving the integration agenda with Central North West 
London CCG and Barnardo’s. This has led to an improved pathway with Harrow Horizons, and with 
integrated systemic CAMHS clinicians and health team embedded within CYPS. 
 
The success of the integrated CLA Health Team has supported improved initial and review health 
assessments, dental checks, and alignment with SDQ analysis. This improved focus has facilitated a 
smoother pathway to setting up appropriate physical and emotional health provision for all our CLA, 
including those in out of borough placements.      
 

10.3) Children looked after receive appropriate education.  There is effective multi-agency support 
(including social workers, Independent Reviewing Officers, parent and carers, schools and Virtual 
School) to help children looked after achieve, including the quality and impact of personal 
education plans.  Pupil premium funding is targeted to help children achieve well and in accordance 
with the grant conditions. Young people are supported to achieve successful transition to higher 
education, training and employment.  

Summary and evidence: 

With the support of the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Virtual School (VS): 
There are currently 95 children of statutory school age on roll at Harrow VS. 80% of these children 
attend good or outstanding schools. 49% of our students are educated outside of Harrow and are 
spread across 25 local authorities.  
 
The average number of PEP returns in place is 80% with 90% of these at good or better quality. The 
quality of PEPs has increased by 40 percentage points since our last PEP audit in 2017. However, 
improving the number of PEP returns remains a priority for the VS and a school action plan is in 
place to address this. 
 
PEPs are reviewed three times a year and these documents, alongside other intelligence,  provide 
insight on  pupil attainment, progress and attendance. Every child is monitored by the VS and any 
highlighted concerns are addressed promptly with our key stakeholders in education.  
 

100



43 
 

Pupil Premium funding is used to provide additional support to CLA to narrow the achievement gap 
between them and their peers. A proportion of funding is passed directly to schools, where 
designated teachers have identified specific interventions to accelerate pupil progress and remove 
barriers to learning. 
 
In addition to this the  VS uses remaining funds for a range of interventions such as:  

• English Proficiency Assessments for pupils with EAL. These reports provide teaching and 
learning strategies for schools, carers and SWs to support pupils in ‘catching-up’.  Pupil 
progress is reviewed as a part of the PEP process. 

• The Aim Higher Programme is targeted at CLA and Care leavers to provide insight into the 
range of opportunities and courses on offer by our partner universities. 

 
As a result of targeted interventions there has been a 2% rise in the number of care leavers 
attending university over the past 2 years.  
 
Attainment 

Pupils at the end of KS2 exceeded the national average for CLA by 10.9 percentage points. In 2016 
our Year 6 pupils had an EHCP and were working well-below expected standards.  However some 
indicators are below the average of SN and the VS will prioritise progress and achievement in 
reading and writing specifically.   

End of KS2 

2015-2016 2016-2017 

Subject VS National 
CLA 

Subject VS National 
CLA 

Reading, 
Writing and 
Maths 

No pupils 
eligible 

26% Reading, 
Writing and 
Maths 

42.9% 32% 

 
 
Attainment at the end of KS4 is improving across the last 2 years. In 2017 pupils exceeded the 
national average for attainment 8 by 2.8. However, progress from KS2 to KS4 is not as good as that 
made either regionally nor nationally. Harrow VS has identified the further support needed at KS3 
to ensure there is no regression as pupils enter KS4.  The attendance of CLA in Harrow schools is 
good.  Attendance of those children placed in out of borough schools and for shorter periods is an 
area for improvement.  Improving attainment, progress and attendance are key objectives for the 
VS and the VSIB.  

End of KS4 

2015-2016 2016-2017 

Subject VS National 
CLA 

Subject VS National 
CLA 

Attainment 8 -21.1 20.9 Attainment 8 20.7 18.1 

Progress 8 -0.58 0.03 Progress 8 -1.47 -1.43 

 

 

101



44 
 

10.4) Children looked after and care leavers are aware of, and receive their rights and entitlements, 
and their views and wishes are taken into account in how/when they receive these. 

10.5) Planning takes into account children’s wishes and feelings, including maintaining positive 
relationships with people who are important to them.  Children and families are supported where 
the plan is for the child to return home.  

Summary and evidence: 

Our provisional data demonstrates 88% of our care leavers are in suitable accommodation, and 67% 
are EET, which is above both SN and national averages. 
 
All CLA receive a full suite of age documents / guides which outline their rights and entitlements 
while being looked after in Harrow. A recent consultation exercise with our young people has led to 
an up-dated pledge regarding financial support and support for hobbies / interests whilst being 
looked after. Based on feedback from young people, improvements have been made to the way 
that a savings account is set up and managed centrally on their behalf. The local offer to care 
leavers has also been up-dated following a consultation exercise, in light of the changes in the 
legislative requirements of the Children and Social Work Act 2017.  Planning is well underway to 
ensure that all care leavers have a personal advisor up to the age of 25, and improved financial 
support for young people in higher education.  All care leavers will receive improved support by 
having Council Tax relief as approved by Cabinet January 2018. This and the full range of support is 
publicised on the Council website, and has been promoted by the Harrow Leaving Care Forum, 
carers, SWs, and IROs. 
 
Young People attend, or are fully supported to have their views represented in review and 
placement planning meetings. Parental contributions to these important meetings are also fully 
supported. Performance and monitoring data demonstrates good take up and contributions to care 
planning and contact arrangements. Our Advocacy Service has recently been recommissioned, with 
advocates being co-located within teams, and the service has been extended to include advocacy 
support for parents. 
 

 

10.6) Arrangements for children looked after who are placed outside of the local authority area are 
made in their best interests and in accordance with regulations. Senior officers and Corporate 
Parents monitor the quality and impact of care and support for these children.  

10.7) Children looked after who live outside of the local authority area have the same level of 
support and opportunities as all children looked after (e.g. contact with family; social work visits; 
access to health, education and leisure activities; attendance at celebration events).  Their voice is 
heard and social workers take close account of their views.  

10.8) Children looked after who are the responsibility of another local authority who live within the 
local area are known, and services provided for them as appropriate. 

Summary and evidence: 

Arrangements for all CLA placements are based on assessed needs and are tracked and monitored 
by an Access to Resources Panel chaired by the Divisional Director of CYP. All out of borough 
placements are agreed by the Director as per regulations and guidance and are robustly tracked and 
monitored. These are reviewed through the Access to Resources Panel with a focus on outcomes 
and timescales. 
 
CLA placed outside of the LA have the same level of support as all CLA. The VS ensure that PEPs are 
tightly managed and the CLA Health team ensure that health needs are consistently monitored. 

102



45 
 

Placement Agreement Meetings and Statutory Reviews ensure that children are given the 
appropriate level of support and opportunities to meet their needs. This is enhanced through the 
work of the Participation Officer and the Advocacy service. 
 
Harrow regularly notifies all other local authorities of the services available for children placed in 
the local area. All notifications of children moving into and out of the LA are recorded on Mosaic 
alongside services which are being provided. 

 

 

11. FOSTERING AND ADOPTION 

 

11.1) Foster carer recruitment, retention, sufficiency and skills are effective to meet the needs of 
children and young people, and there is evidence that sufficiency of foster placements is regularly 
reviewed and where shortfalls are identified, effective action is taken. 

11.2) Placements are made, and ended appropriate so that information is shared with foster 
families prior to a child coming to live with them, and where the plan is for the child to return home 
or change placement, there is effective work with the child, parents and carers.   
11.3) Responses to allegations against foster carers are timely and effective; unnecessary placement 
moves do not take place; and supervising social workers are effective. 

Summary and evidence: 

A comprehensive placement Sufficiency strategy outlines the range of recruitment and retention 
initiatives that have been put in place to ensure a diverse pool of foster carers. This is regularly 
reviewed and updated. An updated fostering payments report has also been approved at Corporate 
Parenting Panel.  This outlines payments and expectations of foster carers and has in response to 
the complex needs of CLA introduced an enhanced a specialist fostering scheme.  
 
A dedicated Training and Development Officer is attached to the Fostering team which has ensured 
a robust training schedule is in place. Monthly support groups take place which ensure effective 
communication between Foster carers and the department. There is also an active local Foster Care 
Association which meets regularly with the Head of Service. All foster carers have their own 
supervising SW who ensures they are supported and are equipped to meet the needs of children in 
their care. 
 
All placements are made through an experienced Access to Resource Team. There is a requirement 
for a detailed profile of a child’s needs before any placement is sourced. This is shared with foster 
carers prior to children being placed. Any plans for children to return home or change placement 
will need Head of Service agreement and to be ratified at a CLA Review. Harrow has a strong 
performance in placement stability which evidences the good practice and strong systems in this 
area. If Children have to move in an emergency their case is considered at the subsequent Access to 
Resources panel where effective challenge and support is given and additional resources agreed if 
appropriate. 
 
All allegations against foster carers are responded to effectively with the support of the Local 
Authority Designated Officer (LADO) and using appropriate safeguarding procedures. Supervising 
SWs are very clear about the process and have developed an allegations pathway on the Children’s 
Services ICT system. 
 

 

103



46 
 

11.4) The right permanence option is achieved for all children and young people, no matter what 
their age, and family finding commences at the earliest opportunity where appropriate. Children 
and young people are helped to achieve permanency without delay, permanence plans are 
rigorously tracked, and matching practice is effective. Support is provided for as long as it is needed. 

11.5) National adoption targets are met (Adoption Scorecard), and information from CAFCASS and 
the local Family Justice Board demonstrate effectiveness. Reasons for current performance 
understood, appropriate actions to improve planned, and trajectory known. 

11.6) Changes of the Children and Families Act 2014 have been implemented fully.  

Summary and evidence: 

Provisional data demonstrates that of the children who ceased to be looked after 7% were adopted, 
and 16% had an SGO order granted. Monthly Care Practice Group confirms that permanency 
planning remains a strength. Performance regarding achieving timescales remains strong, which is 
also confirmed through the national adoption scorecard. There has been a slight drop in timeliness 
owing to the complex legal matters that arise when children are placed with family members in 
other countries, sometimes outside the European Union. 

 
CLA have six weekly permanency planning meetings and in addition to their own CLA reviews are 
tracked and monitored through a Monthly Care Planning Group chaired by the Head of Service QA. 
All permanency plans whether long term Fostering, SGOs or Adoption are accompanied by robust 
support plans. These are all presented alongside the matching information to an experienced 
Adoption and Fostering Panel before being signed off by the Agency Decision Maker. All support 
plans are reviewed on an annual basis by the Adoptions Support and Kinship Team. 
 
Harrow has an effective and longstanding adoption partnership with Coram. This has been seen as a 
model of good practice. Harrow has consistently performed well in the Adoption scorecard being in 
the top quartile. Coram staff are located within Harrow social work offices which has facilitated 
positive integration of services and permanency planning to begin at an early stage of the child’s 
journey. This has included concurrent carers and fostering to adopt. 
 

 

11.7) Prospective adopters are informed about adoption support entitlements. Children who are in 
need of adoption support are being appropriately assessed and able to access a sufficient range of 
support when it is needed.   

Summary and evidence: 

Coram, a leading Voluntary Adoption Agency undertakes all aspects of adoption recruitment, 
assessment and support on behalf of Harrow. At any one time they have a wide range of adopters 
for Harrow to access in addition to comprehensive adoption support services, including access to 
the Tavistock. All Coram adopters are supported by experienced adoption practitioners and have 
been fully trained and prepared. 

 
Children in need of adoption support have a comprehensive assessment and have a wide range of 
services available. Harrow has made considerable use of the Adoption Support Fund to ensure all 
adopted children have access to appropriate therapeutic support. 
 
Harrow is the lead agency in the development of a new Regional Adoption Agency – Ambitious for 
Adoption. This has received approval from the DfE and implementation plans are being put into 
place. 

 

104



47 
 

 
 

12. CARE LEAVERS –  

 

12.1) The local authority and partners prioritise the current and future accommodation needs of 
children looked after and care leavers, including their responses to complaints and feedback about 
how safe they feel where they are living  

12.2) Care leavers are prepared for independence and living in high-quality, safe, permanent and 
affordable accommodation that meets their needs   

12.4) Care leavers are supported to fulfil their ambitions in education, employment and training.  

Summary and evidence: 

All Harrow Care Leavers are fully supported by the LCT and professional partners. 

 
The Leaving Care Charter and the local offer have been updated in light of changes in the Children 
and Social work Act 2017 and have been published on Harrow Council’s website. Young People 
played an central role in writing these and have given positive feedback regarding the support that 
has been given  
The LCT works closely with the Access to Resources team and the Housing Department to ensure 
there is a wide range of placement and accommodation options for care leavers. This includes 
staying put fostering arrangements, supported lodgings and residential and housing options with a 
range of support from 24 hours to a few hours a week depending on assessed need. 
 
The Council has also agreed at cabinet to support care leavers in their accommodation by offering 
Council Tax relief. This was unanimously agreed by the Full Council. 
 
There is a comprehensive Preparation for Independence training programme for Care Leavers 
including finance, relationships, education, employment and training, health and accommodation.  
In addition to their own personal advisors care leavers have access to specialist advice on EET from 
a commissioned service Prospects and an advocacy service.  They also have support in their health 
needs from the CLA Health team and on education from the VS. 
 
There are 3 Leaving Care Forums which are arranged during the year. These are well attended and 
Care Leavers play an active role in organising these events. Older Care Leavers often talk about their 
own personal journey and offer advice and support to their younger peers.  
 
 
The performance data for Care leavers concerning EET and suitable accommodation highlights the 
positive outcomes being achieved. 
 
There is an increased number of Care leavers attending further and Higher Education including 
University. 

 

 

13. YOUTH OFFENDING  

 

13.1) Young people who are at risk of offending are identified early and preventative support 
provided. 

105



48 
 

13.2) Young people who offend are identified and appropriate action taken promptly to safeguard 
others, and prevent re-offending. 

Summary and evidence: 

A national increase in Serious Youth Violence and Knife offending has led to a greater focus on not 
only strengthening preventative support but also ensuring intensive support and exit pathways are 
available for young people at risk of or within the criminal justice system.  
 
The realignment of the youth offer and YOT under the umbrella of an Integrated Youth Service will 
ensure sustainable and meaningful diversion pathways are in place for those entering the youth 
justice system. The “Out of Court” disposals will have an automatic “offer” in place which engages 
young people into positive activities from the very onset.  This is further enhanced by the recent 
securing of funding from CCG for Mindfulness Programmes. These programmes will be part of the 
intervention for young people subject to Out of Court disposals as well as a pilot programme being 
offered to young victims of crime, as research informs that these young victims can go on to 
become perpetrators of crime if left with no support to address the trauma of being a victim.  The 
service redesign supports this seamless access to services by having one Deputy Team Manager to 
oversee the work of the Youth Offer as well as the Out Of Court Disposal work within the YOT.  
 
The integration of YOT and Youth Offer provides the opportunity to share knowledge and skillset 
across both areas to ensue early identification of “at risk” young people, be it siblings of those 
involved or those on the periphery of crime / anti social behaviour.   
 
Regular performance data continues to show positive trends for those diverted away from the 
criminal justice system. Since April 2017, of the 40 who were considered “First Time Entrants”, only 
4 had previous “Triage intervention” (Triage is an alternative programme to charging young people 
for an offence and relies on voluntary engagement to charge for low level offences).  This 
demonstrates an effective diversion scheme delivered by YOT.  
 
The YOT continue to assess young people using the YJB approved assessment tool Assetplus. This 
supports practitioners to robustly assess levels of risk to public as well as self, triggering referrals 
into social care services as and when needed. Joint work with social care colleagues, including home 
visits and discussions at YOT’s Risk, Safety and Wellbeing meeting? have increased understanding of 
roles and responsibilities and have provided additional resources where needed for those with the 
most need.  
 
Although YOT has experienced an increase in custodial cases, this relates to the seriousness of 
offending, and cases are analysed to ensure all appropriate options were considered as alternatives 
to custody. There is a continued need to monitor cases going into custody to ensure all options 
were explored by the LA to avoid a young person going into custody; however this will continue to 
be balanced with the YOT’s duty to protect the public.  
 
Reoffending rates have decreased in Harrow which is unlike national trends; however it is suggested 
that this is due to having a stable workforce made up of permanent frontline staff for the past 2 
years who have then been able to build meaningful relationships with young people and been 
crucial to supporting young people into exit pathways. 
 

 

14. MISSING CHILDREN (HOME, CARE, EDUCATION)  

 

106



49 
 

14.1) There is effective partnership collaboration in respect of children who are missing or who are 
at risk of going missing; clear, well-established and consistently applied inter-agency protocols; and 
regularly reviewed strategic analysis by the HSCB and partners resulting in a strong understanding 
of the risks associated with going missing.  

14.2) There are effective plans and action to protect and help children who go missing as well as 
family members, including risk assessments; management plans; and return interviews. Outcomes 
from return home interviews are evaluated to assess any emerging patterns and trends.   

14.3) Agencies and teams such as virtual school, schools, social workers and carers work together to 
identify and support CLA that are missing education and there are effective processes for 
information sharing.  Actions are taken to help children return to suitable education and children in 
alternative provision receive at least 25 hours per week.    

Summary and evidence: 

Harrow (and the multiagency partnership) has adopted the Pan London (LSCB) Runaway and 
Missing from Home and Care (RMFHC) protocol which is followed when children run away or go 
missing.   

 
Missing children data and strategic analysis is reviewed at the HSCB VVE Sub-group, including 
thematic information from return home interviews regarding patterns and trends, push and pull 
factors, locations and risks. 
 
Multiagency Strategy meetings are held for children who are missing from home or care.  
“Grab Packs” are shared with police for children who are at high risk of missing episodes in order to 
quickly locate and safeguard children. 
 
Management information reports are presented to the weekly Missing Children meeting, which 
reviews both processes such as strategy discussions and CSE risk assessments as well as the quality 
and themes of return interviews. Both missing and absent children are considered.  Return home 
interview (RHI) are offered to all missing children and children where there is a pattern of absences. 
 
Information regarding children missing education is shared with the CSE coordinator and escalated 
for strategy meetings and assessments where relevant. 

 

 
 

15. CHILD EXPLOITATION – Violence, Vulnerability, and Exploitation  

 

15.1) There is effective Police, local authority and other agency collaboration in respect of children 
who are at risk of, or who are being exploited. There are clear, well-established and consistently 
applied protocols; a clear understanding of the local culture and prevalence; and regularly reviewed 
strategic analysis by the HSCB; and a high level of awareness among professional staff, resulting in a 
strong understanding of the risks associated with the exploitation spectrum.  

15.2) There is high quality and impact of referral, assessment and planning for children and young 
people with regard to risks associated with exploitation; direct work is effective and the voices of 
children and young people, families and professionals are gathered and acted on appropriately.    

15.3) There is effective work with partners to disrupt offenders and appropriate action relating to 
perpetrators.  

107



50 
 

Summary and evidence: 

Harrow (and the multiagency partnership) has adopted the Pan London CSE Operating Protocol 
(2017 edition).  
 
A Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation (MASE) Panel is convened every 6 weeks where Victims, 
Offenders, Locations, Themes are discussed in order to share intelligence on CSE in Harrow and 
contribute to a strategic response. 
 
Quarterly data and strategic analysis in relation to CSE are reviewed at the HSCB VVE Sub-group. 

• The vast majority of possible CSE victims referred to the MASE were female (93%). The 
majority of victims were aged between 13 and 17. 

• The most common type of suspected CSE was identified as peer-on-peer, followed closely by 
the relationship model, suspected gang involvement, and the internet / social media. 

• Through proactive multiagency partnership working, Harrow was able to successfully target 
some of the schools and public spaces that are most associated with, or affected, by peer-on-
peer abuse. 

• The VVE team and the CSE Coordinator role have strengthened Harrow’s response to CYP at 
risk of CSE through better collaboration, intelligence sharing, and identification of key 
themes, locations and trends  

 
In cases where CSE or associated risk factors are been identified, SWs complete a CSE SAFEGUARD 
risk assessment with young people. Direct work with young people is effective, and for young 
people who are not open to engaging with professionals, this is not a barrier to effective 
safeguarding practice. For example, Child Abduction Warning Notices (CAWN) are still served in 
relation to suspected offenders where there is significant cause for concern. 
 
There is effective work with partners to disrupt offenders and action taken in relation to 
perpetrators, including CAWNs being served, offenders being prosecuted, and locations being 
“closed down” with closure notices and proactive policing. 
 
In April 2016 the VVE Team was formed as part of the MASH to incorporate the Missing Children / 
Runaways Family Support Worker and the Gangs Co-ordinator posts alongside the CSE Co-ordinator 
role.  This has reinforced the LA’s role in responding to and supporting CYP who have VVE indicators 
and vulnerabilities. The VVE team's primary focus is to ensure collaborative working across these 
key areas, which research shows are often inter-related, and to identify and respond to risks as 
early as possible. This also helps to develop key themes and trends, improve collective response 
through an informed understanding of the problem profile in respect of young people that go 
missing and experience harm.   
 
From June 2016, the CSE Co-ordinator assumed responsibility for chairing all strategy meetings 
involving CSE cases, attended by Harrow Borough designated CSE and Missing Police team which is 
managed by the Detective Inspector responsible for co-chairing MASE. The aim is to provide 
consistency in terms of threshold, approach and scrutiny, as well as to develop mapping of peer 
associations, locations and themes. In addition, pre-MASE meetings are now held between the 
MASE Chair and the CSE-Co-ordinator to share intelligence across Police and Social Care information 
systems, and to ensure each young person has a Police Crime Record Information System (CRIS) 
number or Non-Crime CSE Reference on the Police system. This ensures that when a young person 
comes to the attention of the Police, a quick systems check will flag the CSE risk.  
 
From July 2016, cross-borough working was strengthened, with CSE co-ordinators and analysts 

108



51 
 

within the WLA meeting to share key themes, trends and improve cross borough intelligence and 
communications around CSE. Quarterly meetings are now on-going. This has strengthened Harrow’s 
understanding of CSE where there are cross borough challenges. This is essential in developing 
consistent local, regional data sets and sharing information with key partners where young people 
are crossing boroughs.   
 
As of August 2016, following recommendations from London Councils and Metropolitan Police Lead 
for CSE, Harrow now considers suspected perpetrators of CSE at the MASE panel. This has 
strengthened the response to CSE and developed a more robust response to all facets of CSE 
involving victims and suspected perpetrators.  
 
Daily reports from the Harrow’s performance data team ensure that the information regarding 
Missing children can be picked up and responded to in a timely manner.  This is also further 
reinforced by daily Police notification reports of CSE, Gangs and Missing children along with the 
weekly Missing meetings with Heads of Service to oversee and scrutinise responses to Harrow’s 
missing children.  
 

 

 

16. DOMESTIC ABUSE, PARENTAL SUBSTANCE MISUSE, AND MENTAL ILL 

HEALTH  

 
16.1) The prevalence and impact of children living in households where domestic abuse, parental 
substance misuse and mental ill-health are a factor is known and there is effective work with 
partners, especially adult services, to reduce this impact and provide help and support.  There is 
good understanding among professional staff, resulting in a strong understanding of the risks and 
early identification. The LSCB/HSAB is assured of the effectiveness of practice. 

Summary and evidence: 

As evidenced in section 3, HSCB has a strong focus on the prevalence and impact of services to 
support households where domestic abuse, parental substance misuse, and mental ill health. This 
has been the focus of the full Board and that of the QA sub-committee activities. Evaluation of ES 
and “hidden harm” through the QA sub-committee has demonstrated improving identification 
through ES interventions has reduced the need for statutory intervention, but has also fast tracked 
referrals through MASH into FRT where required. Impact of services for young persons and also 
parents with substance misuse issues has been subject of scrutiny in the QA sub-committee. The 
HSCB has maintained an overview of developments focused on domestic abuse through scrutiny of 
the Tavistock couples counselling project, perpetrator programmes delivered through the Safe 
Harrow partnership, and arrangements for information sharing between the Police and schools. 
 
The prevalence of referrals for CYP with domestic abuse, substance misuse, and mental ill health 
are regularly tracked through monthly performance management reports. This information has 
been used to support innovative projects, outlined in section 3, regarding couples counselling and 
digital finger print testing. Consideration is currently underway to improve the pathway for capacity 
assessments undertaken with CIN and Adult Services. 
 
It is anticipated that with improving alignment of HSCB and HSAB priorities that interventions to 
address the “toxic trio” will be strengthened through the HSAB work streams.     

 

 

109



52 
 

 

17. RADICALISATION AND EXTREMISM  
 

Summary and evidence: 

The approach to tackling radicalisation and extremism in Harrow is firmly rooted in a safeguarding 
perspective, and reaching out to communities to raise awareness, and deliver training through the 
Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent (WRAP), and establishing an effective multi-agency panel 
to consider referrals for those considered vulnerable (Channel Panel). Our approach has been 
validated by Ofsted and during Adult and Community Learning inspection. 
 
In 2017/18 Harrow has been recognised as a priority borough by the Home Office which has secured 
targeted funding to develop our validated approach further. As a result dedicated coordination, 
education, and specific additional support to schools to enhance the established community 
cohesion agenda. Equaliteach has been commissioned to deliver preventative workshops in primary 
and secondary schools.  This has received positive feedback from pupils and teachers on the 
delivered workshops. The initial phase of the programme has targeted year groups 5 and 6 in 
primary school settings. 
 
The Channel Panel is well established in Harrow, with good multi-agency support, being chaired by 
Head of Service for ES and YOT. Referrals demonstrate that agencies, particularly schools, are aware 
of the duty to support a counter-terrorism strategy, but one that is fully grounded in identifying and 
supporting vulnerable CYP and adults.     
 
The monthly Channel Panel is an early intervention multi-agency panel designed to safeguard 
vulnerable individuals from being drawn into extremist or terrorist behaviour. Channel works in a 
similar way to existing multi-agency partnerships for vulnerable individuals, such as MAPPA (Multi 
Agency Public Protection Arrangements).  Channel is for individuals of any age who are at risk of 
exploitation by extremist or terrorist ideologies. Early intervention can prevent individuals being 
drawn into terrorist-related activity. 
 
We have a dedicated Prevent worker based in the MASH who works with CYP who are at risk of 
radicalisation, which is supporting the Channel panel programme, but is also well positioned to offer 
early intervention prior to the need for a formal Channel panel referral. 

 

 

FINAL WORDS 

Children and Young People Services in Harrow are performing at a good standard across the whole 
children’s pathway.  The council invested in establishing new SW posts during 2017 / 2018 and 
provided growth in business support to ensure that workloads will be maintained at a meaningful 
level over the next year.  The workforce has responded by delivering consistently good outcomes for 
children from early support through to leaving care; as well as universal services through our 
schools. 
 
The challenge will be to sustain these high standards.  We will aspire to achieve not just good but 
outstanding outcomes for all our vulnerable children and their families over the next year.  We will 
do this by training and developing our SW and practitioners; growing our future managers and 
leaders through embedding our culture of learning, support and challenge; and by putting children’s 
welfare at the heart of what we do.  
 

110



53 
 

We are confident that these aspirations to deliver outstanding outcomes for Harrow’s children will 
be supported fully by corporate colleagues and our local councillors, over the course of the next 
year, and by key partners within the locality.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Glossary of Terms 

Acronym  
 

Description  

ADHD Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 

ARMS Additional Resourced Mainstream Schools 

ASD Autism Spectrum Disorder 

BME Black and Minority Ethnic 

CC Children’s Centre 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CHAT Children’s Services Analysis Tool 

CAF Common Assessment Framework 

CAFCASS The Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

CAWN Child Abduction Warning Notices 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CFPS The Centre for Public Sector Scrutiny 

CIN Children in Need 

CLA Children Looked After 

CP Child Protection 

111



54 
 

CPD Continuous Professional Development 

CPP Child Protection Plan 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CRC Community Rehabilitation Company 

CRIS Crime Record Information System 

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation 

CST Children’s Sensory Team 

CYAD Children and Young Adults with Disabilities 

CYADS Children and Young Adults with Disabilities Service 

CYP Children and Young People 

CYPS Children and Young People Services 

DASH Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Harassment and Honour Based Violence  

DBS Disclosure and Barring Service 

DCS Director of Children’s Services 

DfE Department for Education 

DSG Dedicated Schools Grant 

EAL English as an Additional Language 

EBacc English Baccalaureate 

EET Engagement in Education, Employment and Training 

EHCP Education, Health and Care Plan 

EIS Early Intervention Service 

EPS Education Psychology Service 

ES Early Support 

EYFS Early Years Foundation Stage 

FGM Female Genital Mutilation 

FLNA Family Led Needs Analysis 

FRT First Response Team 

FSM Free School Meals 

112



55 
 

GLD Good Level of Development 

HI Hearing Impairment 

HNB High Needs Block 

HSAB Harrow Safeguarding Adults Board 

HSCB Harrow Safeguarding Children Board 

HSIP Harrow School Improvement Partnership 

HV Health Visitor 

HWBB Health and  Well Being Board 

HYP Harrow Youth Parliament 

IAG Information Advice and Guidance 

ICPC Initial Child Protection Conference 

ICT Information and Communications Technology 

IDACI Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index 

IDVA Independent Domestic Violence Advisor 

IRO Independent Reviewing Officer 

IYSS Integrated Youth Support System 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

KFT Keeping Families Together 

KS1,2,3 Key Stage 1, 2, 3 

KSS Knowledge and Skills Statement 

LA Local Authority 

LADO Local Authority Designated Officer 

LCT Leaving Care Team 

LD Learning disability 

LGA Local Government Association 

LGBT Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender 

LSE London School of Economics 

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board 

113



56 
 

LSOA Lower Super-Output Areas 

MAPPA Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements 

MASE Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation 

MASH Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

MOPAC Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime 

MSI Multi-Sensory Impairment 

NEET Not in Education, Employment or Training 

NHS National Health Service 

NPS National Probation Service 

NSPCC National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children 

Ofsted Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills 

PAMS Parent Assessment Manual Software 

PEP Personal Education Plan 

PLO Public Law Outline 

PRU Pupil Referral Unit 

PSD People Services Directorate 

PSW Principal Social Worker 

RHI Return Home Interview 

RiP Research in Practice 

RMFHC Runaway and Missing from Home and Care 

S17 Section 17, Children Act 1989 – Provision of services for Children in Need 

S20 Section 20, Children Act 1989 – Provision of accommodation 

S47 Section 47, Children Act 1989 – Duty to investigate 

SALT Speech and Language Therapist 

SCR Serious Case Review 

SDQ Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire 

SEND Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

SGO Special Guardianship Order 

114



57 
 

SIF Single Assessment Framework 

SLA Service Level Agreement 

SMART Specific, Measureable, Achievable, Realistic and Timely 

SN Statistical Neighbours 

SW Social Worker 

TEASC Towards Excellence in Adult Social Care 

Tri.x Not an acronym.  Company who provide information and procedures.  

TSA Teaching School Alliance 

TWF Together with Families 

UASC Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children 

VI Visual Impairment 

VS Virtual School 

VSIB Virtual School Improvement Board 

VVE Violence, Vulnerability and Exploitation 

WDP Westminster Drug Project 

WLA West London Alliance: Barnet, Brent, Ealing, Hammersmith & Fulham, Harrow, 
Hillingdon, Hounslow 

WRAP Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent 

YLNA Youth Led Needs Analysis 

YJB Youth Justice Board 

YOT Youth Offending Team 

 

115



This page is intentionally left blank



      

 

 

 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Corporate Parenting 

Panel 

 

Date of Meeting:    

 

3 July 2018 

Subject:      

 

Information Report - Corporate 

Parenting Strategy  

Key Decision:  

 

 No 

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Paul Hewitt, Corporate Director People 
Services 
 
 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Christine Robson, Portfolio Holder, Young 
People and Schools 

Exempt: 

 

 No 
 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

No 
 
 

Wards affected: 

 

All Wards 

Enclosures: 

 

Corporate Parenting Strategy 2017 to 2019 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

 

 
Recommendations:  To note the strategy update and priorities 
 
Reason:  All councillors are Corporate Parents and need to be 
aware of how these responsibilities are being carried out 

117

Agenda Item 11
Pages 117 to 140



 

 

 
 

Section 2 – Report 

 

Introductory paragraph 
 
Looked After Children and Care Leavers are a vulnerable group. The Council 
has a responsibility to ensure those who have had a poor start to their lives 
and become Looked After are given high quality levels of care and support to 
ensure they are prepared for adulthood; and that good outcomes are 
achieved in their lives 
 
The Strategy is attached and sets out the key priorities  
 
Regular performance reports are submitted to the Corporate Parenting Panel 
alongside which the priorities outlined in the strategy can be measured 
 
The strategy outlines how Children Looked After in Harrow are provided with 
stable and secure placements and given support to ensure they are healthy 
and receive good quality education 
 
Ofsted looked at the strategy as part of its inspection in January 2017 and 
noted that the strategy is detailed and sets out clear priorities and areas for 
improvement 
 

Options considered   
 
None this is an information report   
 

Risk Management Implications 
 
Risk included on Directorate risk register?  Yes 
 If Harrow does not fulfil its corporate parenting functions it would fail to meet the 
requirements of increased inspection and regulatory framework for delivering safe 
and secure services across our partnerships. There is also financial risk to the MTFS 
savings if placement sufficiency is not achieved as this could result in an increase in 
high cost placements. 

  

Legal Implications 
 
Once a child becomes looked after, the local authority has a number of duties 
towards him or her under the Children Act 1989 and associated legislation.  
These include: 

(a) to safeguard and promote the child’s welfare, including providing 
advice, assistance and befriending; 

(b) to provide services for the child in addition to accommodation; 
(c) to ascertain and give consideration to the wishes and feelings of the 

child and family members; 
(d) to provide a complaints procedure; 
(e) to keep a child’s care plan under review. 

 
The local authority also has duties to former looked after children. 

118



 
 

Financial Implications 
 
There are no financial implications arising from this report: 

 
Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
Children Looked After in Harrow come from diverse backgrounds and have a 
range of needs which reflects that of the wider community. The Corporate 
Parenting strategy outlines how foster carers and placements are recruited to 
ensure these needs are met and how a range of services are available to 
meet their diverse needs. It also notes that the staff involved in working with 
Children Looked After reflect the local community 
 

Council Priorities 
 
The Council’s vision:  
 
Working Together to Make a Difference for Harrow  
 
Please identify how the report incorporates the administration’s priorities.  
 

 Making a difference for the vulnerable 

 Making a difference for communities 

 Making a difference for local businesses 

 Making a difference for families 
 
This update supports Harrow’s Ambition plan and priority to protect the most 
vulnerable and support families; as well as being more business-like in 
commissioning and procurement to ensure best value in Children’s 
placements 
 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 

 

 
 

   
on behalf of the * 

Name: Jo Frost x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 24th May 2018 

   

 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

 NO*, as it impacts on 
all Wards  
 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 
Not applicable 
 

119



 
 
 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 

 
 

Contact:  Peter Tolley, Divisional Director ( Interim), Children and Young 

People Service Division, People Services Directorate 
Peter.tolley@harrow.gov.uk  02087366943 

 
 

Background Papers:   
 
None 
 

 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 
 

  
NOT APPLICABLE 
 
 
 

 

 
 

120

mailto:Peter.tolley@harrow.gov.uk


 

1 

Appendix A - Corporate Parenting Strategy 2017 to 2019 

CONTENTS 
 
             
1. Introduction 
2. Our Vision 
3. Achievements to date and examples of good practice 
4. Corporate parenting:- 

4.1 Corporate Parenting Panel 
4.2 Key reference documents 
4.3 Management performance reports 

5. What makes a difference 
5.1. Education 
5.2. Placements 
5.3. Interests and talents 
5.4. Health 
5.5. Jobs, apprenticeships and work experience 
5.6. Offending 
5.7. Celebration of achievements 

6. Key priorities 
6.1 Education, attainment and school attendance; narrow the gap 
6.2 Participation of young people in decision making 
6.3 LAC will be happy and healthy, safe and protected from harm and sexual 

exploitation; physical, emotional and social health and well-being 
6.4 Safe and stable placements; placement quality, choice and stability 
6.5 Identity; valued and respected and individual needs understood and met 
6.6 Smooth move to adulthood and independence; focussed support to narrow the 

gap 
 

 

 
Appendix A The corporate parenting pledge 
Appendix B Legal duties and responsibilities  
Appendix C Detailed health outcomes 

121



2 

Harrow Ofsted Jan 2017  

‘Elected Members of the Corporate Parenting panel demonstrate a clear commitment 

to improving the life chances of children looked after. They have oversight of detailed 

performance information and analysis, with a range of professionals presenting 

reports. This helps them to clarify, challenge and question activity. Mandatory training 

enhances their understanding. The corporate parenting strategy is detailed and it sets 

clear priorities and the areas for improvement’ 

1. “Introduction    
 
Corporate parenting is the term used to describe the duties and responsibilities of a local 
authority in respect of the children looked after by the authority.   Parental responsibility for 
looked after children is the responsibility of the whole council, not just children services..  In 
addition the local authority should enrol the support of its partner agencies in helping them to 
fulfil their obligations in respect of their corporate parenting responsibilities for the children 
looked after by the council. 

 
Corporate parenting relates to all children looked after by the authority, wherever they are 
placed, including young people receiving after care services up to, 25 years of age. 

 
Corporate parenting is about offering at least the same standards of care as would a 
‘reasonable parent’ in respect of the children looked after by the council.  The outcomes for 
children who have been looked after can be poor with the reasons which brought them into 
care such as abuse, neglect, separation, loss and rejection significantly affecting their 
subsequent life experiences.  As adults; they do less well educationally; they are over 
represented in the criminal justice system; have poorer health outcomes including an 
increased risk of suffering from mental health difficulties; have an increased likelihood of 
becoming homeless and experience economic and relationships difficulties in their own 
families.   

 
It is important that being looked after responds effectively to this disadvantage. 

 
The thrust of corporate parenting is about improving the life chances of children looked after 
– protecting their welfare, promoting their wellbeing, enhancing their lives and helping them 
reach their full potential.  Everyone should have high aspirations for, and expectations of, 
children who are looked after 

 
A key strand of corporate parenting is that it should be undertaken in consultation with 
children and young people who should have a say about how services for them are provided 
on both an individual and collective basis.    

 
In addition to enrolling the support of all chief officers within the local authority and partner 
agencies such as police, probation, youth justice, connexions, health and schools, the local 
authority should harness the support and resources of local communities, sport and leisure 
facilities, business and faith groups. 
 
 

2. Our Vision 
 
As corporate parents we are committed to ensuring that every child looked after has the best 
possible start in life, is given help to achieve their potential and experience safe and positive 
parenting.  
 

122



3 

 We want our children and young people to be happy and healthy, to be safe and 
protected from harm and sexual exploitation and be supported into adulthood. 

 We want our children to have everything that good parents want for their children. 

 We want our looked after children and young people to work with us, along with their 
parents and carers, in shaping how we manage and organise the planning, resources 
and services that support and care for them. 

 We want them to achieve their potential especially in education, to make the most of 
the opportunities offered and to participate in the decisions affecting their care and 
their lives. 

 We want our looked after children to be in placements that are as close as possible 
to their homes where they feel safe, happy and taken care of. 

 We want our looked after children and young people to be supported in maintaining 
their culture, ethnicity and religion and to be supported to maximise the opportunities 
available to them. 

 We want young people leaving care to be prepared for independent living, and 
supported to participate fully as active citizens into adulthood. 

 

3. Achievements to date and examples of good practice 
 

 Looked after children are offered, as a priority, places in their preferred schools in the 
borough 

 Annual achievement celebration for looked after children, organised by children and 
young people, beyond educational attainment 

 Annual foster carer celebration and awards evening 

 All children are given extra tuition according to their need 

 The Staying Put scheme enables care leavers to remain with their foster carers after 
their 18th birthday 

 Care Leavers claim their entitlement to Housing Benefit appropriately 

 A Care Leavers Charter developed with young people 

 Full engagement with 2 year old, and 3 and 4 year old nursery offers 

 Virtual School promotion of £1900 pupil premium funding use and monitoring for 
impact 

 LINAB – “Language is not a Barrier” Club for Care Leavers continued and weekend 
activities developed 

 Increase in the number of  care leavers at university to 15 

 Successful partnership with the CCG, and CNWL regarding the delivery of health 
service to Looked After Children 

 New partnership with Barnados regarding the emotional and mental health needs of 
children to be formally launched on 3rd July 

 

4. The Corporate Parenting Strategy 
 
4.1 Corporate Parenting Panel 
This strategy outlines our aspirations for looked after children and young people and sets out 
the actions we intend to take to achieve them.  
 
Harrow Council is ambitious for looked after children and young people and as corporate 
parent for1 156 children; our priority is to secure the very best care and opportunities for 
them. To achieve this we will work in partnership with children, young people, their families 
and partner agencies to ensure that children and young people enjoy their childhood and 
succeed in adult life. This commitment includes those care leavers for whom we have 

                                                           
1
 Snapshot data  24/5/18 

123



4 

responsibility to support their transition into adulthood. This means that “children in care 
should be cared about, not just cared for”. 
 
The Corporate Parenting Panel2, a Council Committee, made up from elected members, 
provides strategic leadership to ensure the council is delivering its corporate parenting 
duties. It has responsibility to advise officers about action to improve outcomes and life 
chances for all its Looked After Children and Care Leavers and comment on reviewing and 
developing policy in key areas such as the review process. Agendas, reports and minutes 
are published on the council website. 
 
All councillors hold a responsibility as corporate parents. Members’ induction is 
mandatory with training offered or all councillors at least annually.  
 
 

 
4.2 Key reference documents used to hold officers and providers to account for CLA life 

outcomes include: 
 
Management Performance reports 
 Quarterly performance activity reports 

Children & Families Complaints Annual Report  
Placement and planning – quality and timeliness: 
 Statement of Purpose for the Adoption Service – for annual CPP approval 

Statement of Purpose for the Fostering Service – for annual CPP approval 
Placement Sufficiency Strategy3   
Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report –  

 Adoption and Fostering Panel Annual report  
 Case Tracking Annual Report 
 
Education, employment and training specific – attainment and achievement of 
potential:   

Virtual Head teacher Annual Report  
Virtual School Development Plan  
Not in employment, education or training [NEETs] Care Leavers - twice yearly 

reports  
Health including dental checks 
 Regular Provider reports 
Participation 

Children and young people’s engagement and feedback – twice yearly reports 
 Crime: youth offending/re-offending 
          Housing and Childrens Services Protocol for homeless 16 to 17 year olds 
                   
   

 
4.3 Management performance information is required by the corporate parenting panel to 
enable robust scrutiny of performance, to inform priorities and determine what action needs 
to be taken. 

 
To inform the work of the corporate parenting board and to enable it to set priorities 
performance management information is necessary.  This information relates to the life 
chances of children looked after, supported by research and evidence as to where activity 
can be directed which makes a difference.  This focuses on the areas where children looked 

                                                           
2
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=788 Purpose, role & membership  

3
 See priority 6.4 

124

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=788


5 

after historically do not do well and which, if improved, make a difference as to how they will 
fare as adults.  This includes:-.  

 

 Improving their educational achievement, school attendance and attainment, 

 Getting a job and living in a good standard of  accommodation on becoming a 
care leaver 

 Promoting their health (both physical and emotional),  

 Having stable placements 

 Supporting offenders to reintegrate into work, education and establish positive 
relationships 

 Mitigating the negative impact of young people who go missing 

 Supporting care leavers who are parents to successfully care for their children 
 

 

5.   What makes a difference? 
 
The following are a range of activities which can act as protective factors and can help 
militate against some of the disadvantage which may have been experienced by looked after 
children.  They are also actions undertaken by a good parent to give their children a good 
start in life.  Because of their experiences, some children may need extra support to take 
advantage of opportunities offered. 

 
5.1  Education 
Education is probably the single most influential factor in ensuring that children fare well and 
are successful as adults.  Things which support educational achievement and attainment of 
looked after children are that they are:- 

 offered, as priority, places in the schools that are best for them 

 not excluded from school 

 provided with extra help and tuition, particularly at test and examination times  

 encouraged and supported to go on to further and higher education 
 

5.2  Placements  
 
 Harrow has developed a robust Placement Sufficiency Strategy which outlines the range of 

placement options and interventions. Including fostering, family and friends care, 
residential care and a range of semi-independent provisions  

 
Harrow is also working with other boroughs within the West London Alliance to ensure 

greater placement choice and value for money across West London 
 
5.3  Interests and talents  
Having an interest or a talent is a very significant factor in improving children’s life chances 
and hence when a child has an interest or a talent whatever this is it should be nurtured and 
developed improving self-esteem and achievement which often result in much better 
outcomes in adult life. 

 
Supporting children’s interests and talents can be achieved in the following ways, by:- 

 Identifying a mentor within the Council who can coach, encourage and develop 
these skills and talents 

 Making available resources to purchase any special equipment, clothing or 
materials to enable the child to participate on an equal footing with other 
children 

 
5.4  Health 

125



6 

Improving children’s health and wellbeing involves ensuring regular medical, dental checks 
and eye tests and being concerned and alert to children’s wellbeing both physical and 
emotional and responding in a timely and appropriately manner. 
 
Children Looked After are likely to have suffered from abuse and neglect and therefore need 
access to a range of responsive and effective health interventions to ensure they can meet 
the key developmental milestones 

 
5.5  Jobs, apprenticeships and work experience  
 
Harrow and its partner agencies are major employers in the borough and in respect of 
looked after children they are the ‘family businesses’.   

 
As ‘family businesses’ the following opportunities could be made available to looked after 
young people in when they leave school:- 

 Work experience opportunities particularly in preparation for higher or further 
education 

 Priority access to apprenticeships within the Council 

 Priority access to employment with the LBH or its partner agencies 

 Making available LBH employees to help prepare/equip young people for world 
of work, higher or further education 

 
Employees could offer support and guidance to looked after young people and care leavers 
in respect of work experience, jobs, apprenticeships, further and higher education on both a 
professional and personal capacity, if appropriate. 

 
5.6  Offending  
Young people’s lives can be blighted by offending behaviour.  It affects their ability to obtain 
and keep jobs, maintain stable relationships and somewhere decent to live.  Diverting young 
people from and reducing offending is critical to their life experiences as adults. 

 
The Youth Offending Service has a key role in working with looked after children who offend. 
 
5.7  Celebration of achievements 
As well as focusing on activities to improve their life chances it is important to recognise and 
celebrate the achievements and successes of looked after children. 

 
 

6. Key Priorities 

 
6.1 Improve the education attainment and school attendance of looked after 
children; narrow the gap with other children  

 
The role of Harrow Virtual School4 is to raise the attainment and outcomes of Harrow’s 
Children Looked After 5(CLA). The Virtual School do this by challenging and supporting the 
schools, as well as providing a support service to a number of stakeholders in order to 
ensure that all Harrow CLA and Care Leavers receive a high standard of education and are 
involved in appropriate educational activities. The Virtual School focus their work on raising 
the aspirations of young people and relevant professionals so that they can reach their 
potential and move forward into further and higher education and gainful employment.  

                                                           
 
5
 

126



7 

The Virtual Headteacher Annual Report informs the corporate parenting agenda regarding 
CLA educational attainment, school attendance, employment and training, to accelerate 
progress to Narrow the Gap. 
 
Designated Teachers network 
Training and support is provided through the linked teachers from schools in Harrow. This 
has recently been combined with the group run by the Local Safeguarding Children Board, to 
enable more joined up work. 
 
Alternative education provision 

 Personal Education Plans (PEPs) and Pathway plans more outcome focused and 
specific:95% up to date 

 Raise attainment outcomes – target for each child or young person to match national 
standards 

 Improve attendance % of all CLA and reduce exclusions 

 Increase liaison and support to reduce time students are not registered at school, 
especially where placed out of borough and attending  

 Further raise awareness and understanding of all placement staff and allocated 
social workers regarding the significance of PEPS and Pathway plans 

 Evaluate and report the impact of the Pupil Premium for CLA. 
 

6.2 Improve the involvement and participation of young people in all services 
for children looked after and care leavers 
 

Participation 
Children and young people looked after will be treated with respect by all who are involved 
with them, and have access to a range of activities to facilitate their participation in service 
development. 
 
Ofsted  January 2017  ‘Harrow Children looked after benefit from an impressive range of 
creative and innovative participation and engagement opportunities, and an active Children 
in Care Council, Beyond Limits’ 
 
Harrow’s Participation Strategy6 sets out our vision for involving children and young people 
in influencing the services which we provide. Their views will be listened to and they will be 
involved in making decisions about their lives. They will be involved in the planning, 
provision and evaluation of the services they need.  They will know how to get information 
and support as well as how to raise a concern.  

The child’s voice will be at the centre of all decision making and we will take time to talk to 
children on their own and can tell the child’s journey.  
 
Our aim is that participation is a routine element of practice for all practitioners and 
managers, keeping the voice of the child at the heart of decision making :That there is a 
culture that changes things for children and young people and that we work together and we 
improve the quality of case work and managing  risk to the child.  We hold the child’s 
perspective and we develop effective systems that keep children safe using the ideas they 
offer us.  
 
 
The Children in Care Council “Beyond Limits7”  
The Beyond Limits group is for all children and young people who are looked after aged 11-
25 years, separated into an older and younger group for age appropriate activities.  

                                                           
6
 

7
 

127



8 

Meeting monthly, currently around a core group of 6-8 young people, the group aims to listen 
to the opinions of children and young people and to be the voice for all children looked after. 
It liaises with a range of professionals to resolve the difficulties young people may encounter. 
Face to face: The group meets with the Corporate Parenting Panel every 4 months. 
 
Child’s Voice Monthly newsletter 
A monthly newsletter has been developed to promote the child’s voice, celebrate good 
practice and to encourage staff to listen to children and young people, taking action when 
appropriate. An editorial team, including children and young people, is being developed.  
 
Pre LAC Review consultation 
The Independent Reviewing Officer consults with children looked after two weeks prior to 
their statutory review. Young people are supported by their placements, carers, social 
worker, advocates or the Children’s Participation Co-ordinator if required. Online and printed 
feedback sheets are provided, and work to refresh the content and improve response rates 
is in progress. 
 
Celebration of achievement awards – annual event 
An annual event is held to celebrate the achievements and attainment of children and young 
people who are looked after. This event is organised in consultation with young people who 
co-host the event, and perform. The next event is on 25th October 2017 
 
Leaving Care Charter –  
The Leaving Care Charter was reviewed and re- launched, following consultation with young 
people and recent changes in the Children’s and Social work Act 2017 
 
Leaving Care Forum  
The Leaving Care Forum meets quarterly, as a well attended forum which offers young 
people the opportunity to have direct contact with senior managers. Further work is being 
undertaken to enable young people to lead and develop the forum for themselves. 
  
The young people have been very engaged in these sessions and offer valuable feedback 
and input into service development e.g. refreshing the charter, developing ‘what a good 
placement looks like’ highlighting what’s important to young people in placement matching 
and clarifying what support is required in order for us to ensure as many young care leavers 
as possible are able to go to the university of their choice. 
 
 

 
6.3 Children looked after will be happy and healthy, safe and protected from 
harm and sexual exploitation: improve the physical, emotional and social 
health and wellbeing of children looked after and care leavers  
 
Children Looked After are the responsibility of the local authority in the same way as we are 
responsible for our own children.  We therefore require the same standard of health and 
wellbeing, but often these children enter the care system with worse levels of health due to 
poor parenting, chaotic lifestyles, poverty, neglect and abuse.  Therefore it is the role and the 
responsibility of the Provider of these services, to ensure health and wellbeing needs are 
addressed and outcomes improve to the same standard as peers in Harrow. 
 
Specific outcomes we are aiming for all Children Looked After to Achieve: 

• Reach their developmental milestones at appropriate age 
• Good physical health including attaining a healthy weight, taking regular exercise and 

eating a balanced and nutritious diet  
• Improved levels of oral health and fewer dental cavities 
• Immunised against preventable diseases 

128



9 

• A wider and more positive social and healthy lifestyle including strong self-esteem, 
positive image of self (including body image), free from bullying and free from violence 
and abuse 

• Good mental, emotional and behavioural health and a strong sense of personal and 
emotional wellbeing.  

• Harrow and the CCG have jointly commissioned the CLA Health service from CNWL 
which has seen a positive increase in the health outcomes for Looked After Childrens. 
This service has been extended for a further 2 years 

• Harrow and the CCG have also commissioned Barnardos to provide services for the 
emotional needs of children and young people with Looked After children being a 
priority group.  

• Educational attainment and attendance improved as a result of better health and well-
being  

• Less harmful use of substances including alcohol, drugs and tobacco 
• Healthy and appropriate relationships and awareness of good sexual health 
• Reduction in the number of CLA becoming teenage parents 
• CLA placements are stable as a result of having health and wider needs met  
• CLA know where to go for health and wellbeing support, and are able to self-manage 

their health needs when they leave care (including physical health, sexual health, 
mental, emotional and behavioural health, oral health, diet, exercise, substances, sun 
safety, parenting skills, medicines and minor ailments, accident prevention, etc). 
 

 
6.4 Safe and stable placements: provide a choice of good quality placements 
that provide security, stability, safety and high standards of care  
 
As corporate parents it is imperative that we commission the right accommodation and 
supporting services available so that outcomes for each child and young person are the best 
possible. Harrow’s Placement Sufficiency Strategy forms part of the commissioning strategy 
that we are in the process of developing for our Children Looked After.   
 
Harrow Ofsted report January 2017   ‘The sufficiency Strategy is clear and coherent with 
relevant priorities linked to present and future need. Appropriate commissioning 
arrangements are in place to ensure that there is a range of placements to meet the needs 
of children looked after.’ 
 
In the strategy we set out the supporting legislation, needs of children looked after, and the 
resources at our disposal, and set out resulting actions for changing the internal and external 
market of services that we rely on. 
 
Based on feedback from children and young people looked after, care leavers, and primary 
and secondary legislation, we have the following aims for our CLA services: 
 

1. All children looked after are placed in appropriate placements with access to the 
support that they need, as identified in their care plan 

2. Resources are available to respond to predicted demand for a range of needs and 
emergencies 

3. Services are provided within the local authority area as far as possible or within the 
West London Alliance boundaries, except where this is not consistent with the 
welfare of a child, or is a specialist placement that it is not possible to commission 
locally 

4. Children and Housing services have robust joint working protocols to meet the 
needs of those who are at risk of becoming looked after at the age of 16 and 17 as 
a result of homelessness 

5. A sufficient range of accommodation and support packages are available to care 
leavers to facilitate their pathway plans and to ensure all transitions are undertaken 

129



10 

in a planned and supportive manner. This includes a clear staying put policy to 
enable care leavers to remain with their foster carers up to the age of 25 if desired 
and appropriate 

6. Services are of a high quality and deliver the specific outcomes identified in the care 
plans of children looked after  

7. A range of placement choices are developed to meet the needs of the diverse 
Looked after children population in Harrow 

8. Systems are in place to ensure careful matching of placements and to prevent 
disruption and to ensure placement stability 

 
Placement stability is an incredibly important indicator of performance, as stability can be 
linked to permanence and better outcomes.  Stability is therefore a good proxy-indicator for 
the positive outcomes we want to achieve. 
 
Access to Resources Team 
We have established an Access to Resources Team which commissions external 
placements and we aim to use only those providers who have an OFSTED judgement of 
good or outstanding.  We are members of the West London Alliance project looking at 
shared commissioning of placements for children who are looked after. The Access to 
Resources Team has a responsibility to ensure careful matching of the placement to best 
meet the assessed needs of the child or young person. Strengths and difficulties 
questionnaires are completed and help identify where additional support may be required. 
 
Fostering 
We recognise that children do best in local placements where they can remain close to 
family, friends and their community, We have a robust targeted recruitment strategy to 
ensure we have a diverse range of foster carers to meet the needs of children looked after. 
Foster carers have access to a comprehensive training programme to ensure they have the 
skills to meet the needs of the young people they care for, and they are supported by the 
fostering social worker through robust supervision. 
Children and young people receive information about their placement in advance and are 
listened to if they have concerns at any time. 
 
Residential Care 
Harrow has low use of residential care and only considers this after alternatives have been 
tried or assessed as unviable. We aim to use only those providers who have an OFSTED 
judgement of good or outstanding. 
 
The decision for a child or young person’s placement is based on their need and tends to 
end with one of the following accommodation options and additional services for specific 
needs.  Accommodation options include:  

 Internal foster care 

 External foster care 

 Internal residential care 

 External residential care 

 Parent and child assessment 

 Semi-independent and care leavers 
 
 
Adoption 
Harrow has invested in a domestic adoption partnership with Coram, a voluntary adoption 
agency.  Three members of Coram staff are co-located with Children and Families social 
workers. This has enabled early identification and planning for adoption cases. The 
partnership with Harrow was established in 2006, and since that time there have been no 
disruptions of a Harrow child’s placement, demonstrating the quality of preparation and 
support to adopters.   Under the Harrow partnership agreement Coram also provides advice 

130



11 

and consultation on permanence planning to Harrow Children and Families Directorate for 
children entering care.   Following recent legislative and grant changes options for future 
provision are currently under consideration. Harrow is the lead local authority in Ambitious 
for Adoption, a new Regional Adoption Agency being developed in line with new legislation 
 
Special Guardianship 
We have increased the number of children and young people who are subject to Special 
Guardianship Orders and able to leave the care system by living in permanent and stable 
families. 
 
 
Family Group Conferences 
 
In September 2016  Harrow set up an inhouse Family Group Conference service to 
maximise the opportunities to explore all options within a child’s extended family and friends 
network, including placement and support options. This has been very successful and has 
supported a number of children and young people and their families 
 
 

6.5  Identity: looked after children know who they are and why they are looked 
after; feel valued and respected by others and their individual needs arising 
from gender, race, culture, disability, sexuality and religion are understood 
and met 
 
Our staff and managers are committed to the following 
 

 Continue to recruit foster carers that reflect the diversity of the local 
community 

 Ensure all young people permanently fostered and adopted have 
lifestory books and later life letters 

 Young people develop a positive identity, emotional resilience and self 
esteem 

 The work force reflects the diversity of the local community 
 
 
6.6   Smooth transition to adulthood and independence: ensure children  

looked after and care leavers receive focused support at key transition 
points in their lives 

 
The Leaving Care and Unaccompanied Asylum Children Team are responsible for those 
young people leaving care. They have developed a range of opportunities with partner 
agencies to support young people as they make the transition to adulthood. 
 
  
Lifeskills Workshop 
The Lifeskills Workshop was introduced 6 years ago and has been running successfully with 
a group of 20 young people attending annually.  
 
The Lifeskills Workshop brings together professionals from health looking at sexual health, 
drug and alcohol and mental health, housing and benefits and EET all providing information 
as well as young people undertaking practical skills such as cooking, budgeting, writing CV's 
and interview skills. 
  
MyBank - Money works 

131



12 

MyBank is an independent training organisation focusing on money management. Mybank 
run a course for Harrow young people looked after. Twice a year the course runs over 2 
days and the young people receive a  Level 1 - Personal Money Management certificate. 
Money Works provides survival money management skills to young people in need.  
  
Education, Employment and Training 
The Leaving Care and Unaccompanied Asylum Children Team has a careers advisor  based 
within the service. Their primary role is to work with those young people who are not in 
employment, education or training and to support other workers in engaging with this group 
of young people. 
 

Not in Employment, Education or Training Panel [NEET] 
The NEET Panel meets monthly and targets those young people not engaged in EET. It 
consists of a range of professionals from different disciplines to offer advice and guidance 
around engagement and access to a range of services. A robust action plan is then 
developed to actively engage with the young person.  
  
Housing sub group 
This has now run successfully for 12 months, to ensure maximum benefit for meeting 
quarterly, with representatives from Housing, LCT & UASC, Housing Benefit, Council Tax,  
and more recently Supporting People (Council Adults’ Team).  The housing department will 
continue to attend the Corporate Parenting Panel on a regular basis. 
 
All young people that have been put forward have successfully claimed housing benefit and 
there have been no issues to date.  This can be seen as an important improvement towards 
independence. 
  
  
Leaving Care Charter 
The Leaving Care Charter was recently re-launched and outlines the Local Authority’s 
commitment to Care leavers and specific areas of support, financial, practical and emotional.  
  
Clinic in a box 
Working in partnership with the sexual health nurse we offer advice and information in 
respect of sexual health. There is a drop-in service and she attends the lifeskills course 
annually.  
  
Leaving Care Forum (see 6.2 earlier) 
Staying Put policy 
Lead worker NEET 
Increased Leaving Care grant made by the Council to support the transition 
 

 
Priority Actions for 2017 to 2019 
 

 To strengthen the Children in Care Council ‘Beyond Limits’ through 
increases participation of children looked after and care leavers 

 Ensure that the Corporate Parenting Panel receives regular feedback 
from children looked after and takes any necessary action arising from 
that feedback 

 Expand participation engagement with CLA placed out of borough 

 Increase response rates through refreshed feedback options for CLA 
reviews and CP Conferences 

 Advocacy and Independent Visitor Services are used by children and 
young people to ensure their voices are heard 

132



13 

 

 Ensure providers deliver 100% health assessments on time 

 Care leavers have health passports  

 CLA wellbeing improves 
 

 Increase capacity and placement choice; increase numbers of in-house 
foster carers including specialist placements for the children with the 
most complex needs 

 Further reduce the number of placement moves  

 Reduce the length of time children wait for adoptive placement 

 Continue to recruit foster carers that reflect the diversity of the local 
community 

 Ensure all young people permanently fostered and adopted have 
lifestory books and later life letters 

 Young people develop a positive identity, emotional resilience and self 
esteem 
 

 Improve opportunities for care leavers to access education ,employment 
or specially trained apprenticeships 

 
 
 

133



14 

Appendix A: Corporate Parenting Pledge8 to Looked After Children  
 
For a better future  
Harrow Council provides care and support to those children and young people who, for 
whatever reason, cannot live with their birth family. For some this may be a short time and 
for others it may be longer. However long or whether you live with foster carers, residential 
care, adoptive parents or another member of your family we are committed to giving you the 
best start in life possible - helping you to be the best that you can be. 

The Local Authority is your corporate parent - which simply means trying to do everything 
that a good parent does throughout your time in our care. Our commitment to you is made 
by the politicians, who represent the community in the running of the council, all directors 
and senior managers and our staff, who provide care and support for you. 

Children and young people who are in our care or who have been in our care in the recent 
past have told us what kind of good care and support they need to be the best they can be. 
We have listened to this and the commitments we make in this children's pledge reflect this. 
 
Our pledge 
We pledge to work together to provide you the best possible care and support to help you be 
the best you can be in your life - now and in the future. To do this we will: 

1. Provide you with a safe home to live where you feel happy and taken care of. This 
means that wherever possible you will have a choice about where you live and that you 
will not be moved from a settled home unless absolutely necessary, or if it is deemed to 
be in your best interests.  

2. Provide you with the support you need to do well in education. This means that we 
will make sure you have the opportunity to go to a school where you can flourish, get the 
support outside of school to do well in exams and have access to college and university.  

3. Listen to you about things in your own life and about the care that you receive 
from us. This means that we will always make sure that you are involved in decisions 
that are made about your own life and that we find ways to help you tell us your views if 
you find this difficult. We will also make sure that there are opportunities to tell us what 
you think about the care that you receive and that if you have a complaint you get the 
help to get heard.  

4. Be honest with you about things that have happened in your life and the decisions 
that are made about your care. We know that are at times it is difficult to understand 
what has happened to you and why certain decisions are made about your care. We 
can’t promise that you will always agree with these decisions. But, we will always be 
honest with you about the reasons for these decisions and, where possible, what has 
happened in your life.  

5. Help you to develop good relationships with the people that you care for and the 
people in your life that are most important to you. This means that, as far as 
possible, we will provide you with opportunities to see those people that are important to 
you in your life. We will help you to develop and maintain relationships and friendships 
with the people that provide care and support for you and other children and young 
people.  

6. Provide you with support and opportunities to enjoy your life and have interests 
and hobbies of your own. This means that we will make sure you have information and 
access to opportunities and activities outside of education that you enjoy.  

7. Provide you with the support you need when you leave care to become 
independent and be the best you can be in adult life. This means that we will make 
sure that you have choices about how and when you leave care and that we will make 

                                                           
8
 http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/200161/children_looked_after/487/harrow_pledge/2  

134

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/200161/children_looked_after/487/harrow_pledge/2


15 

sure we support you to be prepared for independence and have the help you will need to 
make independence work when you leave care.  

We make these pledges to you and will do our best to always fulfil each one. There are 
many teams involved in helping make these pledges happen - from Children's Services to 
Housing and Health. We will make sure that we work together to do this. 

Harrow Council - Corporate Parenting Panel  
The Harrow Pledge is endorsed by the Corporate Parenting panel on behalf of the Council. 

All policy and procedures relating to children looked after are overseen by the Corporate 
Parenting panel. 

Members and senior officers from the Council meet to discuss the performance, service 
delivery and aspirations for the Council in respect of Children Looked After and young 
people leaving care. Beyond Limits representatives also attend the Corporate Parenting 
panel. 

This panel is lead by members to challenge, scrutinise and support the services for children 
looked after. 

135



16 

Appendix B: Legal duties and responsibilities   
The Children Act 1989 sets out the local authority's legal duties and responsibilities which 
underpin service provision for looked after children, young people and care leavers. 
Although the term corporate parenting is not specifically mentioned in the Children Act 1989 
it is a term that has been widely adopted and is included in the recent guidance associated 
with the Act.  

 
Subsequent legislation, regulations and government advice has extended and strengthened 
the obligations of local authorities towards looked after children, including:- 

 1998 letter from the Secretary of State for Health, Frank Dobson regarding 
councilors roles and responsibilities toward  looked after children 

 Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 - extended the types of service and upper 
age limit of young people the local authority are responsible for as a corporate 
parent 

 Subsequent government guidance issued for councilors has reiterated the role 
that they should play in being an effective corporate parent for looked after 
children in their care. The "If this were my child" (DfES 2003) guidance posed 
the benchmark question to develop the necessary mind set for achieving high 
quality outcomes for looked after children. This established a clear expectation 
that once a child becomes looked after all councilors and officers of the council 
need to be concerned about them ‘as if they were their own children’. 

 Children Act 2004 - contains a statutory requirement for local authorities to 
promote the educational achievement of looked after children and emphasizes 
the role of collaborative service agreements to achieve the right type of service 
provision 

 Children & Young People Act 2008 - reinforced the message that all councils, 
and particularly elected members, hold responsibility for ensuring good 
outcomes for looked after children 

 April 2011, further statutory guidance was introduced to clarify the local 
authority's responsibilities for looked after children. The revised statutory 
guidance is presented as a suite of documents as follows; 

 Care Planning, Placement & Care reviews 

 Planning Transitions to Adulthood for Care Leavers 

 Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Handbook 

 Sufficiency - securing sufficient accommodation for looked after 
children 

 Short Breaks 

 November 2011 Family Justice Review Panel report taken forward in the 
Children and Families Bill: the commitment to a 26 week time limit when courts 
consider a child should be taken into care; virtual school head in every local 
authority 

 July 2013 revised statutory guidance on adoption published 

 Working Together to Safeguard Children April 2013 

 From Sept 2013 all young people must remain in education or training until the 
end of the academic year they turn 17. 

 

136



17 

Appendix C: Detailed Health outcomes  
 
The CLA health outcomes service shall be available to: 

 Children within the children in need and child protection system who are 

accommodated on section 20 of the Children Act 1989 

 Children Looked After who are accommodated under section 31 (Care Orders) and 

38 (Interim Care Orders) of the Children Act 1989 

 Children looked after who are in pre-adoption placements and transition planning for 

those moving to post adoption placements 

 Children looked after with special guardianship orders 

 Children who are unaccompanied asylum seeking minors and are in the care of the 

Local Authority 

 Children placed in short term care  

 Young people up to 25 years who are within the leaving care team plus transition 

planning 

 All carers and professionals who relate to the above and are involved in their care 

planning 

 Statutory and voluntary agencies who are involved in care planning. 

Service scope includes the following: 
• Responsibility for health and wellbeing outcomes for CLA 

• Monitoring of health and wellbeing outcomes for CLA and tracking of assessments 

• Identified health lead professional for each child which may be the Health Visitor, 

Community Children’s Nurse or school nurse 

• Assessment of CLA health including all initial and review health assessments except 

where already a key health worker has built a relationship with the child / young person 

– this would be assessed on an individual basis 

• Health care plans and health passports for care leavers  

• Advisory and signposting of support for CLA and care leavers 

• Participation in professional meetings and identification of suitable care placements, 

including through attending fostering panels and adoption panels 

• Provision of reports to panels and court proceedings 

• Training for Council, NHS, Schools, carers, parents and other partners in support of 

the Designated Professional 

• Sharing information and support to Council, NHS, Schools, carers, parents and other 

partners as appropriate 

• Co-ordination of Council, NHS, School, other partner and Community resources to 

improve CLA health and wellbeing outcomes 

• Supporting CLA and carers to access non-medical specialised services when needed 

through referral and care pathway routes 

• Support to CQC, Ofsted and other inspections as and when required. 

The same monitoring, outcome and quality requirements will apply regardless of 
geographical location of CLA.  Arrangements with other providers of assessments and 
support will be approved by the Commissioner and Designated Nurse. 
 
The CLA health outcomes service may also be requested to support Children Looked After 
who are placed within Harrow by other authorities.  In the event that the service Provider 
chooses to provide services for non-Harrow CLA it must recharge the originating CCG 
accordingly, record this activity separately and report to the Commissioner and Designated 

137



18 

Nurse.  The recharge to the originating CCG will be completed by the Designated Nurse for 
CLA once the details have been shared by the CLA Service. 
 
Both initial and review health assessments shall: 

• Identify the health needs of the child 
• Ensure the voice of the child is recorded and the assessment is co-produced 
• Establish health history and identify gaps in routine child health surveillance 
• Request the health information from local health providers and specialist services to 

ensure a full and accurate overview of the child health needs  
• Identify family health history 
• Promote optimal health and address areas of unmet health needs 
• Formulate a strategy and action plan for meeting health needs 
• Address the needs of the child in the placement so that the carer is empowered and 

feels confident to provide for the support and health care needs of their child, at the 
same time as feeling that their own needs are also being supported.   
 

The following are actions, to be undertaken, as a result of each high quality health 
assessment: 

 Clear identification of the level of unidentified health needs and how to address these 
 Agreement with the child on how, where and when and by whom professional 

support shall be provided 
 Agreement with the child on how, when and by whom their development shall be 

monitored 
 Identify gaps in service provision and escalate to Senior Managers and the 

Designated Nurse and Commissioner 
 Identify key health issues and how these shall be addressed  
 Liaise with partner agencies including CAMHS, substance misuse services, sexual 

health agencies, leisure services, schools to ensure needs are addressed 
 A health care plan for every child in care including details of how progress shall be 

monitored. 
 

The Provider working closely with social care is responsible for following up health 
assessments and health care plans with the child, and shall maintain contact with the child 
throughout the year to offer support and refer to other services as appropriate.  Tracking of 
the child shall be at a level equivalent to their needs and requirements. 
 
Plans will be co-produced with children, their carers and where appropriate parents to 
ensure all stakeholders are contributing to the health and wellbeing outcomes of the child. 
 
Health plans shall address all health and wellbeing outcomes and include, as a minimum: 

• Reflect the voice of the child 

• Clear identification of overall objectives 

• Named professional responsible for actions  

• Timescales for delivery 

• Clarify monitoring arrangements  

We will support the development of Health passports working closely with the Local 
authority, GP’s and Young People. Health passports shall address all health and wellbeing 
outcomes and where possible include: 

 NHS number 
 Blood group  
 Birth information  
 Growth Statistics and Percentiles 
 Hearing Function Information 
 Medical history 
 Family Health History  

138



19 

 Regular medication  
 Contact details for GP, dentist, optician and other health professionals,  
 Immunisation records 
 Eye Test Results / Prescriptions  
 Information promoting healthy and active lifestyles  
 Organ donation register information if deemed appropriate 

 
Resources to engage include, but are not limited to: 

• Children Looked After 
• Carers and parents 
• Community resources 
• Health Visiting 
• School Nursing 
• Public Health  
• GPs 
• CAMHS 
• Harrow Children & Families  
• Virtual Heads 
• Independent Visitors 
• Dentistry 
• Child Development teams 
• Community Children’s Nursing teams 
• Secondary care providers 
• Specialist / tertiary services e.g., paediatric, stoma, craniofacial or chronic skin disease 
• Schools (including team around the school) 
• Children’s Centres 
• Dietetics 
• Sexual Health Services including GUM  
• Local services to where children and young people are placed 
• Early Intervention Service 
• COMPASS and Each 
• Police services 
• Harrow Youth Offending Team 
• Harrow CCG 
• Voluntary and community organisations  
• Children with Disabilities Team 

 

 

139



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Activity and Performance
	CPP_Performance and Activity Report_March 2018

	8 Harrow Children Looked After
	CLA
	csa tool 2017

	9 Missing Children Looked After
	Missing Children report for Corporate Parenting Panel April 2018

	10 Children's Services Self Assessment
	Final Harrow Self Assessment April 2018

	11 Updated corporate parenting strategy
	updated corporate parenting strategy


